About the Book

"*Harvesting Tomorrow: Innovations Redefining Agriculture*" explores the transformative technologies and practices reshaping modern farming. The book delves into cutting-edge innovations such as precision agriculture, genetic engineering, sustainable farming practices, and the role of artificial intelligence in boosting crop yields while conserving resources. It highlights the global impact of these advancements on food security, environmental sustainability, and rural economies. Through case studies and expert insights, the book paints a comprehensive picture of how the agricultural landscape is evolving to meet the challenges of a growing population and changing climate.

Harvesting Tomorrow: Innovations Redefining Agriculture





AkiNik Publications





Harvesting Tomorrow-Innovations Redefining Agriculture

> Tanmoy Sarkar Sudip Sengupta



Harvesting Tomorrow Innovations Redefining Agriculture

Editors

Tanmoy Sarkar Sudip Sengupta

AkiNik Publications ®

New Delhi

Published By: AkiNik Publications

AkiNik Publications 169, C-11, Sector - 3, Rohini, Delhi-110085, India Toll Free (India) – 18001234070 Phone No.: 9711224068, 9911215212 Website: www.akinik.com Email: akinikbooks@gmail.com

Authors: Tanmoy Sarkar and Sudip Sengupta

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© AkiNik Publications TM Publication Year: 2024 Edition: 1st Pages: 127 ISBN: 978-93-6135-113-6 Book DOI: https://doi.org/10.22271/ed.book.2965 Price: ₹652/-

Registration Details

- Printing Press License No.: F.1 (A-4) press 2016
- Trade Mark Registered Under
 - Class 16 (Regd. No.: 5070429)
 - Class 35 (Regd. No.: 5070426)
 - Class 41 (Regd. No.: 5070427)
 - Class 42 (Regd. No.: 5070428)

Preface

Agriculture stands at the crossroads of tradition and innovation, where the pressing demands of global food security intersect with groundbreaking technological advancements. As the world grapples with challenges such as climate change, population growth, and resource scarcity, it is imperative to explore and adopt innovative strategies that will redefine and enhance agricultural practices. "Harvesting Tomorrow: Innovations Redefining Agriculture" seeks to delve into these transformative approaches, offering a comprehensive look at how modern science and technology are revolutionizing the agricultural landscape.

This book brings together a collection of insightful chapters, each dedicated to a specific area of agricultural innovation. We begin with "Utilizing Edible Coatings to Prolong the Shelf Life of Fruits," where the potential of natural, biodegradable coatings is examined as a solution to reduce post-harvest losses and extend the freshness of produce. Following this, "Enhancing Nutritional Value: A Comprehensive Exploration of Rice Fortification Strategies and Their Global Health Implications" delves into the methods and benefits of fortifying rice, a staple food for billions, to combat malnutrition and improve public health outcomes.

In "Navigating the Challenges of Emerging Plant Diseases: Implications and Strategies for Global Food Security," we address the critical need for effective disease management to safeguard crops and ensure a stable food supply. "Unlocking the Potential: Harnessing Secondary Nutrients for Enhanced Crop Yield and Environmental Sustainability" explores the role of secondary nutrients in promoting robust crop growth and sustainable farming practices. Additionally, "Millets: The Future Smart Food" highlights the nutritional and environmental advantages of millets, advocating for their increased cultivation and consumption as a smart food choice for the future.

The chapter "Cultivating Sustainability: Organic Farming as an Alternative Paradigm" presents organic farming as a viable and sustainable alternative to conventional agricultural practices, emphasizing its benefits for health and the environment. In "Burning Fields, Burning Future: Unraveling the Menace of Indiscriminate Crop Residue Burning," we confront the environmental and health hazards posed by this practice and discuss sustainable alternatives.

Advancements in biotechnology are showcased in "Tissue Culture Techniques to Increase Secondary Metabolite Production in Plants," illustrating how these techniques can enhance the production of valuable plant compounds. "Advancing Plant Breeding Through TILLING: Uncovering Genetic Diversity for Sustainable Agriculture" focuses on the TILLING method, a powerful tool for discovering genetic variations and breeding resilient crop varieties. Lastly, "Migratory Beekeeping: Strategy to Foster Beekeeping and Agriculture" emphasizes the symbiotic relationship between beekeeping and agriculture, highlighting how migratory practices can boost both bee health and crop yields.

"Harvesting Tomorrow: Innovations Redefining Agriculture" aims to inspire, educate, and motivate readers to embrace these innovations and contribute to a more sustainable and food-secure future. Each chapter offers valuable insights and practical solutions, paving the way for a new era of agricultural excellence.

> Dr. Tanmoy Sarkar Dr. Sudip Sengupta

Contributors

Dr. Tanmoy Sarkar

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Sudip Sengupta

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Suprabuddha Kundu

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Avishek Chatterjee

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Ria Mukhopadhyay

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Sahely Kanthal

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Parijat Bhattacharya

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Rakesh Das

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Majhi

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Sayani Bhowmick

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Monalisa Adhikary

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Prasun Chakraborty

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Shubhodeep Bhattacharya

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Bratati Mahapatra

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Debasma Sasmal

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Ayesha Khatun

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Suvojit Pal

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dhrubika Bhakta

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Emili Adak

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Milan Ghosh

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Khusboo Kumari

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Krishnendu Roy

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Pallabi Chatterjee

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Tuhina Khatun

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

About the Book

"Harvesting Tomorrow: Innovations Redefining Agriculture" delves into the forefront of agricultural innovation, presenting cutting-edge strategies and technologies that are reshaping the future of farming. This comprehensive volume addresses the multifaceted challenges of modern agriculture while exploring sustainable solutions to ensure food security and environmental stewardship.

The first chapter explores the revolutionary application of edible coatings in extending the shelf life of fruits. By creating a protective barrier, these coatings reduce moisture loss and delay spoilage, offering a natural and consumer-friendly method to preserve freshness. The chapter covers the development, composition, and effectiveness of various edible coatings, alongside practical insights into their commercial use and potential market impacts.

Rice, a staple food for billions, often lacks essential nutrients. The second chapter examines the latest advancements in rice fortification techniques aimed at combating malnutrition. From biofortification to post-harvest fortification methods, it provides an in-depth analysis of their implementation, efficacy, and the profound implications for global health, particularly in developing regions.

Emerging plant diseases pose a significant threat to global food security. The third chapter addresses the current trends in plant pathology, the socioeconomic impacts of plant diseases, and innovative strategies for disease management. It emphasizes the importance of surveillance, early detection, and integrated pest management in safeguarding crops against these growing threats.

Beyond primary nutrients, secondary nutrients play a critical role in crop development and soil health. The next chapter explores the importance of elements such as calcium, magnesium, and sulfur in boosting crop yield and promoting sustainable agricultural practices. It highlights innovative fertilization techniques and their benefits for both productivity and environmental sustainability.

Millets are gaining recognition as a resilient and nutritious crop with significant potential for future food security. The next chapter delves into the agronomic benefits of millets, their nutritional superiority, and their adaptability to climate change. It discusses the efforts to reintroduce millets into mainstream agriculture and the implications for health and sustainability.

Organic farming presents a holistic approach to agriculture that prioritizes ecological balance and soil health. The subsequent chapter explores the principles and practices of organic farming, its benefits, and the challenges faced in its widespread adoption. It provides a comparative analysis of organic versus conventional farming, highlighting organic farming's potential to contribute to sustainable food systems.

Crop residue burning is a major environmental and health concern. The seventh chapter examines the causes, consequences, and sustainable alternatives to this practice. It discusses the policy frameworks, technological solutions, and farmer education programs necessary to mitigate the harmful effects of residue burning on air quality and soil health.

Plant tissue culture techniques offer a controlled environment for enhancing the production of valuable secondary metabolites. The subsequent chapter provides a detailed overview of the methodologies, applications, and commercial potential of tissue culture in pharmaceuticals, agriculture, and biotechnology. It highlights case studies where tissue culture has successfully increased the yield of important plant compounds.

Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes (TILLING) is a novel plant breeding technique that uncovers genetic diversity. The ninth chapter explores the TILLING process, its applications in crop improvement, and its role in developing resilient and high-yielding crop varieties. It emphasizes the importance of genetic diversity for sustainable agriculture and food security.

Migratory beekeeping is a strategic practice that supports pollination and enhances agricultural productivity. The last chapter investigates the logistics, benefits, and challenges of migratory beekeeping. It discusses its critical role in crop pollination, honey production, and maintaining biodiversity, providing insights into best practices for integrating beekeeping with modern agriculture.

Harvesting Tomorrow serves as a vital resource for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners in the agricultural sector, offering a rich blend of theoretical insights and practical solutions to redefine agriculture for a sustainable future.

Acknowledgement

We extend our deepest gratitude to the honorable Vice Chancellor for his unwavering support in the successful publication. Our heartfelt appreciation is also due to the University's Registrar for enthusiastic encouragement and inspiring our team to reach new heights. We are truly honored to have received blessings and support from such esteemed figures within the university.

It is essential to acknowledge that the realization of this publication would not have been possible without Mr. Saurabh Adhikari's (Chief Operating Officer) foresight and dedication to the idea of publication. His visionary leadership and unwavering support have been pivotal to the realization of this endeavor. His insightful suggestions, encouragement, and dedication played a crucial role in shaping the direction of our publication. We deeply appreciate his foresight, which not only led to the conception of this book but also ensured its successful execution. His enthusiastic endorsement of the project from the beginning has been a source of inspiration to our team.

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page Nos.
1	Utilizing Edible Coatings to Prolong the Shelf Life of Fruits (Monalisa Adhikary and Tanmoy Sarkar)	01-11
2	Enhancing Nutritional Value: A Comprehensive Exploration of Rice Fortification Strategies and Their Global Health Implications (Prasun Chakraborty, Shubhodeep Bhattacharya and Tanmoy Majhi)	13-22
3	Navigating the Challenges of Emerging Plant Diseases: Implications and Strategies for Global Food Security (Bratati Mahapatra and Ria Mukhopadhyay)	23-31
4	Unlocking the Potential: Harnessing Secondary Nutrients for Enhanced Crop Yield and Environmental Sustainability (Debasma Sasmal, Ayesha Khatun and Parijat Bhattacharya)	33-44
5	Millets: The Future Smart Food (Suvojit Pal and Sahely Kanthal)	45-56
6	Cultivating Sustainability: Organic Farming as an Alternative Paradigm (Dhrubika Bhakta and Sayani Bhowmick)	57-73
7	Burning Fields, Burning Future: Unraveling the Menace of Indiscriminate Crop Residue Burning (Emili Adak and Sudip Sengupta)	75-93
8	Tissue Culture Techniques to Increase Secondary Metabolite Production in Plants (<i>Milan Ghosh and Suprabuddha Kundu</i>)	95-105
9	Advancing Plant Breeding Through TILLING: Uncovering Genetic Diversity for Sustainable Agriculture (Khusboo Kumari and Avishek Chatterjee)	107-116

10 Migratory Beekeeping- Strategy to Foster Beekeeping 117-127 and Agriculture

(Krishnendu Roy, Pallabi Chatterjee, Tuhina Khatun, Rakesh Das)

Chapter - 1

Utilizing Edible Coatings to Prolong the Shelf Life of Fruits

Authors

Monalisa Adhikary

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Sarkar

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 1

Utilizing Edible Coatings to Prolong the Shelf Life of Fruits

Monalisa Adhikary and Tanmoy Sarkar

Abstract

Over the past few decades, there has been a growing consumption of fruits globally, leading to an increase in fruit production. However, fresh fruits are prone to significant losses during both production and storage. During the postharvest stage, various techniques are employed to maintain the quality of fruits. One widely adopted method is the application of edible coatings, which can be used on a wide variety of fruits to regulate moisture and gas exchange between the fruit and its surroundings. Furthermore, these coatings offer the advantage of incorporating different active ingredients, potentially enhancing the fruit's sensory and nutritional qualities, as well as extending its shelf life. This article presents an overview of the available information on the typical constituents of coating matrices, with a focus on how different material combinations and application methods affect fruit characteristics. This knowledge can assist processors in selecting appropriate coating materials and concentrations for various types of fresh and fresh-cut fruits. Additionally, the paper discusses recent advancements and challenges in utilizing edible coatings to extend the shelf life of fruits.

Keywords: Fresh fruit; postharvest technology; fruit packaging; fruit quality; preservation.

Introduction

The global consumption of fruits has seen a remarkable surge in recent decades, paralleled by a corresponding increase in fruit production. However, this boom in production is accompanied by significant losses, particularly during postharvest handling and storage. To combat these losses and maintain fruit quality, various preservation techniques are employed, among which the application of edible coatings has gained prominence. Edible coatings offer a versatile solution, capable of regulating moisture and gas exchange to extend the shelf life of fruits while also enhancing their sensory and nutritional attributes (Krochta *et al.*, 1994). Edible coatings

serve as a protective barrier between the fruit and its environment, influencing factors such as respiration rate, moisture loss, and microbial growth. Typically composed of natural materials such as proteins, lipids, and polysaccharides, these coatings can be tailored to meet the specific needs of different fruits. Moreover, the incorporation of active ingredients into the coatings opens avenues for enhancing sensory qualities like flavor and texture, as well as augmenting nutritional content.

The efficacy of edible coatings in fruit preservation is influenced by various factors, including the composition of the coating matrix and the method of application. Different combinations of materials offer distinct advantages, with researchers exploring novel formulations to optimize preservation outcomes. Additionally, advancements in application methods, such as spray coating or dipping, contribute to uniform coverage and prolonged shelf life. Processors face the challenge of selecting the most suitable coating materials and concentrations for different types of fruits. Understanding the interactions between coating components and fruit characteristics is crucial for achieving desired preservation effects. This necessitates a comprehensive knowledge of coating matrices and their impact on fruit quality parameters. Recent research efforts have yielded significant advancements in the field of edible coatings for fruit preservation. Innovations include the integration of nanotechnology for enhanced barrier properties and the development of smart coatings capable of real-time monitoring of fruit freshness. However, challenges such as scalability, costeffectiveness, and regulatory considerations persist, underscoring the need for continued research and collaboration across disciplines.

Technologies prolong the shelf life of fruits

Nanotechnology

At the forefront of fruit preservation technology is nanotechnology, which enables the development of nanocomposite edible coatings with enhanced barrier properties. Nanostructured materials such as nanoparticles and nanofibers create a highly effective barrier against gas exchange and moisture loss, thereby significantly prolonging fruit shelf life. Moreover, nanocoatings can be engineered to release bioactive compounds gradually, further enhancing preservation outcomes while maintaining fruit quality.

In the pursuit of sustainable food preservation solutions, nanotechnology has emerged as a game-changer, offering unprecedented opportunities to extend the shelf life of fruits through the application of edible coatings. By harnessing the unique properties of nanomaterials, such as nanoparticles and nanofibers, these advanced coatings create a formidable barrier against spoilage factors, ensuring fruits remain fresh, flavorful, and nutritious for longer periods.

Nanomaterials: Building blocks of innovation

At the heart of nanotechnology-enabled edible coatings are nanomaterials meticulously engineered to exhibit exceptional barrier properties and controlled release capabilities. Nanoparticles, with their high surface area-to-volume ratio, form a dense protective layer that effectively shields fruits from oxygen, moisture, and microbial contaminants. Meanwhile, nanofibers, crafted through techniques like electrospinning, provide a scaffold for controlled release of bioactive compounds, further enhancing preservation outcomes. The nanostructured nature of these coatings imparts superior barrier properties compared to conventional coatings, effectively limiting gas exchange and moisture ingress. By minimizing oxygen exposure, nanocoatings mitigate oxidative reactions that accelerate fruit deterioration, preserving color, flavor, and nutritional content. Additionally, the precise control over coating thickness and uniformity ensures comprehensive coverage of fruit surfaces, leaving no room for degradation.

Controlled release of bioactives

Incorporating bioactive compounds, such as antioxidants or antimicrobials, into nanocoatings enables targeted intervention to combat spoilage mechanisms. Nanofibrous matrices facilitate the gradual release of these compounds, allowing for sustained antimicrobial activity or antioxidant protection throughout storage and transportation. This controlled release mechanism not only extends shelf life but also enhances fruit safety and quality without compromising consumer health. One of the hallmarks of nanotechnology-driven edible coatings is their versatility in addressing the unique preservation needs of different fruit varieties. By fine-tuning the composition and structure of nanomaterials, coatings can be customized to suit specific fruit characteristics, environmental conditions, and storage requirements. Whether it's delicate berries, robust citrus fruits, or exotic tropical varieties, nanocoatings offer tailored solutions for preserving freshness and maximizing market value.

Sustainable and environmentally friendly

In addition to their natural origin, nanotechnology-based coatings boast a biodegradable nature, ensuring minimal environmental impact. These coatings break down into harmless substances over time, reducing the accumulation of non-biodegradable waste in landfills and ecosystems. By promoting biodegradability, nanotechnology supports circular economy principles, where waste is minimized, and resources are conserved for future generations. Despite their remarkable efficacy, nanotechnology-based coatings remain environmentally sustainable and food-safe. Derived from natural sources or food-grade materials, these coatings pose minimal risk to human health and ecosystems. Furthermore, their biodegradable nature ensures minimal environmental impact, aligning with the principles of ecofriendly food packaging and waste reduction. nanotechnology-based coatings align seamlessly with the principles of eco-friendly packaging and waste reduction. By extending the shelf life of fruits, these coatings minimize the need for excessive packaging materials and reduce food waste throughout the supply chain. Furthermore, their ability to maintain fruit freshness without synthetic preservatives or additives promotes a more natural and sustainable approach to food preservation.

Active packaging systems

Incorporating active ingredients into edible coatings transforms them into dynamic packaging systems capable of actively interacting with the fruit's environment. These active ingredients, such as antimicrobials, antioxidants, and ethylene scavengers, mitigate microbial growth, delay oxidation, and inhibit ripening processes. By continuously releasing these active compounds, the coatings ensure prolonged freshness and quality throughout storage and transportation (Rhim *et al* 2007).

Mitigating microbial growth

One of the primary functions of active packaging systems is to combat microbial growth and prevent spoilage. Antimicrobial agents embedded within the coatings inhibit the proliferation of bacteria, moulds, and yeast that contribute to fruit decay. By creating an inhospitable environment for pathogens, these coatings help to preserve fruit freshness and reduce the risk of foodborne illnesses, enhancing both safety and consumer confidence. Oxidative reactions are a major cause of quality deterioration in fruits, leading to changes in colour, flavour, and nutritional content. Active packaging systems address this challenge by incorporating antioxidants that scavenge free radicals and inhibit oxidation processes. By delaying lipid oxidation and enzymatic browning, these coatings maintain the visual appeal and sensory attributes of fruits, prolonging their marketability and consumer acceptance.

Inhibiting ripening processes

Ethylene is a natural plant hormone involved in the ripening of fruits, but excessive ethylene exposure can accelerate ripening and lead to premature spoilage. Active packaging systems incorporate ethylene scavengers that absorb and neutralize ethylene gas, effectively slowing down the ripening process. By regulating ethylene levels, these coatings extend the shelf life of fruits and preserve their firmness, texture, and overall quality over an extended period. One of the key advantages of active packaging systems is their ability to continuously release active compounds throughout storage and transportation (Bourtoom, 2008). This sustained release ensures a prolonged protective effect, maintaining fruit freshness and quality over time. By actively interacting with the fruit's environment, these coatings adapt to changing conditions and provide consistent preservation benefits throughout the supply chain.

Smart coatings and sensors

Advancements in sensor technology have led to the development of smart coatings equipped with embedded sensors for real-time monitoring of fruit quality parameters. These intelligent coatings can detect changes in temperature, humidity, and gas composition, providing valuable insights into fruit condition and shelf life. Coupled with data analytics and Internet of Things (IoT) connectivity, smart coatings enable proactive intervention and optimization of storage conditions to maximize fruit preservation outcomes. Smart coatings equipped with embedded sensors enable continuous monitoring of key parameters such as temperature, humidity, gas composition, and fruit ripeness. These sensors provide real-time data on environmental conditions and fruit quality, allowing for timely interventions to prevent spoilage and maintain optimal storage conditions (Valencia-Chamorro et al., 2011). By detecting deviations from desired parameters, smart coatings empower stakeholders to make informed decisions and minimize quality degradation during storage and transportation. One of the distinguishing features of smart coatings is their ability to respond dynamically to changes in the fruit's environment. By leveraging data analytics and machine learning algorithms, these coatings can predict potential spoilage events and initiate proactive intervention strategies. For example, if a sensor detects an increase in ethylene levels indicative of ripening, the coating may release ethylene scavengers to slow down the process, thereby extending the fruit's shelf life and preserving its freshness.

Electrospinning and spray coating techniques

Innovative application techniques such as electrospinning and spray coating offer precise control over coating thickness and uniformity, ensuring comprehensive coverage of fruit surfaces. Electrospinning produces nanofibrous coatings with high surface area-to-volume ratios, enhancing barrier properties and active ingredient delivery. Similarly, spray coating techniques enable rapid and efficient application of coatings, facilitating scalability and cost-effectiveness in large-scale fruit processing operations.

Biodegradable and sustainable materials

In response to growing environmental concerns, researchers are exploring biodegradable and renewable materials for edible coatings, aligning with the principles of sustainable food packaging. Biopolymers derived from sources such as plant extracts, seaweed, and agricultural waste offer biocompatibility, biodegradability, and reduced environmental impact compared to traditional packaging materials (Hassan *et al.*, 2018). These eco-friendly coatings contribute to the circular economy by minimizing waste generation and promoting resource conservation.

Challenges and limitations

Cost and scalability

1. High production costs

Raw Materials: The raw materials required for edible coatings, such as high-quality biopolymers, proteins, and lipids, can be expensive. Natural extracts and additives used to enhance the coating properties further increase costs. Processing and Formulation: The formulation of edible coatings involves precise processes, including the extraction, purification, and combination of various components. These steps require advanced technology and expertise, adding to the overall cost.

2. Economies of scale

Production Volume: Small-scale production of edible coatings is often feasible, but scaling up to commercial levels can be challenging. Large-scale production requires significant investment in manufacturing infrastructure, including large bioreactors and automated coating machinery. Supply Chain Logistics: Establishing a supply chain for the consistent availability of raw materials and distribution of the final product can be complex and costly. This is particularly true for perishable raw materials that require careful handling and storage.

3. Infrastructure requirements

Specialized equipment: Applying edible coatings uniformly requires specialized equipment such as spray systems, dipping machines, and drying chambers. Small producers or farmers may lack access to such technology. Storage and Transportation: Maintaining the quality and efficacy of coated fruits requires controlled storage and transportation conditions, which can add to the overall cost. Facilities need to be equipped to handle specific temperature and humidity requirements (Rojas-Graü *et al.*, 2007).

Variability in effectiveness

1. Different fruit types

Physiological differences: Fruits have different skin textures, wax compositions, and moisture levels, which can affect how well a coating adheres and functions. For instance, coatings that work well on apples might not be suitable for berries or citrus fruits. Varietal Differences: Even within the same fruit type, different varieties may respond differently to the same coating due to genetic and biochemical variations.

2. Environmental factors

Storage conditions: The effectiveness of edible coatings is influenced by storage temperature, humidity, and light exposure. For instance, high humidity may cause some coatings to become tacky or lose their barrier properties. Seasonal Variations: Seasonal changes can affect the physiological state of fruits and the conditions under which they are stored and transported, impacting the performance of edible coatings.

3. Coating formulation

Composition: The specific ingredients and their concentrations in a coating formulation can significantly impact its performance. Finding the right balance for optimal results is often a complex and trial-and-error process. Thickness and Uniformity: Achieving consistent thickness and uniform application of the coating is critical. Inconsistencies can lead to areas where the coating is too thin to be effective or too thick, affecting the fruit's appearance and texture.

Regulatory and consumer acceptance

1. Regulatory approvals

Safety standards: Edible coatings must comply with food safety regulations set by authorities such as the FDA in the United States, EFSA in Europe, and other national agencies. These regulations ensure that coatings

are safe for consumption and do not contain harmful substances. Approval Processes: The approval process for new coatings can be lengthy and costly, involving extensive testing for toxicity, allergenicity, and long-term health effects (González-Aguilar *et al.*, 2006). This can delay the introduction of new products to the market.

2. Consumer perception

Education and awareness: Consumers need to be educated about the benefits and safety of edible coatings. Misconceptions, such as fears about the "unnatural" nature of coatings or concerns about potential health risks, can lead to resistance. Cultural Preferences, in some cultures, the idea of adding an extra layer to fruits might be met with skepticism or rejection. Acceptance can vary widely based on cultural norms and attitudes toward food additives.

3. Labeling and transparency

Clear communication: Labels must clearly communicate that the coating is edible, safe, and beneficial. Misleading or vague labeling can lead to mistrust and rejection by consumers. Ingredient Disclosure: Full disclosure of the ingredients used in the coating is essential to build consumer trust. Transparency about the source and nature of the components helps reassure consumers about the product's safety and quality. By addressing these challenges and limitations, the industry can work towards wider acceptance and more effective use of edible coatings to prolong the shelf life of fruits.

Conclusion

Edible coatings offer a promising solution to extend the shelf life of fruits, providing benefits such as moisture control, gas exchange regulation, microbial growth inhibition, and oxidation reduction. Made from natural, biodegradable materials, they enhance the appearance and nutritional value of fruits while being safe for consumption. Future research should focus on innovative materials, advanced application techniques, and integration with other preservation methods to optimize effectiveness. Addressing regulatory and consumer acceptance challenges will be key to achieving broader market adoption and maximizing the potential of edible coatings in the food industry.

References

1. Bourtoom, T. (2008). Edible films and coatings: characteristics and properties. International Food Research Journal, 15(3), 237-248.

- González-Aguilar, G. A., Cruz, R., Baez, R., & Wang, C. Y. (2006). Storage quality of bell peppers pretreated with hot water and polyethylene packaging. Journal of Food Quality, 29(5-6), 533-546.
- Hassan, B., Chatha, S. A. S., Hussain, A. I., Zia, K. M., & Akhtar, N. (2018). Recent advances on polysaccharides, lipids and protein-based edible films and coatings: A review. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 109, 1095-1107.
- 4. Krochta, J. M., Baldwin, E. A., & Nisperos-Carriedo, M. O. (1994). Edible Coatings and Films to Improve Food Quality. CRC Press.
- Rhim, J. W., & Ng, P. K. W. (2007). Natural biopolymer-based nanocomposite films for packaging applications. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 47(4), 411-433.
- Rojas-Graü, M. A., Avena-Bustillos, R. J., Friedman, M., Henika, P. R., Martín-Belloso, O., McHugh, T. H., & Tapia, M. S. (2007). Mechanical, barrier, and antimicrobial properties of apple puree edible films containing plant essential oils. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55(21), 8898-8905.
- Valencia-Chamorro, S. A., Palou, L., Del Río, M. A., & Pérez-Gago, M. B. (2011). Antimicrobial edible films and coatings for fresh and minimally processed fruits and vegetables: a review. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 51(9), 872-900.

Chapter - 2

Enhancing Nutritional Value: A Comprehensive Exploration of Rice Fortification Strategies and Their Global Health Implications

Authors

Prasun Chakraborty

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Shubhodeep Bhattacharya

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Majhi

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 2

Enhancing Nutritional Value: A Comprehensive Exploration of Rice Fortification Strategies and Their Global Health Implications

Prasun Chakraborty, Shubhodeep Bhattacharya and Tanmoy Majhi

Abstract

Rice fortification plays a vital role in enhancing the nutritional quality of this staple food by incorporating essential vitamins and minerals. A comprehensive examination of rice fortification involves exploring multiple facets, including the efficacy of fortification methods, their impact on public health outcomes, challenges encountered during implementation, and potential future directions for this field. The review aims to highlight the importance of fortification in addressing nutrient deficiencies, particularly in regions heavily reliant on rice consumption. It will also scrutinize diverse fortification techniques such as biofortification or coating methods, assessing their ability to deliver vital nutrients effectively to target populations. By synthesizing this information, the paper seeks to provide a comprehensive overview of rice fortification strategies and their broader implications for global health and nutrition. Understanding the complexities and successes of rice fortification efforts can inform policy decisions and initiatives aimed at improving nutritional outcomes and addressing public health challenges associated with dietary deficiencies in rice-consuming communities worldwide

Keywords: Bio-fortification, fortification, coating method.

Introduction

Rice serves as a fundamental food source for more than half of the global population, particularly in Asia and Africa. However, despite its prevalence, rice often fails to provide essential nutrients, resulting in widespread nutrient deficiencies among populations that heavily depend on this grain. To tackle these deficiencies, rice fortification has emerged as a promising solution aimed at enriching rice with vital vitamins and minerals. This paper undertakes a comprehensive review of the various strategies

employed in rice fortification, their effectiveness, the challenges encountered, and the potential future directions of this field. The significance of rice fortification lies in its potential to combat nutrient deficiencies prevalent in populations reliant on rice as a staple. By enhancing the nutritional content of rice through fortification, essential nutrients such as vitamins and minerals can be effectively delivered to communities where rice is a primary dietary component. This strategy presents an opportunity to address public health challenges associated with micronutrient deficiencies, which can have far-reaching impacts on health and well-being, particularly in vulnerable populations.

The landscape of rice fortification encompasses diverse approaches and techniques aimed at improving the nutritional quality of rice. These strategies may include biofortification, where rice is bred to naturally contain higher levels of specific nutrients, or post-harvest fortification, involving the addition of nutrients during processing. Each method has its unique benefits and challenges, which need to be explored and evaluated comprehensively to maximize impact and effectiveness. Despite the potential benefits, rice fortification also faces several challenges. One key challenge is ensuring the stability and bioavailability of added nutrients in rice throughout storage, processing, and cooking. Additionally, issues related to cost, scalability, consumer acceptance, and regulatory frameworks must be carefully addressed to facilitate the widespread adoption and sustainability of rice fortification programs. This review aims to critically assess the impacts of existing rice fortification strategies, highlighting successful interventions and identifying areas for improvement. By synthesizing current knowledge and experiences, this paper seeks to inform future directions in rice fortification research and implementation. Promising areas for further exploration may include innovations in fortification techniques, advancements in delivery systems, and tailored approaches to address specific regional or demographic needs.

Methods of rice fortification

Rice fortification can be achieved through a range of methods, each challenges. presenting distinct advantages and One approach is biofortification, which entails the breeding of rice varieties with elevated nutrient content. By enhancing the inherent nutrient levels in rice through selective breeding, biofortification addresses deficiencies in essential vitamins and minerals. This method offers a sustainable solution as it integrates fortified traits directly into the crop's genetic makeup, ensuring long-term nutrient enhancement. However, biofortification requires extensive research and development to identify and optimize nutrientenriched varieties that exhibit desirable agronomic traits and consumer acceptance.

Alternatively, coating methods involve applying external fortificants onto rice grains to enhance their nutritional profile. This technique is practical and can be easily implemented within existing rice processing facilities. Coating methods offer flexibility in fortification, allowing specific nutrients to be targeted and tailored to local dietary needs. However, challenges such as ensuring uniform distribution of fortificants and maintaining stability during storage must be addressed to achieve consistent nutrient delivery to consumers.

Extrusion and soaking processes represent additional fortification techniques used to enhance rice's nutritional quality. Extrusion involves subjecting rice grains to high temperatures and pressures, which can enhance nutrient bioavailability and reduce anti-nutritional factors. Conversely, soaking processes involve immersing rice in nutrient-rich solutions to enhance its nutritional content. These methods offer practical approaches to fortifying rice at scale, particularly in regions where rice is a staple food.

Each fortification method presents unique implications for nutrient retention, cost-effectiveness, and scalability. Biofortification offers sustained nutrient enhancement but requires substantial investment in research and development. Coating methods provide practical solutions but require careful consideration of fortificant stability and distribution. Extrusion and soaking processes offer effective fortification techniques but require optimization to balance nutrient retention with processing efficiency.

Efficacy and public health impact

Research investigating the effectiveness of rice fortification highlights its capacity to enhance nutritional outcomes, especially in populations reliant on rice-based diets. Fortified rice has proven successful in addressing micronutrient deficiencies, including those related to vitamin A, iron, and zinc, resulting in enhanced health indicators and decreased disease prevalence.

Numerous studies have confirmed that fortifying rice with essential micronutrients offers a viable strategy for improving public health in regions where rice consumption is widespread. By enriching rice with key nutrients like vitamin A, iron, and zinc, fortified rice can play a crucial role in addressing common deficiencies prevalent in rice-based diets.

The findings from these studies underscore the positive impact of rice fortification on combating nutritional deficiencies. By incorporating essential nutrients into rice, this fortified staple food becomes a potent vehicle for delivering vital micronutrients to populations heavily reliant on rice as a dietary staple.

The evidence consistently supports the notion that fortifying rice is an effective intervention for enhancing nutritional status and reducing the burden of deficiency-related diseases. This approach holds promise for addressing widespread nutritional challenges in regions where rice is a primary dietary component.

Challenges in implementation

Implementing rice fortification programs, while offering significant advantages, presents several formidable challenges. One of these is the technical feasibility of integrating fortification processes into existing rice production and processing methods. This entails ensuring that fortification additives do not compromise the sensory qualities or shelf life of rice, maintaining consumer acceptability. Another hurdle is the cost-effectiveness of fortification on a large scale. Allocating resources for fortification initiatives must be balanced against competing priorities within limited budgets, necessitating careful economic analysis. Regulatory frameworks also pose a challenge. Establishing standards and guidelines for rice fortification requires coordination among governmental agencies to ensure compliance with food safety and nutritional standards. Moreover, enforcing these regulations across diverse regions and sectors demands effective governance and monitoring systems.

Supply chain logistics represent a critical aspect of successful rice fortification programs. Ensuring a consistent supply of fortified rice to consumers across various locations, especially remote or underserved areas, involves intricate coordination among producers, processors, distributors, and retailers. Addressing logistical challenges such as transportation, storage, and distribution networks is essential to maintain the availability and quality of fortified rice in the market. Perhaps one of the most significant hurdles is consumer acceptance. Fortified rice may alter the taste, texture, or appearance of the staple food, potentially impacting its adoption by consumers. Addressing these concerns requires extensive consumer education and awareness campaigns to promote the benefits of fortified rice and dispel misconceptions.

To tackle these challenges effectively, a collaborative approach

involving multiple sectors is imperative. Governments play a central role in setting policies, regulations, and standards conducive to rice fortification. Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) contribute by raising awareness, conducting advocacy, and implementing programs at the grassroots level. Researchers play a vital role in developing innovative fortification technologies and assessing the impact of fortified rice on public health. Private sectors, including rice producers, processors, and retailers, contribute expertise in production, distribution, and marketing, ensuring the efficient delivery of fortified rice to consumers.

Future directions and innovations

The future of rice fortification hinges on the adoption of innovative strategies aimed at overcoming current constraints. Key to this vision are advancements in biofortification, the development of nutrient-dense rice varieties, innovative coating technologies to improve nutrient retention, and the seamless integration of fortification into broader food systems and policy frameworks, ensuring sustainability and scalability. To begin with, biofortification represents a pivotal frontier in rice fortification. By leveraging biotechnological techniques, researchers can engineer rice varieties with enhanced nutritional profiles. This approach aims to naturally enrich rice with essential nutrients such as iron, zinc, and vitamin A, addressing widespread micronutrient deficiencies prevalent in populations reliant on rice as a staple food. Furthermore, novel coating technologies offer promising avenues for enhancing nutrient retention in fortified rice. By encapsulating essential nutrients within protective coatings, such as lipidbased or polymer matrices, the stability and bioavailability of these nutrients can be significantly improved. This innovation not only ensures that the fortified rice retains its nutritional value during storage and cooking but also enhances its overall health impact upon consumption. Equally important is the integration of fortification initiatives into broader food systems and policy frameworks. Sustainable and scalable fortification programs require comprehensive policy support and strategic integration into food supply chains. This entails establishing regulatory frameworks, fostering publicprivate partnerships, and incentivizing industry participation to ensure the widespread adoption and sustained impact of fortified rice interventions. Ultimately, the success of future rice fortification efforts depends on a holistic approach that combines technological innovation with effective policy implementation and integration within food systems. By harnessing the potential of biofortification and innovative coating technologies, and by aligning these advancements with supportive policy environments and robust food supply chains, rice fortification can emerge as a transformative solution in combating malnutrition and promoting public health on a global scale.

Policy implications and recommendations

Studying the impact of rice fortification on public health and nutrition is crucial for informing policy decisions and interventions aimed at combating malnutrition. Governments and international organizations must prioritize investments in fortification programs, establish robust regulatory frameworks, and enhance consumer awareness to ensure the success and sustainability of rice fortification initiatives. The significance of understanding the impact of rice fortification on public health and nutrition lies in its potential to address malnutrition effectively. By fortifying rice with essential nutrients such as iron, zinc, vitamins, and minerals, governments and international organizations can play a pivotal role in improving the nutritional status of populations, particularly in regions where rice is a staple food. Research into the effects of rice fortification can provide valuable insights into the efficacy of this approach and guide policymakers in implementing evidence-based interventions.

Investment in rice fortification programs is critical to their success. Governments should allocate resources to support the production, distribution, and monitoring of fortified rice. This investment extends beyond financial resources to include technical expertise and capacity building to ensure the quality and consistency of fortified rice reaching consumers. International organizations can also contribute by providing funding and technical assistance to support national fortification programs. Establishing regulatory frameworks is essential to ensure the safety and effectiveness of fortified rice. Governments need to enact policies that mandate fortification standards, monitor compliance, and enforce quality control measures throughout the rice supply chain. These regulations should include guidelines for fortification levels, labeling requirements, and surveillance systems to track the impact of fortified rice on public health outcomes. Furthermore, promoting consumer awareness is crucial to encourage the adoption of fortified rice and to dispel any misconceptions about its benefits. Public education campaigns can inform consumers about the nutritional advantages of fortified rice and how it can contribute to improving health outcomes, particularly among vulnerable populations such as children and pregnant women. By increasing awareness, governments and organizations can generate demand for fortified rice and foster long-term sustainability of fortification programs.

Conclusion

In conclusion, rice fortification offers significant potential for enhancing the nutritional value of rice and tackling prevalent nutrient deficiencies in rice-consuming populations worldwide. This analysis emphasizes the critical role of incorporating various fortification techniques into nutrition policies and initiatives, stressing the necessity for ongoing research, creativity, and cooperation to optimize the influence of rice fortification on global health and nutrition. Rice fortification emerges as a promising approach to elevate the nutritional profile of rice and combat widespread nutrient inadequacies within rice-dependent communities across the globe. This evaluation highlights the crucial necessity of integrating diverse fortification strategies into nutrition-focused policies and programs, accentuating the ongoing requirement for sustained research, inventive solutions, and collaborative efforts to amplify the impact of rice fortification on worldwide health and nutritional standards.

In summary, rice fortification represents a compelling strategy for enhancing the nutritional quality of rice and addressing prevalent nutrient deficiencies in rice-consuming populations on a global scale. This assessment underscores the critical importance of integrating diverse fortification methods into nutrition policies and programs, emphasizing the ongoing need for research, innovation, and collaboration to maximize the impact of rice fortification on global health and nutrition. To conclude, rice fortification holds great promise as a means to improve the nutritional quality of rice and combat widespread nutrient deficiencies in riceconsuming populations globally. This review stresses the importance of integrating diverse fortification methods into nutrition policies and programs, highlighting the need for ongoing research, innovation, and collaboration to maximize the impact of rice fortification on global health and nutrition

References

- Bouis, H. E., & Saltzman, A. (2017). Improving nutrition through biofortification: A review of evidence from HarvestPlus, 2003 through 2016. Global Food Security, 12, 49-58.
- 2. Hotz, C., & Gibson, R. S. (2007). Traditional food-processing and preparation practices to enhance the bioavailability of micronutrients in plant-based diets. The Journal of Nutrition, 137(4), 1097-1100.
- 3. De Pee, S., & Bloem, M. W. (2009). Current and potential role of specially formulated foods and food supplements for preventing

malnutrition among 6- to 23-month-old children and for treating moderate malnutrition among 6- to 59-month-old children. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 30(3_suppl3), S434-S463.

- Finkelstein, J. L., Mehta, S., Udipi, S. A., Ghugre, P. S., Luna, S. V., Wenger, M. J., ... & Haas, J. D. (2015). A randomized trial of ironbiofortified pearl millet in school children in India. Journal of Nutrition, 145(7), 1576-1581.
- 5. WHO (World Health Organization). (2019). Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients. World Health Organization.

Navigating the Challenges of Emerging Plant Diseases: Implications and Strategies for Global Food Security

Authors

Bratati Mahapatra

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Ria Mukhopadhyay

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Navigating the Challenges of Emerging Plant Diseases: Implications and Strategies for Global Food Security

Bratati Mahapatra and Ria Mukhopadhyay

Abstract

Emerging diseases pose significant threats to global crop production, jeopardizing food security and agricultural sustainability. This review highlights the increasing prevalence of new and re-emerging plant diseases driven by factors such as globalization, climate change, and shifts in agricultural practices. Pathogens like Fusarium wilt, citrus greening, and wheat blast are among the emerging threats causing substantial yield losses and economic damages across various crop species and geographical regions. This review emphasizes the importance of vigilance, early detection, and rapid response measures to mitigate the impact of these diseases on crop productivity. Furthermore, it underscores the need for efforts to develop resilient crop varieties, deploy effective disease management strategies, and enhance global surveillance systems to safeguard agricultural systems against emerging diseases. Overall, addressing the challenges posed by emerging diseases requires proactive measures and coordinated action to ensure the long-term sustainability of global crop production.

Keywords: Emerging plant diseases, pathogens, disease management.

Introduction

In recent time emerging infectious disease become one of the biggest problem in the world wide. Emerging infectious diseases are those caused by pathogens because of different reasons and it develops into epidemics that occur unexpectedly and devastatingly. Increasing plant diseases outbreak will not only threatening the global food production but also affecting the environmental sustainability in the whole world. The rapid and accelerating climate change also enhancing the outbreak risk by altering pathogen evolution and host pathogen interaction which facilitating the emergence of new pathogenic strains. They are also causing loss of primary productivity and yield loss and biodiversity that ultimately affecting environment and socio- economic condition of the World. The main objective of this paper is to spread awareness about the emerging infectious diseases and also propose different strategies for initiating the impact of emerging diseases.

Factors contributing to the emergence of crop diseases

Climate change and its influence on disease dynamics: Climate change affects plant disease dynamics in several ways. As the climate change it also change the composition of host communities not only by gathering new species but also by exchange of parasite communities (Dobsont & Carper 1992). Different species are reciprocate due to climate change by shifting geographic ranges towards the higher altitudes (Parmesa &Yohe, 2003). Climate change also have the potential to mediate stress and hence making the host susceptible to infectious diseases. Climate change can also affects the connectivity among populations and species by affecting the partial distribution of habitat and migration rates and species distribution. Altered Temperature also create more favourable conditions for certain pathogens leading to changes in disease prevalence. Shift in climate also affects the plant physiology making them more susceptible to diseases and also changed the life cycle of the pathogens.

Globalization of trade and travel facilitating pathogen spread: Infectious diseases are mainly occurs through natural and anthropogenic process which are strongly facilitated by globalisation of market for plants and plant product Global travel and the trade of agriculture moves crop pathogen weed away from their native to new environment. The spread of pest may be expanded by recently introduced crops and because host and pest may not have coevolved the introduction of new pest into an entirely new ecosystem and can cause serious damage this coevolution has been recognised for plants and their pest (Woohouse *et al.*, 2002). Global trade and travel are responsible for the transmission of 50% of all the newly discovered plant disease (Anderson *et al.*, 2004). Indeed the current climate is very conducive to transit and establishment of pest due to the increased market globalization and increased temperature making the environment more favourable for disease establishment and causing severe yield losses (Deutsch *et al.*,2018; Savary *et al.*,2019).

Changes in agricultural practices and land use: Change in agriculture practices can significantly impact the spread of plant diseases. Excessive pesticide uses and intensive monoculture create a favourable environment for disease establishment. Poor crop rotation pattern due to limited land resource also plays an important role in disease development more quickly

and easily. Indiscriminate use of pesticides can lead to proliferation and development of strains that are resistant to pesticides.

Major emerging diseases in staple crop

Wheat blast: It is one of the most destructive disease as grows very rapidly and farmers do not get enough time to take preventive measures. Rainy and humid is most favourable for the development of wheat blast. It is caused by a fungus named *Magnaporthe oryzae* (Couch & Kohn 2002). The first symptom is water soaked spots on the leaf and diamond shaped leisons which turn into eye - shaped lesions. These eye shaped leisons coalesced together and kill the entire leaf.

Fusarium head blight: Fusarium head blight also known as scab. It is a fungal disease which is caused due to *Fusarium graminearum*. The optimum temperature for its growth is about 16-30 degree Celsius. It is mainly occur during July or in early August when the florets are open during flowering. The first symptom is water soaked brownish spots at the base of the glumes. FHB is also recognised as premature bleaching of one or more of spikelets in the head and its result in unfilled spikelets.

Soyabean Vein necrosis: It is another important emerging disease which was first identified in 2008 in tennessee it is mainly caused by soybean vein necrosis virus the first symptom of SVNV is light green to yellow patches near leaf veins. Leaf tissue will also die. Leisons are spread along or from the edge of a vein. Vein discolouration also seen on the undersides of leaves.

Potato spindle tuber: It is a serious disease which is caused by viriods. Infected plant shows small elongated spindle with premature eyes evenly distributed over the tuber and cracking. Sprouting of the infected plant also becomes slower and plant growth will also become stunted.

Maize lethal necrosis: Maize Lethal necrosis is caused by the Maize chlorotic Mottle virus and a potyvirus (Uyemote *et al.*, 1981). It was first identified in Kenya in 2012 (Adams *et al.*, 2013). The initial symptom of this disease is the leaves of the infected plants become yellow from tip and margins to the centre. Ear and leaves become dry and looks like a mature plant.In severe infection the whole plant dies and maize cobs remain without kernels.

Impact of emerging crop diseases

Yield losses and reduced crop quality: Crop disease reduces crop yield and crop quality due to some factors:

Reduce photosynthesis: Diseases hamper the ability of the plant to perform photosynthesis which will reduce its ability to create energy and nutrient required for its growth and yield

Reduced reproductive capacity: Crop illnesses can impact the reproductive system and flowering, which can lead to inadequate fruit set and pollination and ultimately minimize the yield.

Economic consequences for farmers and agricultural industries

Quality loss: Disease also affect the quality of the crop due to which the crop become unsuitable for consumption and cause heavy loss to the agricultural industries.

Crop failure: In severe cases crop diseases can cause complete crop failure which results in economic loss of the farmers and also affect food supply.

Increased costs: Additional expenses for disease management, such as buying and using pesticides or other control methods, could impose costs on farmers. The whole economic impact is influenced by these expenses.

Disruption of global food supply chains: Crop diseases can disrupt the global food supply chain by reducing crop yield which affect both quantity and quality of agricultural produce. It also causes food shortage, increased prices of agricultural products and cause economic losses of the farmers and agricultural industries. Moreover, the spread of diseases across the world also create challenges for international trade and food security

Challenges in disease management

Limited availability of resistant crop varieties: Crop diseases have more determinant effect on the world food supply chain due to the limited availability of resistance crop varieties which make it more susceptible to diseases and hence increasing yield loss and agriculture also get hampered by the shortage which making it difficult to control and manage the epidemics.

Pesticide resistance and environmental concern: Due to increase in crop diseases farmer are using more quantity of chemical pesticides which causing environmental pollution. It also cause soil and water contamination and hampering non target organisms like beneficial insects birds and aquatic life. Moreover, pesticide residue accumulate in food chain posing risks to human health. Long term use of pesticide contribute to the development of pesticides resistant pests and disrupting naturally ecosystem. Lack of effective surveillance and early warning systems: A number of issues can get version in absence of efficient early warning and monitoring system. It results in delayed reaction to epidemics. Impeding containment effects. Inadequate monitoring system cause delayed alert for natural catastrophes which shorten the amount of time for people to prepare an evaluate themselves. Inadequate monitoring might let cyberattack pass unnoticed and cause great deal of damage.

Strategies for mitigating the impact of emerging diseases

Breeding for disease resistance and resilience: Breeding Strategies for disease resistance and resilience involved selecting and developing plant with enhanced ability to resist diseases. This can be achieved by-

- 1. Traditional breeding: In this method we select individual plant with natural resistance traits and breeding them to pass the straight to offspring.
- 2. Marker assisted selection: Using resistance associated genetic markers to direct breeding efforts and expedite the process.
- 3. Selective breeding: In this method for strengthening the trait by consistently choosing and breeding individuals that shows resistance over several generations.

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) approach is a eco-friendly approach that integrates multiple ways of disease management. Some of the integrated pest management procedures are:

- 1. Biological control: In this method we introduce natural predators, parasites and pathogens to manage pest population.
- 2. Crop rotation: By rotating the crops we can disrupt the life cycle of pest and lessen their accumulation in the soil.
- 3. Monitoring and early detection: Monitoring of pests on regular basis will help us to catch them early and take appropriate actions.

Biosecurity measures and quarantine protocols- Some bio security measures and quarantine protocols for preventing spread of diseases are:

- 1. Sanitation: In this method we separate infected plants after harvesting to prevent spread of diseases.
- 2. Quarantine: Before integrating newcomers into general community place them for a certain amount of time in a designated quarantine area to monitor and test for potential infection.

Surveillance: Maintain routine disease monitoring and testing to detect and isolate outbreaks as soon as possible.

Conclusion

Global food security is greatly threatened by emerging diseases mostly because of the impact of agricultural system and practices due to pathogen evaluation.

In order to ensure global food security, new crop diseases must be addressed since they have the potential to quickly destroy crops and cause large output losses. For communities that depend on agriculture for their economic stability as well as to guarantee food availability and prevent widespread agricultural failures, prompt action is crucial. To lessen the impact of new crop diseases on the world's food supply, international cooperation and the prompt use of practical solutions are essential.

References

- Adams, I.P., Miano, D.W., Kinyua, Z.M., Wangai, A., Kimani, E., Phiri, N., Reeder, R., Harju, V., Glover, R., Hany, U., Souza-Richards, R., Deb Nath, P., Nixon, T., Fox A., Barnes, A., Smith, J., Skelton, A., Thwaites, R., Mumford, R., Boonham, N., 2013. Use of next-generation sequencing for the identification and characterization of Maize chlorotic mottle virus and Sugarcane mosaic virus causing maize lethal necrosis in Kenya. Plant Pathology. 62, 741-749.
- Anderson, P.K., Cunningham, A.A., Patel, N.G., Morales, F.J., Epstein, P.R. & Daszak, P. 2004. Emerging infectious diseases of plants: Pathogen pollution, climate change and agrotechnology drivers. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 19: 535–544.
- Couch, B. C., and Kohn, L. M. 2002. A multilocus gene genealogy concordant with host preference indicates segregation of a new species, Magnaporthe oryzae, from M. grisea. Mycologia 94, 683–693.
- Deutsch, C.A., Tewksbury, J.J., Tigchelaar, M., Battisti, D.S., Merrill, S.C., Huey, R.B. & Naylor, R.L. 2018. Increase in crop losses to insect pests in a warming climate. Science, 361: 915–919.
- Dobson, A.P., and Carper, R.J. 1992. Global warming and potential changes in host-parasite and disease vector relationships. In Peters, R., & T. Lovejoy, eds. Global warming and biodiversity, pp. 201-217. Yale University Press, New Haven. 65-766.
- 6. Dweba, C.C., Figlan, S., Shimelis, H.A., Motaung, T.E., Sydenham, S.,

Mwadzingeni, L. and Tsilo, T.J., 2017. Fusarium head blight of wheat: Pathogenesis and control strategies. Crop protection, 91, pp.114-122.

- Islam, M.T., Gupta, D.R., Hossain, A., Roy, K.K., He, X., Kabir, M.R., Singh, P.K., Khan, M.A.R., Rahman, M. and Wang, G.L., 2020. Wheat blast: a new threat to food security. Phytopathology Research, 2(1), pp.1-13.
- 8. Parmesan, C and G. Yohe. 2003. A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421:37-42.
- Raina K. Plowright, Paul C. Cross, Gary M. Tabor, Emily Almberg, Leslie Bienen, and Peter J. Hudson2012. Climate change and infectious disease dynamics. USGS staff.
- 10. Sanjeev Kumar, S.K., 2014. Plant disease management in India: advances and challenges.
- Savary, S., Willocquet, L., Pethybridge, S.J., Esker, P., McRoberts, N. & Nelson, A. 2019. The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 3: 430–439.
- 12. Strange, R.N. and Scott, P.R., 2005. Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol., 43, pp.83-116.
- Uyemote JK, Claflin LE, Wilson DL, Raney RJ, 1981. Maize chlorotic mottle and Maize dwarf mosaic viruses: effect of single and double inoculations on symptomatology and yield. Plant Disease 65, 39-41
- Vurro, M., Bonciani, B. and Vannacci, G., 2010. Emerging infectious diseases of crop plants in developing countries: impact on agriculture and socio-economic consequences. Food security, 2, pp.113-132.
- Woolhouse, M.E.J., Webster, J.P., Domingo, E., Charlesworth, B. & Levin, B.R. 2002. Biological and biomedical implications of the coevolution of pathogens and their hosts. Nature Genetics, 32 (4): 569– 577.

Unlocking the Potential: Harnessing Secondary Nutrients for Enhanced Crop Yield and Environmental Sustainability

Authors

Debasma Sasmal

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Ayesha Khatun

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Parijat Bhattacharya

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Unlocking the Potential: Harnessing Secondary Nutrients for Enhanced Crop Yield and Environmental Sustainability

Debasma Sasmal, Ayesha Khatun and Parijat Bhattacharya

Abstract

Secondary nutrients, including calcium, magnesium, and sulphur, play pivotal roles in plant growth and development, albeit required in smaller quantities. Derived from soil, chemical fertilizers, and other sources, these elements are indispensable for various physiological processes essential for crop health and productivity. From cell wall construction to chlorophyll biosynthesis, root development, and stress mitigation, secondary nutrients contribute significantly to crop resilience and yield optimization. However, their deficiency in soil can lead to stunted growth, chlorosis, poor germination, and diminished yields, highlighting the criticality of maintaining optimal soil nutrient levels. Conversely, excessive supply can lead to toxicity, underscoring the importance of precise nutrient management. Thus, ensuring the soil contains the appropriate quantity of secondary nutrients is paramount for maximizing agricultural output while minimizing environmental risks. This article aims to guide farmers in effectively managing secondary nutrients to achieve higher yields and lower production costs, thereby promoting sustainable agricultural practices. By emphasizing proper soil fertility management and balanced fertilization strategies, farmers can harness the potential of secondary nutrients to optimize crop production while safeguarding the environment for future generations.

Keywords: Secondary nutrients, importance, management, sustainability, crop yield.

Introduction

The vital elements known as secondary elements—which include calcium, magnesium, and sulphur—are needed in smaller amounts than the primary elements (Nieder *et al.*, 2018). Every nutrient has a distinct purpose and is required in different amounts by the plant. These nutrients affect crop

output and quality based on their availability for plant uptake. A regular secondary nutrient fertilization program is essential to plants to produce high-quality products. The development and growth of plants may be impacted by the absence of any one of these nutrients in the soil. Throughout a plant's life, secondary elements are vital because they carry out a variety of helpful metabolic functions and shield plants from a variety of biotic and abiotic stressors, such as heat, drought, disease, and insect infestations (Al-Khayri et al., 2023). These components actively participated in the development and maintenance of the cell wall, as well as in photosynthesis, protein biosynthesis, seed production, stability, and mechanical strength (Ganie and Ahammed, 2021). Their deficits, however, cause a number of plant diseases that could decrease productivity in agriculture. Severe secondary nutritional deficiencies have been reported to result in interveinal chlorosis, stunted growth, poor germination, darkening for the leaves, dry leaf tips, and other symptoms (Abbas et al., 2021). Conversely, if an element is present in greater concentration than what is actually needed, it may have hazardous effects. In order to ensure that the concentration of secondary nutrients in the soil is in the ideal range and is neither too high nor too low.

Secondary elements

Nutrients classified as secondary are those that somewhat require by plants and only marginally restrict crop growth. These nutrients consist of sulphur, magnesium, and calcium. While secondary nutrients are just as important to plants as essential nutrients, they are required in smaller amounts than N, P, and K. However, compared to micronutrients like B and Mo, crops need these nutrients in greater amounts (Ali *et al.*, 2023).

Role of secondary elements

Role of calcium

Plant species, growing conditions, and organs all affect the Ca content, which ranges from 0.1 to >5% of dry weight. Contrary to dicotyledons, monocotyledons require substantially less calcium for optimal growth. For all living things, calcium constitutes one of the most important elements. Calcium ions $[Ca^{2+}]$, which aid in and participate in several cellular activities, are especially necessary. For every plant to grow and flourish, it is essential as a supplementary nutrient. The movement of water and salt equilibrium in plant cells are induced, ion transport is regulated, ion-exchange behaviour and cell wall enzyme activities are controlled, and activation of K is employed to control the opening and closure for stomata (Parveen *et al.*, 2021). Along with many other vital biological processes, it is

also necessary for pollen tube development, division of cells, elongation, and growth. Calcium strengthens cell walls, increases nutrient uptake, increases tissue of plants resistance, and aids in the proper growth of root systems (Jing *et al.*, 2024). In situations where plants are under physical or metabolic stress, it also acts as a secondary messenger. Stress is lessened and the harmful effects of NaCl are lessened when Ca^{2+} is administered externally. Calcium may have a role in both keeping the pectic elements together and preventing the enzymes that break them down, as it appears to block the breakdown of pectates in the walls of cells by preventing the synthesis of polygalacturonates.

Role of magnesium

Magnesium plays a number of important physiological and molecular functions in plants, including being a part of the chlorophyll molecule, having a significant role in the structure and function of ribosomes, being a cofactor in numerous enzymatic processes related to phosphorylation, dephosphorylation and the hydrolysis of different compounds, and serving as a structural stabilizer for a variety of nucleotides. Research suggests that between 15 and 30 percent of the magnesium present in plants is linked with the molecule of chlorophyll. Inadequate magnesium will have a direct impact on the absorption of carbon and energy transformations since it is an essential part of the molecule that makes up chlorophyll and the enzyme activities involved in photosynthesis and respiration. It is also important for the mitochondria in plant cells, where inadequately of it can lead to structural denaturation (Walker, 1994). In addition, it is necessary for the stimulation of many enzymes that are involved in the catabolism and anabolism of fats. Additionally, it has been found that pepper, maize, beans, and mulberries have higher levels of antioxidant molecules and the activity of antioxidant enzymes due to the proper level of magnesium concentration.

Role of Sulphur

The majority of crops require plenty of sulphur. It plays a variety of dynamic roles for plant survival and growth, and is recognized as an essential nutrient for every living thing. It is a crucial component in the production of chlorophyll and the synthesis of proteins. Consequently, it is thought to be a vital plant nutrient required for all crops in order to maximize production. For the bacteria known as rhizobia in legumes to fix nitrogen, sulphur is necessary (Siegl *et al.*, 2024). Along with amino acids like cysteine and methionine, it is also essential for the production of seeds' oil content (Ningthi *et al.*, 2024). Moreover, it strengthens the tuber's stringency,

raises its NPK level, and expands the plant's root system. It also makes more people who manufacture carbohydrates. It has also been suggested, however, that adding S significantly increases plant yield. In general, crops have almost equal amounts of phosphorus and sulphur; however, the level of sulphur is higher in legumes, cabbage, mustard, potatoes, and onions than in phosphorus. In addition to proteins, sulphur can be encountered in other plant components such as mustard oil, mercaptans, allyl as well as vinyl sulphides found in onions and garlic, and mustard oil. Additionally, sulphur plays a significant role in the formative impacts of plants. It has been shown to significantly boost the size and scope of Alfalfa's root system as well as the growth of red clover nodules.

Deficiency symptoms of secondary nutrients

Deficiency of calcium

Symptoms of a calcium deficit are typically caused by internal distribution issues rather than an absence of calcium coming from the soil. Limited Ca²⁺ mobility in plant tissue also lessens Ca²⁺'s ability to migrate toward developing meristems. Plants with low calcium levels usually have yellow-green upper sections and dark green lower sections. The phenolic precursor leaks into the cytoplasm due to a general breakdown in the membrane as well as cell wall structure brought on by the tissue's lack of calcium. Melanin chemicals and necrosis are produced in the afflicted tissues as a result of polyphenols oxidizing (Marrazzo and O'leary, 2020). Microbial infection is often a side effect of the overall degradation of cell walls as well as membranes. One of the common signs of calcium deficiency in many agricultural crops is, in fact, the death of the shoot's growth tip. When calcium levels are below ideal levels, many dicotyledons experience irregular leaf growth, with the margins curling inward toward the midrib and eventually getting burnt and blackened during maturity. The end rot of tomatoes, peppers, watermelons, bitter pits of apples, black hearts of celery, internal rust spots in potato tubers and carrots, internal browning of pineapples, tip burns in lettuce, and so forth, have also been reported as symptoms.

Deficiency of magnesium

The formation of starch in leaves is the initial physiological indication of a magnesium deficit, and it may be linked to an early decline in plant development and a reduced transfer of carbohydrates between leaves to growing sinks (Zhou *et al.*, 2024). After this process, older leaves begin to exhibit chlorosis, the nature which can be explained by physiological processes related to plant metabolism, translocation, and uptake of magnesium (Shi *et al.*, 2024). The withering as well as yellowing of the margins of mature leaves, which move intervein ally near the base and midrib of the leaves, giving them a mottled appearance, are early signs of magnesium shortage.

In dicots, modest deficits cause a "V"-patterned interveinal chlorosis due to magnesium detaching from the chlorophyll and causing chlorophyll breakdown. Browning on mature needle tops in conifers is a mild sign of magnesium insufficiency, while in more severe cases, the interior needle senesces and goes brown. Some plants may experience the reddening of their leaves instead of chlorosis, like cotton does, because other plant pigments might not degrade as rapidly as chlorophyll. However, most plants lose their plastic pigments when their magnesium-deficient leaves lose protein. Deficit symptoms may only show up on the parts of a leaf or plants which have been exposed to the sun, leaving the shaded parts of the leaves green (Ismayil *et al.*, 2023).

Deficiency of sulphur

Sulphur deficiency affects the productivity and quality of crops. A slight sulphur shortage may have a major influence on quality but a small effect on yield. As a result, in sulphur-limiting soil, low-sulphur proteins such as omega-gliadin as well as high molecular weight glutenin subunits are produced at the expense of wheat's sulphur-rich proteins (Narayan et al., 2023). According to reports, a sulphate deficit causes a reduction in the synthesis of the enzyme ribulose-1,5-biphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase, which in turn alters the rates at which CO₂ is assimilated. Furthermore, because of the imbalance in the ratio of nitrogen to sulphur, a sulphur deficit causes the internal sulphur pool to decrease and the soluble nitrogen gathers to grow along with amide and nitrate. This ultimately causes a delay in the synthesis of carbohydrates, which causes young leaves to chlorosis. A sulphur shortage may have an impact on a plant's biomass, general morphology, yield, and nutritional value, according to a number of studies. For example, in Eruca sativa L, reduced sulphur causes changes in the production of biomass and the synthesis of chlorophyll (Houhou et al., 2018). Furthermore, a study examined the effects of sulphur supplementation upon wheat's grain and protein yields of agronomically significant features. Sulphur supplementation has been shown in another study to enhance grain and protein yield in essential agronomic plants such as oilseed rape and wheat (Filipek-Mazur et al., 2019). Reduced root hydraulic conductivity is another effect of sulphur shortage, which is likely a reaction to signalling food insufficiency from root to shoot.

Toxicity of secondary nutrients

Toxicity of calcium

For plants, calcium has few harmful effects. Secondary consequences of increased soil pH contribute to the majority of issues produced by excess Ca in the soil. Reduced absorption of other nutrients including P, Mg, K, Cu, B, Fe and Zn may result from an excess of calcium (Garcia-Paredes *et al.*, 2024). Furthermore, it has been shown that too much calcium in the fruit's causes gold spot, a disease that primarily affects tomatoes late in the growing season and gets worse in hot weather. The condition known as "peteca," which causes brown patches on lemon rinds (*Citrus limon* Burm. f.), is linked to excessive calcium concentrations in specific areas.

Toxicity of magnesium

There are currently no known symptoms that are directly linked to plant magnesium poisoning. On the other hand, symptoms of deficiencies in other important cations may be triggered by comparatively high magnesium concentrations. Calcium, potassium, and occasionally iron are nutrients found in plants that are competitively hindered for uptake by comparatively high magnesium concentrations. Excess magnesium may be present in the tissue of crops cultivated on thick montmorillonite clay soils which were given insufficient potassium fertilizer (De Sousa Ferreira *et al.*, 2023). Older leaves often have higher tissue magnesium ion concentrations. An excess of magnesium can cause a K deficit.

Toxicity of Sulphur

Rarely may sulphur lead to poisoning. A surplus of sulphate-S (SO_4^{2-}) might hinder the absorption of some anions, including molybdate (MoO_4^{2-}) and nitrate (NO_3^{-}) . Older leaves exhibit a chlorosis or yellow of the entire leaf surface due to sulphur toxicity.

Management of secondary elements in the soil

Management of Specific Nutrients in Soils Since every soil type is different, it makes sense that fertilizer applications should be customized to the specific soil variety in order to attain the proper nutrient balance needed for the crop's growth. Understanding the current soil types is necessary in order to execute soil fertility recommendations for specific soil types at the farm level. The proper ratio of nutrients needed for the crop's growth.

Management of calcium

Calcium carbonate, found in chalk and lime, is the form of calcium that

is most frequently added to soils (Bide *et al.*, 2021). It doesn't technically fit the meaning of fertilizer because the calcium carbonate's primary purposes are to reduce soil acidity and help clay particles form into crumbs, which improves drainage. There is not enough accessible calcium in very acidic soils; adding calcium carbonate will assist address this issue. Al3 and H ions would normally be displacing Ca ions in the root plasmalemma, but one result when adding calcium might be their displacement. Just before harvest, applying salts of calcium to sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.) Berries may help lessen the likelihood of skin cracking that occurs after any significant rainfall during this period (Pantelidis *et al.*, 2021). Better protection comes from multiple applications spread out during the summer, and CaCl₂ is preferable over Ca(OH)₂, as the former may lead fruit to shrink in hot weather. After harvest, calcium treatments are also used to enhance fruit quality and shelf life.

Management of magnesium

Fertilizers that contain magnesium come from either synthetic processing or the extraction of natural mineral sources. The impact of magnesium fertilizer on plant growth might vary depending on the type of magnesium used and the texture of the fertilizer, even though the needs for magnesium are minimal in comparison to other macronutrients like nitrogen. Therefore, factors like crop kind and length of production cycle will determine the kind of magnesium fertiliser to apply. When calcium carbonate as well as magnesium oxide were used instead of dolomitic limestone, which has comparable amounts of calcium and magnesium, more vegetative growth was produced (Arrobas *et al.*, 2023). The various solubilities of magnesium components and the particle size of the fertilizers are responsible for the variety of growth impacts observed with various types of fertilizers.

Management of sulphur

Based on the application method and crop's unique sulphur requirements, the best time, dose, and kind of sulphur to utilize is determined. In humid environments, the amount of sulphur should be divided so that fall sulphur fertilization meets the needs of light, sandy soils prior to winter and strengthens the soil's natural defences against illness. Sulphur and nitrogen should be administered jointly at the onset of the major vegetative growth. Sulphur is commonly found in fertilizers made from minerals and secondary raw materials in the forms of sulphate, sulphite and elemental sulphur. Plant roots directly absorb sulphate, while elemental sulphur and sulphite must first undergo oxidation to become sulphate. The rate of this transition is determined by the size and composition of the thiobacillus community in the soil (Wang *et al.*, 2024). Generally speaking, the sulphur state of the shoots has a significant impact on how well rape absorbs sulphur. The beginning sulphur content and the amount of sulphur that is added during fertilizer are closely related. Root-expressed sulphur transporter is strongly controlled and stimulated under growth situations where sulphur is limited. In addition, sulphur fertilizer promoted root development and sulphate availability (Xun *et al.*, 2023).

Conclusion

Secondary nutrients have an impact on plants at every stage of their lives because of their critical function in their growth and development. The mix and amount of mineral nutrients in the soil determine how a plant grows and develops. Because of their relative immobility, plants frequently have difficulty getting a sufficient amount of vital nutrients to meet the requirements of basic cellular functions. Plant production and/or fertility may suffer from a lack of one or more of them. A lack of certain nutrients can cause growth to be stunted, plant tissue to die, or the pigment chlorophyll, which is necessary for photosynthesis, to be produced less often, resulting in yellowing of the leaves. A shortage of nutrients can have a big effect on agriculture, lowering plant quality or crop yield. Lack of certain nutrients can also result in a decrease in biodiversity overall because most food webs are supported by plants, which are the producers. But too much or too little of a secondary macronutrient might have a negative impact on a plant's ability to grow and function as a whole. As a result, an element's cellular condition needs to be strictly controlled. Plant roots typically absorb mineral nutrients from the soil, but a variety of conditions can impact how well nutrients are absorbed.

References

- Abbas, S., Javed, M. T., Ali, Q., Azeem, M., & Ali, S. (2021). Nutrient deficiency stress and relation with plant growth and development. In Engineering tolerance in crop plants against abiotic stress (pp. 239-262). CRC Press.
- 2. Ali, S., Riaz, A., Mamtaz, S., & Haider, H. (2023). Nutrients and Crop Production. Current Research in Agriculture and Farming, 4(2), 1-15.
- Al-Khayri, J. M., Rashmi, R., Toppo, V., Chole, P. B., Banadka, A., Sudheer, W. N., ... & Rezk, A. A. S. (2023). Plant secondary metabolites: The weapons for biotic stress management. Metabolites, 13(6), 716.

- Arrobas, M., Conceição, N., Pereira, E., Martins, S., Raimundo, S., Brito, C., ... & Rodrigues, M. Â. (2023). Dolomitic limestone was more effective than calcitic limestone in increasing soil pH in an untilled olive orchard. Soil Use and Management, 39(4), 1437-1452.
- 5. Bide, T., Ander, E. L., & Broadley, M. R. (2021). A spatial analysis of lime resources and their potential for improving soil magnesium concentrations and pH in grassland areas of England and Wales. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 20420.
- de Sousa Ferreira, L., de Souza Oliveira, V., de Paula Marchiori, J. J., Ferreira, T. C., Bernabé, A. C. B., Boone, G. T. F., ... & Carriço, E. (2023). The Nutrient Magnesium in Soil and Plant: A Review. Int. J. Plant Soil Sci, 35(8), 136-144.
- Filipek-Mazur, B., Tabak, M., Gorczyca, O., & Lisowska, A. (2019). Effect of sulfur-containing fertilizers on the quantity and quality of spring oilseed rape and winter wheat yield. Journal of Elementology, 24(4).
- 8. Ganie, S. A., & Ahammed, G. J. (2021). Dynamics of cell wall structure and related genomic resources for drought tolerance in rice. Plant cell reports, 40, 437-459.
- García-Paredes, J. D., Martínez-Mera, E. A., Can-Chulim, Á., Luna-Esquivel, G., Cruz-Crespo, E., & Balois-Morales, R. (2024). Nutritional diagnosis of soursop according to the Kenworthy balance index and deviation from optimum percentage, Nayarit, Mexico. Agroindustrial Science, 14(1), 15-23.
- Houhou, M., Joutei, K. A., & Louhalia, S. (2018). Biomass Production, Chlorophyll Content and Morphorogical Parameters Are Affected by Sulfur Deficiency in Eruca sativa L. International Journal of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, 44(1), 67-75.
- 11. Ismayil, M. M. S., Kumar, N., Bankar, D. R., Chauhan, A. S., & Thomas, A. (2023). Novel Approaches in Plant Protection.
- Jing, T., Li, J., He, Y., Shankar, A., Saxena, A., Tiwari, A., ... & Awasthi, M. K. (2024). Role of calcium nutrition in plant Physiology: Advances in research and insights into acidic soil conditions-A comprehensive review. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 108602.
- Marrazzo, P., & O'Leary, C. (2020). Repositioning natural antioxidants for therapeutic applications in tissue engineering. Bioengineering, 7(3), 104.
- 14. Narayan, O. P., Kumar, P., Yadav, B., Dua, M., & Johri, A. K. (2023).

Sulfur nutrition and its role in plant growth and development. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 18(1), 2030082.

- Nieder, R., Benbi, D. K., Reichl, F. X., Nieder, R., Benbi, D. K., & Reichl, F. X. (2018). Macro-and secondary elements and their role in human health. Soil components and human health, 257-315.
- Ningthi, K. C., Kumari, P., Singh, V. K., Yengkokpam, P., Dhiman, S., Chaudhary, M., & Sharma, R. (2024). Role of Sulphur Nutrition in Oilseed Crops: A Review. Journal of Experimental Agriculture International, 46(5), 556-562.
- 17. Pantelidis, G., Mavromatis, T., & Drogoudi, P. (2021). Consecutive wet days may impede fruit quality of peach and nectarine and cause fruit drop. Scientia Horticulturae, 282, 110011.
- Parveen, A., Ahmar, S., Kamran, M., Malik, Z., Ali, A., Riaz, M., ... & Ali, S. (2021). Abscisic acid signaling reduced transpiration flow, regulated Na+ ion homeostasis and antioxidant enzyme activities to induce salinity tolerance in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) seedlings. Environmental Technology & Innovation, 24, 101808.
- Shi, Y., Jin, X., Ackah, M., Amoako, F. K., Li, J., Tsigbey, V. E., ... & Zhao, W. (2024). Comparative Physio-Biochemical and Transcriptome Analyses Reveal Contrasting Responses to Magnesium Imbalances in Leaves of Mulberry (Morus alba L.) Plants. Antioxidants, 13(5), 516.
- Siegl, A., Afjehi-Sadat, L., & Wienkoop, S. (2024). Systemic longdistance sulfur transport and its role in symbiotic root nodule protein turnover. Journal of Plant Physiology, 154260.
- 21. Walker, G. M. (1994). The roles of magnesium in biotechnology. Critical reviews in biotechnology, 14(4), 311-354.
- Wang, P. L., Tu, T. H., Lin, L. H., Chou, H. L., Wang, Y. J., Chen, J. N., ... & Ke, C. C. (2024). Microbial communities modulate chemical weathering and carbon dioxide cycling in an active orogen in Taiwan. Communications Earth & Environment, 5(1), 174.
- 23. Xun, M., Shi, J., Cao, H., Song, J., Li, J., Zhang, W., & Yang, H. (2023). Wood biochar in soil enhances the promotion of KNO3 on sulfur accumulation in apple trees by regulating root sulfate assimilation. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 196, 1055-1064.
- 24. Zhou, H., Peng, J., Zhao, W., Zeng, Y., Xie, K., & Huang, G. (2024). Leaf diffusional capacity largely contributes to the reduced photosynthesis in rice plants under magnesium deficiency. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 209, 108565.

Millets: The Future Smart Food

Authors

Suvojit Pal

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Sahely Kanthal

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Millets: The Future Smart Food

Suvojit Pal and Sahely Kanthal

Abstract

Millets are emerging as the future smart food in agriculture, offering a promising solution to global food security and sustainable farming practices. Millets offer a myriad of benefits, including high nutritional value with rich sources of fibre, vitamins, and minerals, contributing to improved health and well-being. Additionally, these hardy crops are environmentally sustainable, requiring minimal water and demonstrating resilience in diverse agroclimatic conditions, making them pivotal for fostering food security and agricultural sustainability. These ancient grains, including varieties like sorghum, pearl millet, and finger millet, are hardy, resilient, and welladapted to diverse agro-ecological conditions, making them particularly suited for climate-change-induced challenges. Millets boast impressive nutritional profiles, rich in essential nutrients and fibres, contributing to a balanced diet and improved health outcomes. Moreover, their efficient water and nutrient use make them environmentally friendly crops, crucial for resource-efficient agriculture. As awareness grows about the nutritional and environmental benefits of millets, there is a renewed interest in cultivating and consuming them, positioning millets as a key player in promoting sustainable and resilient agriculture for the future.

Keywords: Millets, emerging food.

Introduction

In the face of global challenges such as climate change, food insecurity, and the need for sustainable agricultural practices, millets have emerged as a promising solution and a beacon of hope for the future of food. These ancient grains, often overlooked in modern agriculture and diets, are now gaining recognition for their exceptional nutritional value, environmental resilience, and potential to transform our food systems. Millets encompass a diverse group of small-seeded grains that have been cultivated for millennia in regions with arid and semi-arid climates, particularly in Asia and Africa (Lokesh *et al*, 2022). While they have historically served as dietary staples for millions of people, millets have experienced a decline in popularity in recent decades due to the dominance of major cereals like rice, wheat, and maize. However, a resurgence of interest in millets is underway, driven by their remarkable nutritional profile and suitability for sustainable farming practices. From a nutritional standpoint, millets are nutritional powerhouses packed with protein, dietary fiber, vitamins, and minerals. They are glutenfree and have a low glycemic index, making them suitable for individuals with gluten sensitivities and those managing diabetes. Millets also offer a range of culinary possibilities, from porridges and flatbreads to pilafs and desserts, showcasing their versatility in modern kitchens. In recent years, there has been a resurgence of interest in millets as a smart and sustainable food choice (Lokesh *et al*, 2022). These ancient grains, often overlooked in modern diets, are proving to be not only nutritious but also highly adaptable to today's agricultural and culinary needs.

What are millets?

Millets are a group of small-seeded grasses that have been cultivated for thousands of years, primarily in semi-arid regions of Asia and Africa (Bora *et al*, 2019). Common types of millets include pearl millet, finger millet, foxtail millet, proso millet, and sorghum. They are hardy crops that can thrive in dry and harsh conditions, making them particularly suitable for regions with water scarcity or unpredictable rainfall (Bora *et al*, 2019).

Nutritional benefits

Millets have emerged as a nutritional powerhouse, attracting increasing attention due to their exceptional composition of essential nutrients that contribute to overall health and well-being. Their rich nutritional profile makes them stand out among other staple grains, offering a diverse array of vital nutrients that support various bodily functions and promote optimal health.

Protein content

Millets are notable for their relatively high protein content compared to other cereals. They provide a valuable source of plant-based proteins, essential for muscle repair, growth, and overall body maintenance. This protein profile makes millets particularly valuable for vegetarians and vegans seeking alternative protein sources.

Dietary fiber

Millets are a great source of dietary fiber, crucial for digestive health

and regular bowel movements. Fiber aids in maintaining satiety, which can be beneficial for weight management and controlling blood sugar levels. The soluble fiber in millets also helps lower cholesterol levels, reducing the risk of heart disease (Bora, 2013).

Vitamins and minerals

Millets are rich in a spectrum of vitamins and minerals essential for various physiological processes. They are particularly abundant in B-complex vitamins, including niacin (B3), thiamine (B1), riboflavin (B2), and folate (B9), which play key roles in energy metabolism, nerve function, and red blood cell production. Millets also boast significant amounts of minerals such as iron, calcium, magnesium, phosphorus, and potassium, which are vital for bone health, muscle function, and overall cellular activity (Bora, 2013).

Antioxidants

Millets contain antioxidants such as phenolic compounds and flavonoids, which help combat oxidative stress and reduce the risk of chronic diseases like cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular disorders. These antioxidants protect cells from damage caused by free radicals, contributing to overall health and longevity.

Gluten-free and low glycemic index

One of the standout features of millets is their gluten-free nature, making them suitable for individuals with celiac disease or gluten intolerance. They serve as an excellent alternative to wheat and other gluten-containing grains. Additionally, millets have a low glycemic index, meaning they release glucose into the bloodstream at a slower rate, which helps stabilize blood sugar levels. This property is particularly beneficial for individuals with diabetes or those aiming to manage their weight (Nithiyanantham *et al*, 2019).

Overall health implications

Incorporating millets into the diet offers a host of health benefits. They can help reduce the risk of chronic diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular ailments, and certain types of cancer. The combination of protein, fiber, vitamins, and minerals supports overall immunity, bone health, and cognitive function. Moreover, the low glycemic index of millets promotes sustained energy release and can aid in maintaining optimal blood sugar levels.

Environmental Sustainability

Millets stand out as highly sustainable crops, offering a compelling alternative to major cereals such as rice and wheat due to their unique ability to thrive under challenging environmental conditions with minimal inputs. Their innate resilience not only ensures food security in regions prone to water scarcity and poor soil fertility but also contributes significantly to mitigating the ecological footprint of agriculture.

One of the most notable characteristics of millets is their low water and input requirements compared to conventional cereals. Millets are naturally adapted to arid and semi-arid climates, where water is a scarce resource. Their deep root systems enable them to access moisture from deeper soil layers, reducing reliance on irrigation. In regions where water availability is limited or erratic, cultivating millets offers a sustainable solution to ensure crop productivity without placing undue pressure on dwindling water resources (Dwivedi *et al*, 2023).

Furthermore, millets exhibit exceptional drought resistance, making them a preferred choice for farmers facing unpredictable rainfall patterns and prolonged dry spells. Unlike water-intensive crops like rice, which demand substantial irrigation, millets can thrive with minimal moisture, relying on stored soil water during periods of drought resources (Dwivedi *et al*, 2023). This inherent ability to withstand water stress not only safeguards farmers against climate variability but also reduces the vulnerability of agricultural systems to drought-induced crop failures.

In addition to their water efficiency, millets demonstrate a remarkable capacity to grow in poor soil conditions, including sandy or infertile soils. Their adaptability to marginal lands minimizes the need for chemical fertilizers, which are often detrimental to soil health and water quality. By promoting millet cultivation, we can foster soil regeneration and enhance agroecosystem resilience, mitigating the adverse environmental impacts associated with intensive agricultural practices resources (Dwivedi *et al*, 2023).

The cultivation of millets aligns with the principles of climate-resilient farming, emphasizing resource efficiency and ecosystem conservation. By integrating millets into cropping systems, farmers can adopt sustainable agricultural practices that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and promote biodiversity. Covering the soil with millet crops helps prevent erosion, improves soil structure, and enhances carbon sequestration, contributing to climate change mitigation efforts.

Health benefits

Incorporating millets into the diet offers a plethora of health benefits, making them a valuable addition to diverse culinary traditions worldwide. Let's explore the specific ways in which millets contribute to overall health and wellbeing:

- 1. Rich in fiber for digestive health: Millets are packed with dietary fiber, a crucial nutrient known for promoting digestive health. Fiber aids in regular bowel movements, prevents constipation, and supports a healthy gut microbiome. By incorporating millets into the diet, individuals can enhance digestive regularity and reduce the risk of gastrointestinal disorders (Sarita & Singh, 2016).
- 2. Supports cholesterol management: The soluble fiber found in millets plays a pivotal role in managing cholesterol levels. Soluble fiber helps to reduce LDL (low-density lipoprotein) cholesterol, often referred to as "bad" cholesterol, by binding to cholesterol particles in the digestive tract and facilitating their excretion. By consuming millets regularly, individuals can contribute to cardiovascular health and reduce the risk of heart disease.
- 3. Provides sustained energy release: Millets are an excellent source of complex carbohydrates, which are slowly digested and provide a steady release of energy. This characteristic makes millets an ideal choice for athletes, individuals with active lifestyles, and those seeking to maintain stable blood sugar levels. Unlike refined grains, this can cause rapid spikes and crashes in blood sugar, millets offer sustained energy throughout the day.
- 4. Nutrient-dense for overall health: Millets are packed with essential micronutrients, including vitamins and minerals crucial for overall health and wellbeing. They are particularly rich in B-complex vitamins such as niacin (vitamin B3), thiamine (vitamin B1), and folate (vitamin B9), which play vital roles in energy metabolism, nervous system function, and red blood cell production (Sarita & Singh, 2016). Millets also contain minerals like iron, calcium, magnesium, and phosphorus, contributing to bone health, muscle function, and immune system support.
- 5. Antioxidant properties: Certain varieties of millets exhibit antioxidant properties due to the presence of compounds like polyphenols and flavonoids. Antioxidants help to neutralize harmful free radicals in the body, reducing oxidative stress and lowering the

risk of chronic diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular ailments.

- 6. Gluten-free alternative: Millets are inherently gluten-free, making them a safe and nutritious alternative for individuals with gluten intolerance or celiac disease. By incorporating millets into a glutenfree diet, individuals can diversify their nutrient intake without compromising digestive health.
- 7. Contributes to weight management: The combination of high fiber content, sustained energy release, and nutrient density makes millets a valuable component of weight management diets (Sarita & Singh, 2016). Millets can help promote feelings of fullness and satiety, reducing overall calorie intake and supporting healthy weight loss or maintenance goals.
- 8. Diverse culinary applications: Millets are incredibly versatile in the kitchen. They can be used to make porridges, flatbreads, pilafs, salads, soups, and even desserts. Each type of millet has a unique texture and flavor profile, ranging from nutty (like finger millet) to mild (like pearl millet), allowing for diverse culinary creations. Millets are also increasingly used in gluten-free baking as a substitute for wheat flour.

Empowering farmers

- 1. Smallholder farmers: The resurgence of millets presents a transformative opportunity for smallholder farmers, particularly in marginalized and rain-fed regions where traditional cereal crops face challenges. By promoting millet cultivation and integrating these resilient grains into cropping systems, we can unlock economic prosperity while bolstering food security and rural development (Medhekar, 2024). Smallholder farmers often contend with the harsh realities of climate variability and resource constraints, which can limit agricultural productivity and jeopardize livelihoods. In such contexts, millets emerge as a viable alternative, offering a pathway towards sustainable farming practices and economic empowerment.
- 2. Enhancing food security: Millets thrive in environments characterized by water scarcity and erratic rainfall, making them a dependable source of food even during challenging climatic conditions. By diversifying cropping systems with millets, farmers can reduce their vulnerability to crop failures and ensure a stable

food supply throughout the year (Medhekar, 2024). The resilience of millets strengthens food security at both household and community levels, safeguarding against hunger and malnutrition.

- 3. Income generation: The cultivation of millets opens new avenues for income generation among smallholder farmers. Compared to conventional cereals, millets require fewer inputs such as water, fertilizers, and pesticides, translating into lower production costs (Medhekar, 2024). Additionally, millets are well-suited for organic farming practices, enabling farmers to tap into premium markets for organic and sustainable foods. The rising consumer demand for healthy and gluten-free products further enhances the marketability of millets, providing farmers with lucrative opportunities to diversify their income streams.
- 4. Rural development and poverty alleviation: The integration of millets into agricultural systems contributes to broader rural development objectives. Millet cultivation creates employment opportunities along the value chain, from farm labor to processing and marketing (Medhekar, 2024). Local processing units for milletbased products can emerge, stimulating entrepreneurship and value addition within rural economies. Moreover, increased income from millet farming empowers farmers to invest in education, healthcare, and other essential services, lifting communities out of poverty and fostering sustainable development.
- 5. Policy interventions and support: Realizing the full potential of millets requires targeted policy interventions and institutional support. Governments and development organizations can promote millet cultivation through incentives, subsidies, and capacitybuilding programs aimed at enhancing agronomic practices. Investing in research and extension services focused on millets can accelerate technological advancements and knowledge dissemination, empowering farmers to optimize yields and market access.

Global relevance

Millets possess significant potential to play a pivotal role in addressing pressing global food security challenges. In the face of intensifying climate change and dwindling water resources, millets emerge as a sustainable and resilient alternative to conventional grains. Their adaptability to diverse agro-ecological zones renders them capable of contributing to diversified and resilient food systems (Lokesh *et al*, 2022). Unlike water-intensive crops like rice and wheat, millets thrive with minimal water and inputs, making them well-suited for regions experiencing water scarcity or erratic rainfall patterns. By promoting the cultivation and consumption of millets, we can bolster food security and enhance the resilience of agricultural systems in the face of environmental uncertainties, ultimately paving the way towards a more sustainable and equitable food future.

Promoting millets: The way forward

Realizing the full potential of millets as a cornerstone of our future food systems demands coordinated efforts across multiple sectors (Ranjan & Jahan, 2023). From research and development to policy interventions and consumer awareness, a holistic approach is essential to unlock the transformative benefits of these ancient grains.

a) Research and development

Research and Development (R&D) initiatives play a pivotal role in enhancing millet cultivation and utilization. Key areas of focus include:

- 1. Varietal improvement: Investing in breeding programs to develop high-yielding millet varieties that are resilient to climate extremes, disease-resistant, and adaptable to diverse agro-ecological conditions. Improved varieties can boost productivity and ensure food security in regions vulnerable to environmental stress.
- 2. Nutritional enhancement: Exploring methods to enhance the nutritional quality of millets, particularly in terms of protein content, essential vitamins, and micronutrients. Biofortification efforts can address malnutrition and contribute to improved public health outcomes.
- Pest and disease management: Developing integrated pest management strategies to mitigate the impact of pests and diseases on millet crops. Sustainable pest control measures reduce reliance on chemical pesticides and promote ecological balance in agroecosystems.

b) Policy interventions

Effective policy interventions are instrumental in promoting millet production and consumption (Ranjan & Jahan, 2023). Governments and policymakers can implement the following measures:

1. Incentives and subsidies: Providing financial incentives, subsidies,

and tax breaks to farmers cultivating millets. This encourages adoption of millet-based cropping systems and enhances agricultural diversification.

- 2. Market linkages: Facilitating market linkages for millet farmers by establishing value chains, improving access to markets, and supporting infrastructure development for storage, processing, and distribution. Strengthening market connectivity ensures fair prices and market stability for millet producers.
- 3. Research funding: Allocating resources for millet-specific research and development programs. Collaborative efforts between public and private sectors can accelerate technological innovations and knowledge dissemination within the millet value chain.

c) Consumer awareness campaigns

Creating consumer awareness and demand for millets is essential to drive their adoption in mainstream diets. Consumer-focused strategies include:

- 1. Nutritional education: Educating consumers about the health benefits of millets through targeted campaigns, nutritional labeling, and dietary guidelines. Highlighting millets' role in preventing chronic diseases and promoting overall wellbeing can stimulate demand among health-conscious consumers.
- 2. Culinary promotion: Showcasing diverse culinary uses of millets through cooking demonstrations, recipe contests, and food festivals (Ranjan & Jahan, 2023). Collaborating with chefs, nutritionists, and food influencers can introduce millets as trendy and versatile ingredients in modern cuisine.
- 3. Partnerships and advocacy: Engaging with civil society organizations, community groups, and academia to advocate for millets as sustainable and nutritious food choices. Partnerships with food industry stakeholders can drive innovation in millet-based food products and facilitate market penetration.

Conclusion

In conclusion, millets represent a promising solution to the complex challenges facing our global food systems. By embracing millets as a staple food, we can promote health, sustainability, and resilience in agriculture. Millets are inherently nutritious, packed with essential nutrients and fiber, offering a healthier dietary alternative to heavily processed foods. Their low water and input requirements contribute to sustainable farming practices, reducing environmental impact and conserving vital resources. Furthermore, promoting millet cultivation supports livelihoods, especially for smallholder farmers in marginal and rain-fed areas, enhancing food security and economic resilience. Importantly, millets contribute to biodiversity conservation by diversifying agricultural landscapes and preserving traditional crop varieties. The future of food indeed lies in these ancient grains, offering a smart choice for a healthier planet and population, where agricultural practices are regenerative and food systems are equitable and sustainable.

References

- 1. Bora, P. (2013). *Nutritional properties of different millet types and their selected products* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Guelph).
- 2. Bora, P., Ragaee, S., & Marcone, M. (2019). Characterisation of several types of millets as functional food ingredients. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*, *70*(6), 714-724.
- 3. Dwivedi, N., Rathore, V., & Sharma, K. (2023). A review of millet crops for agricultural sustainability in India. *Asian Journal of Agricultural Extension, Economics & Sociology*, *41*(10), 216-224.
- 4. Lokesh, K., Dudhagara, C. R., Mahera, A. B., & Kumar, S. (2022). Millets: The future smart food. *The Pharma Innovation Journal*, *11*(4), 75-84.
- Medhekar, A. (2024). Economic Empowerment of Women, Millet Farming, and Sustainable Development. In *The Role of Women in Cultivating Sustainable Societies Through Millets* (pp. 230-250). IGI Global.
- Nithiyanantham, S., Kalaiselvi, P., Mahomoodally, M. F., Zengin, G., Abirami, A., & Srinivasan, G. (2019). Nutritional and functional roles of millets - A review. *Journal of food biochemistry*, 43(7), e12859.
- 7. Ranjan, A., & Jahan, N. (2023). Sustainable Agriculture and Millet Farming: A Comprehensive Study on Farmer Experiences. *Farm Chronicle–An Agriculture Newsletter*, 22.
- 8. Sarita, E. S., & Singh, E. (2016). Potential of millets: nutrients composition and health benefits. *Journal of Scientific and Innovative Research*, 5(2), 46-50.

Cultivating Sustainability: Organic Farming as an Alternative Paradigm

Authors

Dhrubika Bhakta

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Sayani Bhowmick

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 6

Cultivating Sustainability: Organic Farming as an Alternative Paradigm

Dhrubika Bhakta and Sayani Bhowmick

Abstract

Agriculture forms the backbone of India's economy, providing employment for over 70% of its population. However, the continued reliance on chemical fertilizers has led to environmental degradation, prompting a shift towards alternative farming methods like organic farming. Organic farming, a natural approach to agriculture, not only meets the food and nutrition needs of society but also preserves natural resources. By integrating organic inputs with high-yielding crop varieties and modern technologies, India has not only increased food production but also reduced environmental pollution, pesticide toxicity, and enhanced agricultural sustainability. Organic farming enriches soil quality, providing essential macronutrients and micronutrients to crops. Pest and disease management in organic farming prioritize preventive measures over curative treatments, employing environmentally friendly strategies. The focus remains on maintaining ecosystem health and developing crop varieties resistant to pests and diseases.

Introduction

In an era where concerns about food security, environmental sustainability, and human health are paramount, the agricultural sector stands at a crossroads. Traditional farming methods, heavily reliant on synthetic inputs and monoculture practices, have raised significant apprehensions regarding their long-term viability and impact on the ecosystem. In response, organic farming has emerged as a compelling alternative, offering a holistic approach that prioritizes environmental stewardship, biodiversity conservation, and human well-being.

The origins of organic farming can be traced back to the early 20th century, with pioneers like Sir Albert Howard and Lady Eve Balfour advocating for agricultural practices that worked in harmony with nature rather than against it. Howard's seminal work, "An Agricultural Testament," emphasized the importance of soil health and organic matter in sustaining productive farming systems. Balfour's establishment of the Soil Association in 1946 further solidified the foundation of the organic movement, promoting principles of crop rotation, composting, and natural pest management.

Over the decades, organic farming has garnered increasing attention from researchers, policymakers, and consumers alike. A growing body of scientific evidence has highlighted the multifaceted benefits of organic agriculture, ranging from soil fertility enhancement to reduced pesticide exposure and lower greenhouse gas emissions. For instance, a meta-analysis conducted by Seufert *et al.* (2012) found that organic farming systems consistently outperformed conventional systems in terms of soil organic matter content, water retention capacity, and overall soil quality.

Moreover, organic farming's emphasis on biodiversity conservation has significant implications for ecosystem resilience and climate change mitigation. By promoting diverse crop rotations, agroforestry practices, and habitat preservation, organic farms provide vital refuges for pollinators, beneficial insects, and native wildlife. This biodiversity-centric approach not only enhances ecosystem services such as pest control and soil fertility but also contributes to the conservation of endangered species and genetic diversity within agricultural landscapes (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2005).

In addition to environmental benefits, organic farming prioritizes the health and well-being of both farmers and consumers. By eschewing synthetic pesticides, herbicides, and genetically modified organisms (GMOs), organic agriculture offers a safer and more nutritious food supply. Numerous studies have documented lower levels of pesticide residues and higher concentrations of beneficial nutrients, such as antioxidants and polyphenols, in organically grown produce compared to conventionally grown counterparts (Baranski *et al.*, 2014; Smith-Spangler *et al.*, 2012).

Despite the compelling advantages of organic farming, its widespread adoption faces several challenges, including limited access to resources, technical knowledge, and market opportunities for small-scale farmers. Furthermore, the dominance of conventional agricultural paradigms and entrenched interests within the agro-industrial complex present formidable barriers to systemic change. Nevertheless, grassroots movements, supportive policies, and consumer demand for sustainably produced food are driving momentum towards a more organic future. In this manuscript, we explore the principles, practices, and potential of organic farming as an alternative paradigm for sustainable agriculture. Drawing upon interdisciplinary research and real-world case studies, we examine the ecological, economic, and social dimensions of organic agriculture and its implications for global food security and environmental conservation. By elucidating the transformative power of organic farming, we aim to inspire informed dialogue, policy innovation, and practical actions towards building a more resilient and equitable food system for generations to come.

Principles of organic farming

Organic farming is guided by a set of principles that prioritize environmental sustainability, soil health, biodiversity conservation, and the well-being of farmers and consumers. These principles, rooted in agroecological concepts and ethical considerations, underpin the practices and philosophy of organic agriculture.

Soil health and fertility: At the heart of organic farming lies a profound respect for soil as a living ecosystem. Organic farmers prioritize soil health through practices such as composting, cover cropping, and crop rotation, which enhance soil fertility, structure, and microbial diversity. By nurturing the soil as a dynamic biological system, organic agriculture fosters long-term productivity and resilience (Gomiero *et al.*, 2011).

Biodiversity conservation: Organic farming embraces biodiversity as a cornerstone of agricultural sustainability. By cultivating diverse crops, incorporating hedgerows, and preserving natural habitats, organic farmers create thriving ecosystems that support pollinators, beneficial insects, and wildlife. This biodiversity-centric approach enhances ecosystem services, promotes resilience to pests and diseases, and contributes to the conservation of genetic resources (Altieri, 1999).

Ecological balance: Organic farming seeks to emulate natural systems by fostering ecological balance and harmony. Rather than relying on synthetic chemicals to control pests and weeds, organic farmers employ integrated pest management (IPM) strategies, biological control agents, and cultural practices to minimize environmental impact and promote coexistence with natural enemies (Reganold & Wachter, 2016).

Non-Use of Synthetic Inputs: Central to organic farming is the avoidance of synthetic pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers, and genetically modified organisms (GMOs). By eschewing these inputs, organic agriculture reduces chemical residues in food, mitigates environmental pollution, and

safeguards human and ecological health. Instead, organic farmers harness natural processes and inputs, such as compost, green manures, and biological nitrogen fixation, to meet the nutritional needs of crops (Mäder *et al.*, 2002).

Animal welfare and livestock integration: In organic farming systems that include livestock, animal welfare is paramount. Organic standards mandate access to outdoor areas, pasture-based management, and humane treatment of animals. Livestock integration in organic farms contributes to nutrient cycling, soil fertility, and diversified farm income, while upholding ethical standards of animal care and husbandry (Hovi *et al.*, 2003).

Transparency and integrity: Organic farming emphasizes transparency, traceability, and integrity throughout the supply chain. Organic certification ensures compliance with established standards and enables consumers to make informed choices about the food they eat. By upholding principles of honesty, accountability, and social responsibility, organic agriculture fosters trust and credibility in the marketplace (IFOAM - Organics International).

These principles of organic farming represent a holistic approach to agriculture that prioritizes environmental stewardship, resilience, and sustainability. By embracing these guiding principles, organic farmers contribute to the transformation of food systems towards more equitable, regenerative, and resilient models of production and consumption.

Benefits of organic farming

Organic farming offers a multitude of benefits that extend beyond individual farms to encompass environmental conservation, human health, and social well-being. Grounded in principles of agroecology and sustainability, organic agriculture provides a pathway towards resilient and equitable food systems. Here, we explore the multifaceted advantages of organic farming supported by scientific evidence and real-world experiences.

Environmental sustainability: Organic farming promotes ecological balance, soil health, and biodiversity conservation. By eschewing synthetic pesticides and fertilizers, organic agriculture reduces chemical inputs, mitigates soil erosion, and preserves water quality (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). Furthermore, organic practices such as crop rotation, cover cropping, and agroforestry enhance carbon sequestration, contribute to climate change mitigation, and foster resilience to extreme weather events (Pimentel *et al.*, 2005).

Soil health and fertility: Organic farming prioritizes soil as a living ecosystem, fostering microbial diversity, nutrient cycling, and soil structure.

Studies have shown that organic systems exhibit higher levels of soil organic matter, microbial biomass, and beneficial soil enzymes compared to conventional counterparts (Mäder *et al.*, 2002). Healthy soils in organic farms support robust plant growth, improve water retention, and enhance nutrient availability, thereby sustaining agricultural productivity over the long term.

Biodiversity conservation: Organic farming serves as a refuge for biodiversity, providing habitat for pollinators, beneficial insects, and wildlife. Agroecological practices such as intercropping, hedgerow establishment, and habitat preservation create diverse landscapes that support a multitude of species (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2005). By promoting biodiversity within agricultural ecosystems, organic agriculture enhances ecosystem services such as pest control, pollination, and nutrient cycling, thereby bolstering resilience to environmental disturbances.

Human health and well-being: Organic farming offers a safer and more nutritious food supply by minimizing exposure to synthetic pesticides, herbicides, and genetically modified organisms (Smith-Spangler *et al.*, 2012). Meta-analyses have consistently found lower pesticide residues and higher levels of beneficial nutrients, such as antioxidants and polyphenols, in organically grown produce (Baranski *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, organic farming reduces the risk of pesticide-related health problems among farmers and rural communities, contributing to improved public health outcomes.

Climate change mitigation: Organic farming contributes to climate change mitigation through carbon sequestration, reduced greenhouse gas emissions, and energy conservation. Organic practices such as cover cropping, composting, and reduced tillage enhance soil carbon storage and reduce reliance on fossil fuel-intensive inputs (Pimentel *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, organic farms typically have lower energy requirements and carbon footprints compared to conventional operations, thereby mitigating the environmental impacts associated with agricultural production.

Resilient communities and food systems: Organic farming fosters resilient communities and food systems by promoting local economies, social equity, and cultural diversity. Small-scale organic farmers often engage in direct marketing, community-supported agriculture (CSA), and farmers' markets, strengthening connections between producers and consumers (Pretty *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, organic agriculture provides opportunities for rural livelihoods, empowers marginalized groups, and fosters food sovereignty, thereby enhancing food security and resilience in the face of economic shocks and global crises.

In summary, organic farming offers a comprehensive suite of benefits that address pressing challenges facing agriculture and society. By embracing ecological principles, ethical values, and innovative practices, organic agriculture demonstrates its potential to transform food systems towards greater sustainability, resilience, and equity.

Challenges of organic farming

While organic farming offers numerous benefits for environmental sustainability, human health, and community resilience, it also faces a range of challenges that impede its widespread adoption and scalability. These challenges stem from various factors, including economic constraints, technical limitations, and institutional barriers. In this section, we explore the key challenges confronting organic farming and discuss potential strategies for overcoming them.

Economic viability: One of the primary challenges facing organic farmers is the economic viability of organic production systems. Organic farming often entails higher labor costs, lower yields in the short term, and limited access to markets and resources compared to conventional agriculture (Lutz, 1998). Additionally, the certification process for organic production can be costly and time-consuming, especially for small-scale farmers with limited financial resources (Kesavan & Swaminathan, 2008). As a result, many farmers face challenges in achieving profitability and financial stability within organic farming systems.

Technical knowledge and skills: Transitioning to organic farming requires specialized knowledge and skills in agroecology, soil management, pest control, and organic certification requirements. However, access to technical assistance, training programs, and extension services may be limited in certain regions, particularly in developing countries (Halberg *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, conventional agricultural education and research often prioritize chemical-intensive farming methods, leaving organic farmers underserved in terms of relevant information and support (Hansen, 2017).

Pest and disease management: Organic farmers rely on integrated pest management (IPM) strategies, biological control agents, and cultural practices to manage pests and diseases without synthetic pesticides. However, effective pest and disease management can be challenging, especially in environments with high pest pressure or limited biological control options (Altieri & Nicholls, 2004). Additionally, climate change may exacerbate pest outbreaks and alter pest dynamics, further complicating organic pest management efforts (Bebber *et al.*, 2013). Research into

resilient agroecological practices, development of pest-resistant crop varieties, and promotion of biodiversity-based pest management approaches are crucial for addressing these challenges.

Policy support and institutional frameworks: The lack of supportive policies, incentives, and institutional frameworks presents a significant barrier to the widespread adoption of organic farming. Conventional agricultural subsidies often favor chemical-intensive farming practices and monoculture systems, while organic agriculture receives limited government support and recognition (IFOAM - Organics International). Furthermore, regulatory barriers, trade restrictions, and lack of political will may hinder the growth of organic agriculture at the national and international levels (Pretty *et al.*, 2011). Advocating for policy reforms, incentivizing organic production, and mainstreaming organic principles into agricultural policies are essential for creating an enabling environment for organic farming.

In conclusion, organic farming faces numerous challenges that require concerted efforts from policymakers, researchers, farmers, and consumers to address. By addressing economic, technical, market, pest management, and policy-related challenges, organic agriculture can realize its full potential as a sustainable and resilient alternative to conventional farming systems.

Techniques and practices of organic farming

Organic farming encompasses a diverse array of techniques and practices that prioritize environmental sustainability, soil health, biodiversity conservation, and human well-being. Rooted in agroecological principles and traditional knowledge systems, organic agriculture offers a holistic approach to farming that emphasizes natural processes, ecological balance, and resilience. In this section, we explore some of the key techniques and practices employed in organic farming, supported by scientific evidence and practical experience.

Crop rotation: Crop rotation is a fundamental practice in organic farming that involves alternating the types of crops grown in a particular field over time. This helps break pest and disease cycles, improve soil fertility, and enhance weed control (Liebman & Dyck, 1993). By rotating crops with different nutrient needs and growth habits, organic farmers can optimize resource use, reduce soil erosion, and minimize dependence on synthetic fertilizers and pesticides (Ryan *et al.*, 2008).

Cover cropping: Cover cropping involves planting non-cash crops, such as legumes or grasses, to cover and protect the soil during fallow periods or between cash crop rotations. Cover crops help prevent soil erosion, suppress weeds, improve soil structure, and enhance nutrient cycling

(Drinkwater *et al.*, 1998). Additionally, leguminous cover crops fix atmospheric nitrogen through symbiotic relationships with nitrogen-fixing bacteria, providing natural fertilizer for subsequent crops (Clark *et al.*, 1998). Integrating cover crops into organic farming systems promotes soil health, biodiversity, and agroecosystem resilience.

Composting and green manures: Composting and green manuring are valuable practices in organic farming for recycling organic matter, improving soil fertility, and enhancing microbial activity. Compost is made from decomposed organic materials such as crop residues, animal manure, and kitchen scraps, which are layered, aerated, and allowed to decompose over time (Magdoff & van Es, 2009). Green manures involve growing specific cover crops that are subsequently incorporated into the soil to add organic matter and nutrients (Drinkwater *et al.*, 1998). Both composting and green manuring contribute to soil health, nutrient cycling, and carbon sequestration, reducing the need for synthetic fertilizers and enhancing crop productivity.

Biological pest control: Organic farmers rely on biological pest control methods to manage insect pests, diseases, and weeds without synthetic pesticides. This includes promoting natural enemies of pests, such as predatory insects, parasitic wasps, and beneficial microorganisms, through habitat manipulation and conservation (Altieri, 1999). Additionally, cultural practices such as crop diversification, intercropping, and trap cropping can help disrupt pest lifecycles and reduce pest pressure (Gurr *et al.*, 2004). By fostering ecological balance and natural pest regulation, organic farming minimizes reliance on chemical inputs and supports biodiversity conservation.

Integrated weed management: Organic farmers employ a combination of mechanical, cultural, and biological weed control methods to manage weeds without herbicides. This includes hand weeding, hoeing, mulching, and flame weeding, as well as utilizing allelopathic crops and cover crops to suppress weed growth (Liebman & Dyck, 1993). By integrating diverse weed management tactics and strategies, organic farmers can effectively control weeds while promoting soil health, biodiversity, and crop productivity.

Livestock integration and manure management: Organic farming systems often integrate livestock with crop production to enhance nutrient cycling, soil fertility, and farm resilience. Livestock provide valuable inputs such as manure and bedding materials, which can be composted and applied

to fields as organic fertilizers (Hovi *et al.*, 200). Proper management of livestock waste and grazing practices is essential to prevent environmental contamination, minimize nutrient runoff, and ensure animal welfare (Larney & Hao, 2007). Integrating livestock into organic farming systems contributes to agricultural diversity, resource efficiency, and sustainable land use.

In conclusion, organic farming employs a range of techniques and practices that harness ecological processes, promote soil health, and enhance agroecosystem resilience. By integrating crop rotation, cover cropping, composting, biological pest control, and livestock management, organic farmers cultivate sustainable and regenerative agricultural systems that support environmental, social, and economic well-being.

Organic farming and sustainability

Organic farming stands as a beacon of sustainable agriculture, embodying principles that prioritize environmental health, soil vitality, biodiversity preservation, and human well-being. At its core, organic farming represents a profound shift in agricultural practices, emphasizing harmony with nature and the cultivation of resilient food systems. In this section, we explore the intricate relationship between organic farming and sustainability, drawing upon scientific research and empirical evidence to illuminate how organic agriculture offers a pathway to a more sustainable future.

Environmental harmony: Organic farming champions environmental stewardship by eschewing synthetic inputs and embracing ecological principles. By avoiding synthetic pesticides and fertilizers, organic farmers mitigate chemical pollution, soil degradation, and water contamination (Seufert *et al.*, 2012). Instead, organic practices such as crop rotation, cover cropping, and composting nurture soil health, enhance water retention, and promote carbon sequestration (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). By fostering ecological harmony and minimizing ecological footprint, organic farming supports the long-term health and resilience of agroecosystems.

Soil regeneration: Organic farming places a premium on soil health as the foundation of agricultural sustainability. Healthy soils teeming with microbial life, organic matter, and beneficial organisms are essential for nutrient cycling, water infiltration, and plant vigor (Mäder *et al.*, 2002). Through practices such as composting, green manuring, and minimal tillage, organic farmers regenerate soil fertility, structure, and biodiversity. By nurturing the soil as a living ecosystem, organic farming enhances agricultural productivity, resilience, and sustainability.

Biodiversity conservation: Organic farming serves as a refuge for biodiversity, creating diverse habitats and ecosystems within agricultural

landscapes. By promoting crop diversity, hedgerow establishment, and habitat preservation, organic farmers provide sanctuary for pollinators, beneficial insects, and wildlife (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2005). This biodiversity-centric approach enhances ecosystem services such as pest control, pollination, and nutrient cycling, thereby reducing reliance on external inputs and enhancing farm resilience (Altieri, 1999). Moreover, organic farming contributes to the conservation of genetic resources, endangered species, and indigenous knowledge systems, safeguarding the biological heritage of our planet.

Climate resilience: Organic farming plays a crucial role in climate resilience by reducing greenhouse gas emissions, sequestering carbon, and promoting climate-smart agricultural practices. Organic practices such as agroforestry, cover cropping, and reduced tillage enhance soil carbon storage and minimize fossil fuel use (Pimentel *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, organic farms typically have lower energy inputs and carbon footprints compared to conventional operations, owing to reduced reliance on synthetic inputs and mechanized equipment (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). By fostering agroecological resilience and climate adaptation, organic farming contributes to the global effort to mitigate climate change and build climate-resilient food systems.

Human health and well-being: Organic farming prioritizes human health and well-being by providing nutritious, wholesome food while minimizing exposure to toxic chemicals. Organic produce is free from synthetic pesticides, herbicides, and genetically modified organisms (GMOs), reducing the risk of pesticide residues and chemical contamination (Smith-Spangler *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, organic farming practices such as crop rotation and organic soil management enhance the nutritional quality of food, leading to higher levels of antioxidants, vitamins, and micronutrients (Baranski *et al.*, 2014). By fostering healthy ecosystems and food systems, organic farming supports human health, resilience, and vitality.

In summary, organic farming embodies principles of sustainability by promoting environmental harmony, soil regeneration, biodiversity conservation, climate resilience, and human well-being. By cultivating a deep connection to the land, embracing ecological principles, and fostering resilient agroecosystems, organic agriculture offers a viable pathway towards a more sustainable and regenerative food system for generations to come.

Future prospects of organic farming

Organic farming, with its emphasis on sustainability, environmental

stewardship, and holistic practices, holds immense promise for the future of agriculture. This section delves into the potential and future prospects of organic farming, envisioning a world where regenerative practices, ecological harmony, and social equity converge to shape a resilient and flourishing food system.

Scaling up organic agriculture: The future of organic farming hinges on its ability to scale up and integrate sustainable practices into mainstream agriculture. As consumer demand for organic products continues to grow, there is an opportunity to expand organic farming beyond niche markets and into broader agricultural landscapes (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). This necessitates increasing organic acreage, improving access to organic inputs, and fostering supportive policies and incentives for organic farmers (Seufert *et al.*, 2012). By scaling up organic agriculture, we can unlock its full potential to feed the world sustainably while safeguarding natural resources and enhancing ecosystem health.

Advancements in organic research and innovation: The future of organic farming relies on ongoing investment in research and innovation to enhance productivity, resilience, and sustainability. By harnessing cutting-edge scientific knowledge and technological advancements, organic farmers can optimize farming practices and adapt to changing environmental conditions (Pimentel *et al.*, 2005). Research areas such as organic soil management, precision agriculture, and agroecological approaches to pest management offer promising avenues for improving organic farming practices (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). Moreover, innovation in organic farming techniques, such as vertical farming and aquaponics, can further optimize resource use and minimize environmental impact (Mäder *et al.*, 2002). By fostering a culture of innovation and collaboration, we can propel organic farming into the forefront of sustainable agriculture.

Building resilient food systems: The future of organic farming is intertwined with building resilient food systems capable of withstanding environmental shocks and global challenges. As climate change accelerates and biodiversity declines, organic farming offers a pathway towards climate-resilient agriculture (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2005). By promoting biodiversity, enhancing soil health, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, organic farming contributes to the resilience of agroecosystems and communities (Altieri, 1999). Furthermore, organic farming fosters local food systems, short supply chains, and community resilience, reducing reliance on globalized food systems and enhancing food security (Smith-Spangler *et al.*,

2012). By building resilient food systems grounded in organic principles, we can ensure a sustainable and secure food future for all.

Promoting equity and social justice: The future of organic farming must prioritize equity, social justice, and inclusivity. As we envision a more sustainable food system, it is essential to address systemic inequities and disparities in access to land, resources, and opportunities (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). Organic farming offers avenues for empowering small-scale farmers, supporting rural livelihoods, and fostering community resilience (Altieri, 1999). By promoting fair trade practices, land reform, and farmer cooperatives, we can create a more equitable and just food system that benefits farmers, consumers, and communities alike.

In conclusion, the future prospects of organic farming are bright, offering a pathway towards a more sustainable, resilient, and equitable food system. By scaling up organic agriculture, investing in research and innovation, building resilient food systems, and promoting equity and social justice, we can harness the full potential of organic farming to nourish people and planet for generations to come.

Conclusion

In conclusion, organic farming stands as a beacon of hope in the quest for a sustainable and resilient food system. By prioritizing environmental health, soil fertility, biodiversity conservation, and human well-being, organic agriculture offers a holistic approach to food production that aligns with the principles of sustainability. Through practices such as eschewing synthetic inputs, nurturing soil health, fostering biodiversity, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, organic farming embodies a vision of agriculture that harmonizes with nature rather than exploits it.

As we look to the future, the prospects of organic farming are promising. Scaling up organic agriculture, investing in research and innovation, building resilient food systems, and promoting equity and social justice are key pathways to realizing the full potential of organic farming. By expanding organic acreage, harnessing technological advancements, fostering local food systems, and empowering farmers, we can create a more sustainable, resilient, and equitable food future for generations to come.

However, realizing the vision of organic farming requires collective action and commitment from all stakeholders – farmers, policymakers, researchers, consumers, and communities. It demands a shift in mindset, policies, and practices towards regenerative agriculture that prioritizes the health of the planet and its people. By embracing organic farming as an alternative way forward, we can cultivate a future where agriculture nourishes both people and planet, fostering a more harmonious relationship between humanity and the natural world.

In the journey towards a sustainable food system, organic farming serves as a guiding light, illuminating a path towards a future where agriculture thrives in harmony with nature, fostering resilience, equity, and abundance for all.

References

- Altieri, M.A. (1999) The Ecological Role of Biodiversity in Agroecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 74, 19-31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00028-6
- Altieri, M. A., & Nicholls, C. I. (2004). Biodiversity and pest management in agroecosystems. http://dx.doi.org/10.1201/9781482277937
- Barański, M., Srednicka-Tober, D., Volakakis, N., Seal, C., Sanderson, R., Stewart, G. B., Benbrook, C., Biavati, B., Markellou, E., Giotis, C., Gromadzka-Ostrowska, J., Rembiałkowska, E., Skwarło-Sońta, K., Tahvonen, R., Janovská, D., Niggli, U., Nicot, P., & Leifert, C. (2014). Higher antioxidant and lower cadmium concentrations and lower incidence of pesticide residues in organically grown crops: a systematic literature review and meta-analyses. The British journal of nutrition, 112(5), 794–811. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114514001366
- 4. Bebber, D. P., Ramotowski, M. A. T., & Gurr, S. J. (2013). Crop pests and pathogens move polewards in a warming world. Nature Climate Change, 3(11). http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1990
- Bengtsson, J., Ahnström, J., & Weibull, A. C. (2005). The effects of organic agriculture on biodiversity and abundance: a meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology, 42(2), 261–269. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01005.x
- Clark, Sean & Horwath, William & Shennan, Carol & Scow, Kate & Lanini, W.Thomas & Ferris, Howard. (1999). Nitrogen, weeds and water as yield-limiting factors in conventional, low-input, and organic tomato systems. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 73. 257-270. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00057-2
- 7. David Pimentel, Paul Hepperly, James Hanson, David Douds, Rita Seidel, Environmental, Energetic, and Economic Comparisons of

Organic and Conventional Farming Systems, BioScience, Volume 55, Issue 7, July 2005, Pages 573–582, https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0573:EEAECO]2.0.CO;2

- Drinkwater, Laurie & Wagoner, P. & Sarrantonio, Marianne. (1998). Drinkwater LE, Wagoner P, Sarrantonio M.. Legume-based cropping systems have reduced carbon and nitrogen losses. Nature 396: 262-265. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/24376
- Gomiero, T., Pimentel, D. and Paoletti, M.G. (2011) Environmental Impact of Different Agricultural Management Practices: Conventional vs. Organic Agriculture. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 30, 95-124.
- Gurr, G.M., Wratten, S.D. and Altieri, M.A. (2004) Ecological Engineering for Pest Management: Advances in Habitat Manipulation for Arthropods. Csiro Publishing, Clayton.
- Halberg, N. & Alrøe, Hugo & Knudsen, M.T. & Kristensen, E.S.. (2006). Global development of organic agriculture: Challenges and prospects.
- Hovi, M., Sundrum, A. and Thamsborg, S. M. (2003) Animal health and welfare in organic livestock production in Europe: Current state and future challenges. Livestock Production Science, 80 (1-2). pp. 41-53.
- IFOAM Organics International. (n.d.). Organic Principles. Retrieved from https://www.ifoam.bio/why-organic/shaping-agriculture/fourprinciples-organic
- 14. IFOAM Organics International. (n.d.). Why Organic? Retrieved from https://www.ifoam.bio/why-organic
- Kesavan PC, Swaminathan MS. Strategies and models for agricultural sustainability in developing Asian countries. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2008 Feb 27;363(1492):877-91. https://doi.org/10.1098%2Frstb.2007.2189
- Larney, F. J., & Hao, X. (2007). A review of composting as a management alternative for beef cattle feedlot manure in southern Alberta, Canada. Bioresource technology, 98(17), 3221–3227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.07.005
- Liebman, M., & Dyck, E. (1993). Crop Rotation and Intercropping Strategies for Weed Management. Ecological applications: a publication of the Ecological Society of America, 3(1), 92–122. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941795

- Lutz, E., Binswanger, H.P., Hazell, P.B., & Mccalla, A. (1998). Agriculture and the environment - perspectives on sustainable rural development.
- 19. Magdoff, F., & van Es, H. (2009). Building soils for better crops: sustainable soil management (3rd ed.). Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE).
- Mäder, P., Fliessbach, A., Dubois, D., Gunst, L., Fried, P., & Niggli, U. (2002). Soil fertility and biodiversity in organic farming. Science (New York, N.Y.), 296(5573), 1694–1697. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1071148
- Pretty, J., Morison, J.I., & Hine, R. (2003). Reducing food poverty by increasing agricultural sustainability in developing countries. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 95, 217-234.
- Pretty, Jules & Toulmin, Camilla & Williams, Stella. (2011). Sustainable intensification in African agriculture. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability. 9. 5-24. http://dx.doi.org/10.3763/ijas.2010.0583
- Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. Nature plants, 2, 15221. https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.221
- Ryan, Matthew & Smith, Richard & Mortensen, David & Teasdale, J & Curran, William & Seidel, R & Shumway, D. (2009). Weed–crop competition relationships differ between organic and conventional cropping systems. Weed Research. 49. 572 - 580. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.2009.00736.x
- Seufert, V., Ramankutty, N. & Foley, J. Comparing the yields of organic and conventional agriculture. Nature 485, 229–232 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11069
- Smith-Spangler, C., Brandeau, M. L., Hunter, G. E., Bavinger, J. C., Pearson, M., Eschbach, P. J., Sundaram, V., Liu, H., Schirmer, P., Stave, C., Olkin, I., & Bravata, D. M. (2012). Are organic foods safer or healthier than conventional alternatives?: a systematic review. Annals of internal medicine, 157(5), 348–366. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-157-5-201209040-00007

Chapter - 7

Burning Fields, Burning Future: Unraveling the Menace of Indiscriminate Crop Residue Burning

Authors

Emili Adak

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Sudip Sengupta

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 7

Burning Fields, Burning Future: Unraveling the Menace of Indiscriminate Crop Residue Burning

Emili Adak and Sudip Sengupta

Abstract

Indiscriminate crop residue burning has emerged as a critical environmental challenge, threatening agricultural sustainability and public health. This paper delves into the current scenario surrounding this practice, highlighting its widespread prevalence and alarming consequences. From air pollution to soil degradation, the impacts are far-reaching, affecting ecosystems and human well-being. The scenario analysis reveals a concerning trend of farmers resorting to crop residue burning due to economic constraints, lack of viable alternatives, and traditional agricultural practices. The resulting air pollution poses severe health risks, exacerbating respiratory ailments and contributing to the global burden of disease. Additionally, soil fertility takes a hit, as essential nutrients are lost in the combustion process, impacting long-term agricultural productivity. To tackle this issue, effective management strategies are imperative. The paper explores innovative and sustainable alternatives to crop residue burning, such as adopting modern machinery for residue management, promoting bioenergy production, and incentivizing farmers to embrace eco-friendly practices. Government policies, community engagement, and technological interventions play pivotal roles in steering agriculture towards a more sustainable future. This comprehensive examination aims to raise awareness about the multifaceted challenges associated with indiscriminate crop residue burning while providing actionable insights for policymakers, farmers, and stakeholders. It advocates for a paradigm shift towards responsible agricultural practices to safeguard both the environment and human health.

Keywords: Residue burning, global warming, environmental pollution, sustainability.

Introduction

Crop residues (CRs) represent the remnants of plants left in fields post-

harvest (Singh, 2018). Burning this biomass contributes significantly to air pollution alongside industrial and vehicular emissions (Gurjar *et al.*, 2016). These residues encompass materials remaining after field harvest (field crop residue) such as stalks and stubble for cereals, and processed residue like husks or hulls for cereals and bagasse for sugarcane (Shahane and Shivay, 2016). Despite its adverse effects on air quality and human health, in-situ crop residue burning is practiced globally, including in India (Lohan *et al.*, 2018).

This burning releases various pollutants, including greenhouse gases (GHGs), impacting atmospheric chemistry locally, regionally, and globally. While developed countries have banned this practice, it persists in developing nations due to inadequate residue management, justified by reasons like field preparation, weed removal, and disease control. The extent of residue burning varies regionally, with emissions including particulate matter (PM₁₀, PM_{2.5}), carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO₂), sulfur dioxide (SO₂), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), ammonia (NH₃), methane (CH₄), elemental carbon (EC), organic carbon (OC), volatile organic compounds (VOCs), and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Jain *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2011).

Burning impacts cloud microphysics, radiation balance, and atmospheric chemistry, affecting biogeochemical cycles and climate. Prolonged residue burning, lasting over three weeks annually, blankets the Indo-Gangetic plain, exacerbating respiratory ailments (Kumar *et al.*, 2019). This practice, a major air quality reducer, necessitates alternative solutions, such as conservation agriculture-based technologies, which efficiently utilize CRs (Ravindra *et al.*, 2019). Wide-scale efforts should identify competing uses of CRs and suggest management options.

Status of crop residue burning in the world and India

Data on the burning of crop residue from 1960 to 2016 were collected from FAOSTAT. Presently, approximately 381 million tonnes of dry matter are burned globally, with maize contributing around half (49.3%), totalling around 188 million tonnes, followed by wheat and rice with nearly equal shares of around 23%. Analysis of trends indicates a notable increase in dry matter burned from maize, rice, and sugarcane, except for wheat, which has remained relatively stagnant over the past few decades (FAO, 2018).

In India, the current annual burning of crop residues is approximately 49.14 million tonnes, with rice contributing the largest share (48%), while wheat, maize, and sugarcane contribute 24%, 21%, and 7%, respectively.

The rate of crop residue burning is on the rise, with maize, rice, sugarcane, and wheat witnessing annual increments of 0.071, 0.91, 0.34, and 0.123 million tonnes, respectively (Kumar *et al.*, 2019). In 2016, India accounted for approximately 12.89% of the total crop residue burned globally, with shares of around 5.43%, 26.89%, 18.49%, and 13.73% for maize, rice, sugarcane, and wheat, respectively. India holds the highest share globally in paddy straw burning, at approximately 26.89% of the total rice residue burned.

Uttar Pradesh (59.97 million tonnes), Punjab (50.75 million tonnes), and Maharashtra (46.45 million tonnes) are the major Indian states generating crop residues, contributing approximately 12%, 10%, and 9.3% to the total crop residue generation in the country, respectively (MNRE, 2009). However, in states like Punjab and Haryana, where crop residue burning poses a significant environmental challenge, a surplus of 50% and 40% of the total production is generated, respectively. According to IARI estimates (2012), around 80% of this surplus is burned annually. Consequently, crop residue burning is particularly prevalent in Northwest (NW) India, encompassing parts of Punjab, Haryana, and western Uttar Pradesh, where the rice-wheat system predominates. A recent estimate by NAAS (2017) for NW India suggests that around 68% of the total production of rice residue, amounting to 33.9 million tonnes, is burned annually across an area of 5.2 million hectares.

Reasons for the growing concern of the crop residue and stubble burning

The traditional agricultural model in Asia, characterized by a symbiotic relationship between humans, draught animals, and food crops, exemplified a sustainable ecosystem. According to Prasad and Shivay (2018), humans and draught animals collaborated in cultivating food crops, with humans harvesting the protein, starch, and fat-rich grains, while animals consumed the low-protein, cellulose-rich straw or stalks. However, the advent of mechanization in agriculture has disrupted this balance. With the exclusion of draught animals from agricultural systems, there has been an excess of straw and stalks, leading to the widespread menace of burning rice straw (Yadav *et al.*, 2017).

The cultivation of rice during the kharif season delays wheat sowing beyond the optimal window, exposing wheat to high-temperature stress during grain development. Heat stress, particularly during the terminal stage, is a significant factor limiting wheat yield in India (Spiertz *et al.*, 2006).

Even a brief temperature rise for three days during any stage of wheat growth can have detrimental effects on yield. The delay in wheat sowing is primarily due to factors such as field preparation after rice harvest, uncertain rainfall, and traditional harvesting methods (Kumar *et al.*, 2019).

The increasing use of combine harvesters is another factor contributing to paddy straw burning (IARI, 2012). Analysis of NASA map imageries indicates that stubble burning was not prevalent before 2000 but has escalated since. This increase coincides with the rising number of combine harvesters, which nearly tripled from 2001 to 2013. The surge in combine harvester usage is attributed to factors such as labor shortages, high wages during harvest season, and the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of mechanized harvesting compared to manual labor (Gupta, 2012).

Managing the scattered paddy stalks is labor-intensive and costly due to labor shortages (Kaur, 2017). Additionally, available options for straw management, such as selling to industries or biomass production, are perceived financially unviable by farmers due to high collection and transportation costs. Inconsistent demand and unpredictable prices for straw further discourage farmers from exploring alternative management options (Kumar *et al.*, 2019). Soil incorporation and composting, though viable options, are less attractive due to labor intensity, time consumption, and lack of necessary machinery like happy seeders and rotavators (Sidhu *et al.*, 2007).

This creates a paradox in Indian states where surplus crop residues and greens coexist with declining demand for paddy and wheat straw as fodder, primarily due to a decrease in livestock population over the past three decades (Kumar *et al.*, 2015).

Environmental concern of crop residue burning

Burning of crop residues generates numerous environmental problems. The main adverse effects of stubble burning include the emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs) that contributes to the global warming, increased levels of particulate matter (PM) and smog that cause health hazards, loss of biodiversity of agricultural lands, and the deterioration of soil fertility (Lohan *et al.*, 2018). Crop residue burning significantly increases the quantity of air pollutants such as CO₂, CO, NH₃, NO_X, SO_X, Non-methane hydrocarbon (NMHC), volatile organic compounds (VOCs), semi volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) and PM (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). This basically accounts for the loss of organic carbon, nitrogen, and other nutrients. Jain *et al.*, (2014) reported that burning of 98.4 Mt of crop residue has resulted in

emission of nearly 8.57 Mt of CO, 141.15 Mt of CO₂, 0.037 Mt of SO_x, 0.23 Mt of NO_x, 0.12 Mt of NH₃ and 1.46 Mt NMVOC, 0.65 Mt of NMHC, 1.21 Mt of PM during 2008–2009, where CO₂ is 91.6% of the total emissions. Remaining 8.43% consisted of 66% CO, 2.2% NO, 5% NMHC and 11% NMVOC. Burning of farm yield residue increases ozone concentrations in the lower atmosphere (Kumar *et al.*, 2015).

Particulate matter (PM) emitted from burning of crop residues in Delhi is 17 times that from all other sources such as vehicle emissions, garbage burning and industries. Stubble burning in the northwest part of India contributes to about 20% of organic carbon and elemental carbon towards the overall national budget of emission from agricultural waste burning (Lohan et al., 2018). PM in the air is categorized as PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀ based on the aerodynamic diameter and chemical composition (PM2.5 or fine, particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter <2.5 µm and PM₁₀ or coarse, particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter <10 µm). Lightweight particulate matter can stay suspended in the air for a longer time and can travel a longer distance with the wind (Jain et al., 2014). The effect of particulate matter gets worsened by the weather conditions, as the particles are lightweight, stay in air for a longer time and causes smog. The WHO standard for permissible levels of $PM_{2.5}$ in the air is 10 μ g/m³, and according to the India's National Ambient Air Quality Standard, the permissible level for $PM_{2.5}$ is set at 40 µg/m³. However, the National Capital territory of Delhi recorded a mean value of 98 μ g/m³, which is at least twice more than the Indian standard and ten times higher than the WHO standard (Zehra, 2017).

Impact of crop residue burning on soil health:

Stubble burning has been shown to raise soil temperatures significantly, impacting soil ecology profoundly (Gupta *et al.*, 2004). Elevated soil temperatures ranging from 33.8 to 42.2°C at a depth of 1 centimeter result in the removal of nitrogen in various forms from the soil, with approximately 23-73% being lost. Additionally, the beneficial microbial population experiences a decline up to a depth of 2.5 centimeters. The combustion of residue leads to rapid alterations in the carbon-nitrogen equilibrium within the upper 3 inches of soil, causing carbon emissions in the form of CO₂ and nitrogen conversion to nitrate. This process results in the loss of approximately 824 thousand metric tonnes of nitrogen, potassium, and phosphorous nutrients from the soil (Gupta *et al.*, 2004). Singh *et al.* (2018) further note that significant quantities of carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and sulfur present in various crop residues are released into the atmosphere as harmful gaseous forms and particulate matter, contributing to air pollution.

Furthermore, the burning of crop residues has been observed to increase soil pH and soluble salts while decreasing the levels of water and fat-soluble compounds and humic acids. There is also evidence of a slight reduction in phosphorus and potassium content in the soil due to stubble burning. Moreover, this practice negatively impacts soil structure and granulation by destroying organic matter remnants and decreasing soil bulk density and porosity. This reduction in organic matter adversely affects plant and microbial growth, as it diminishes air conditioning and soil gas exchange. Additionally, the decreased adhesion between soil particles leads to the formation of large clumps during tillage operations, increasing soil compaction and tillage requirements (Hesammi *et al.*, 2014).

The heat generated from burning residues not only elevates soil temperatures but also leads to the mortality of bacterial and fungal populations (Hesammi *et al.*, 2014). Repeated burning in fields results in a permanent reduction of microbial populations by 40 to 50 percent, accompanied by decreases in enzyme activity involved in the mineral element cycle. While burning initially increases the content of exchangeable NH_4^+ -N and bicarbonate-extractable P, there is no subsequent buildup of nutrients in the soil profile. Over the long term, burning diminishes the total nitrogen and carbon content, as well as potentially mineralized nitrogen, particularly in the 0-15 cm soil layer.

Adverse consequences of crop residue burning on human health

Crop residue burning causes off-site health hazard impacts, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (COPD), pneumoconiosis, pulmonary tuberculosis, coughing, emphysema, asthma, bronchitis, eye irritation, corneal opacity, and skin diseases. The inhalation of small particles can also intensify persistent cardiac and pulmonary ailments, and furthermore, is related to the premature deaths in people who are already suffering from these illnesses. Annually, 3.3 million people die prematurely due to air pollution worldwide. If emissions continue to rise, this number will double by 2050. According to the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), it is estimated that in Delhi NCR alone, approximately 20,000 premature deaths occur annually due to air pollution, and this amount may increase to 32,000 by 2025 and 52,000 by 2050. It is further calculated that India and China will top the world in premature deaths due to air pollution by 2060 (OECD, 2016).

Detrimental compounds such as polyhalogenated organic compounds, viz. polychlorinated dibenzodioxins, peroxyaceyl nitrate, polyaromatic

hydrocarbons, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polychlorinated dibenzofurans, a family of organic compounds commonly called "furans," are all classes of chemicals emitted by open burning of farm residue. These atmospheric pollutants may have noxious or toxic properties and some are teratogenic, mutagenic, or suspects as carcinogenic in nature. Burning of crop straw and stubble has severe negative impacts on health. Pregnant women and infants are most prone to dangerous consequences and respiratory inhalation of suspended PM of very small size (PM_{2.5}) prompts asthma and can even worsen symptoms of bronchial attack (Gadde *et al.*, 2009).

Managing the crux of the problem through alternative usage

Evaluation of crop residue management strategies should encompass considerations of feasibility, financial requirements, productivity, profitability, regional acceptability, environmental impact, and sustainability, aiming to resolve the significant problem posed by the indiscriminate burning of crop residues.

Incorporation of crop residues in soil

Incorporating crop residues into the soil presents a viable solution, with in-situ incorporation facilitating the accelerated decomposition of combined harvested residues and the subsequent enrichment of soil nutrients. This approach has been documented to positively impact various soil health parameters, including pH, organic carbon content, infiltration rate, and water holding capacity (Kumar *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, it enhances hydraulic conductivity, cation exchange capacity (CEC), and reduces soil bulk density by influencing soil structure, aggregate stability, surface crust formation, and water evaporation, while also mitigating nutrient leaching. Furthermore, residue incorporation promotes microbial biomass and augments the activities of vital soil enzymes such as dehydrogenase and alkaline phosphatase (Peter *et al.*, 2014).

Zero-till seeding along with crop residue management and retention

Implementing zero-till seeding in conjunction with crop residue management and retention represents a further advancement in addressing this challenge. Building upon previous research on rice straw incorporation, scientists at Punjab Agricultural University (PAU) have developed an improved solution in the form of the second iteration of the 9-row Happy Seeder. This innovation effectively cuts rice stubbles left post-combine harvesting and deposits them in front of the sowing tynes, which engage the bare soil, subsequently laying down the cut stubbles behind the seed drill as mulch. On-farm trials conducted on farmers' fields have demonstrated the efficacy of the Happy Seeder, yielding 9–11% higher wheat yields compared to direct drilling following straw burning (Sidhu *et al.*, 2007).

Crop residue as mulch

The utilization of crop residue as mulch represents a sustainable and efficient approach to soil management in agriculture. As the remnants of harvested crops, such as stalks, leaves, and stems, crop residues offer a valuable resource that can be repurposed to benefit future cultivation. When applied as mulch, these organic materials form a protective layer over the soil surface, shielding it from erosion caused by wind and water while also suppressing weed growth. Furthermore, crop residue mulch plays a crucial role in regulating soil temperature and moisture levels, providing insulation against extreme weather conditions and reducing water evaporation from the soil. Over time, as the crop residues decompose, they enrich the soil with essential nutrients, contributing to its fertility and overall health (Singh and Sidhu, 2014; Bhattacharyya and Barman, 2018).

Crop Residue for compost preparation

The organic food market in India is experiencing substantial growth, expanding at a rate of 25–30% annually. According to the Economic Times (2015), this market, valued at US\$ 0.36 billion in 2014, is projected to reach US\$ 1.3 billion by 2020. This surge in demand for organic food has led to a corresponding rise in organic farming practices, with a particular emphasis on the production of farm compost and vermicompost. Rice straw presents a viable option for composting, with various technologies utilizing cellulolytic organisms and finely ground phosphate rock available (Shukla *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, rice straw serves as a suitable substrate for vermicompost production (Shak *et al.*, 2014). It is imperative that smallholder farmers in the NWRWCS belt capitalize on this opportunity by engaging in compost and vermicompost production for both personal use and commercial sale.

Crop Residue and its use in mushroom cultivation

The utilization of crop residue in mushroom cultivation has been extensively documented. In India, rice straw has been recognized as a suitable substrate for culturing paddy straw mushroom (*Volvariella volvacea*), as evidenced by studies conducted by Ahlawat and Tewari (2000) and Thiribhuvanamala *et al.* (2012). Similarly, in China and other Asian countries, rice straw has been utilized for cultivating Oyster mushrooms (*Pleurotus ostreatus* or *P. sajor-caju*), as reported by Yang *et al.* (2013).

Crop Residue and its use as biogas

Furthermore, crop residue, particularly rice residue, has historical significance in the generation of biogas when combined with animal excreta, particularly in rice-growing tropical regions. Despite a recent decline in its use and efficiency, this technology offers several benefits, including the enrichment of soil with plant nutrients. Singh and Sidhu (2014) suggest that the application of biogas slurry as an organic amendment in rice paddies can result in reduced methane emissions compared to the addition of fresh organic manure. With the current challenges posed by escalating fuel prices and concerns about climate change and environmental degradation, there is potential for resurgence in the utilization of biogas from crop residue in the future.

Crop residue as fodder materials

The utilization of crop residue as fodder embodies a sustainable and resource-efficient approach to livestock management and agricultural waste management. Across pastoral landscapes, farmers harness the residual biomass left after harvest, be it from cereal crops like wheat and rice or legumes such as soybeans, to supplement animal diets during lean periods or as a strategic feed supplement. This practice not only reduces the burden on natural pastures but also maximizes the economic value of agricultural byproducts. Crop residues, such as straw, stalks, and husks, undergo various processing methods, including chopping, shredding, or ensiling, to enhance digestibility and palatability for livestock consumption. Rich in fiber, these residues provide essential roughage for ruminant animals, aiding in digestion and promoting overall health. Moreover, by integrating crop residues into livestock diets, farmers mitigate the need for supplementary feed imports, thereby bolstering resilience against fluctuations in feed prices and availability. In essence, the use of crop residue as fodder exemplifies a harmonious synergy between agriculture and animal husbandry, fostering sustainable land use practices and enhancing the efficiency and profitability of integrated farming systems (Poddar 2017).

Crop Residue and its use as bio-oil

Wheat straw and rice hull-shave been and is being used for the creation of Bio-oil. But, the possibility of this technology with paddy straw needs to be evaluated. Bio-oil is a high-density liquid produced from agricultural biomass through quick pyrolysis technology. Bio-oil can be stored, pumped and transported like petroleum-based product (Kaliramana *et al.*, 2019).

Crop Residue and its use as alternative energy source

Bio-oil, a dense liquid derived from agricultural biomass through rapid pyrolysis, presents itself as a viable alternative to petroleum-based products. Its characteristics allow for storage, pumping, and transportation akin to conventional fuels. Moreover, rice straw possesses significant potential as an alternative energy source, with the capacity to produce approximately 205 billion liters of bioethanol annually, representing around 5% of global consumption (Belal, 2013). Analyses by Roberto *et al.* (2003) reveal the composition of rice straw, comprising 51–74% carbohydrates (including cellulose, hemicelluloses, and glucose), 5–24% lignin, and approximately 18.8% ashes, making it a promising feedstock for bioenergy production. As research in this field progresses, exploring the utilization of crop residues for bio-oil and bioethanol production offers significant potential for sustainable energy generation and agricultural waste management.

Crop Residue and its use as biochar

Environmentalists have proposed the utilization of surplus biomass to produce biochar, a high-carbon fine-grained residue derived from the pyrolysis process, which involves thermal decomposition of biomass in an oxygen-deprived environment to prevent combustion (Purakayastha *et al.*, 2019). Pyrolysis yields various products: biochar is produced at temperatures ranging from 400°C to 500°C, while bio-oil or bio-fuel and syngas are generated at temperatures exceeding 700°C. Incorporating biochar into soil enhances its physical and chemical properties, ultimately resulting in increased productivity (Jeffery *et al.*, 2011).

Crop residue management and soil health

Crop residue management plays a crucial role in maintaining soil health, particularly in intensive cropping systems like the Rice-Wheat system. Rice and wheat are both nutrient-intensive crops, leading to significant nutrient depletion in the soil over time. The removal of nutrients by these crops through harvesting exceeds the amount replenished by fertilizers and organic matter recycling. However, managing crop residues effectively can mitigate these challenges and improve soil physical, biological, and chemical properties (Singh *et al.*, 2008).

In terms of soil physical health, crop residue management influences soil moisture content, aggregate formation, bulk density, and soil porosity. Retaining crop residues on the soil surface or incorporating them into the soil can reduce bulk density and soil compaction (Bellakki *et al.*, 1998). For instance, incorporating rice straw at a rate of 16 t/ha annually for three years

significantly decreased bulk density in the topsoil layer, thereby improving soil structure and infiltration rates. Moreover, residue retention on the soil surface helps prevent surface sealing by raindrop impact, thereby enhancing infiltration and water holding capacity (Singh *et al.*, 2010).

Regarding soil biological health, the availability of nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulfur is closely linked to soil microbial biomass and activity, which are influenced by the presence of organic substrates like crop residues. Soil treated with crop residues harbors significantly higher populations of aerobic bacteria and fungi compared to burnt or removed residues (Beri *et al.*, 1992). Additionally, crop residues enhance nitrogen fixation by soil bacteria and increase the activity of soil enzymes responsible for nutrient cycling (Bisen and Rahangdale, 2017).

In terms of soil chemical health, crop residues play a vital role in nutrient cycling and soil fertility. Long-term incorporation of crop residues can increase soil organic matter levels, nitrogen reserves, and the availability of macro- and micronutrients. Studies have shown that incorporating crop residues into the soil enhances the availability of phosphorus, reduces phosphorus sorption, and increases micronutrient (e.g., zinc, iron) availability for crops (Gupta *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2005).

Future initiatives of crop residue management

Governmental initiatives aimed at mitigating crop burning and regulating crop waste management require collaboration from appropriate government agencies. In India, several efforts have been made by the government to introduce and educate the agricultural community about best practices in agricultural waste management through government-initiated projects. Additionally, environmentalists and government officials have proposed various forums and measures to curb crop residue burning and promote the adoption of alternative sustainable management methods. Relevant laws pertaining to crop residue burning include Section 144 of the Civil Procedure Code (CPC), the Air Prevention and Control of Pollution Act, 1981, the Environment Protection Act, 1986, the National Tribunal Act, 1995, and the National Environment Appellate Authority Act, 1997. Particularly in states such as Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh, Haryana, and Punjab, the National Green Tribunal (NGT) has implemented stringent measures to limit crop residue burning (Lohan et al., 2018; Kumar et al., 2019; Bhuvaneshwari et al., 2019).

Looking ahead, various stakeholders, including the National Academy of Agricultural Sciences (NAAS), the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR), state and central agricultural universities, and other organizations, can play crucial roles in implementing strategies to reduce or minimize CRs burning. These strategies include organizing interactive gatherings among agriculture officers, industry representatives, and experts; developing and disseminating educational materials showcasing the harmful impacts of CRs burning and the benefits of CRs; providing farmer training events and technical support; developing new crop varieties and microbial consortia to improve decomposition rates; designing long-term experiments to study the impact of CRs burning on soil health, carbon sequestration, greenhouse gas emissions, and ecosystem stability; promoting biomassbased power projects; providing subsidies for agricultural implements; and encouraging alternative uses of CRs such as biomass fuel pellets and paper production. Furthermore, offering attractive incentives to farmers to discourage the practice of CRs burning and addressing their underlying problems related to waste management is crucial for sustainable agricultural practices.

Conclusion

In conclusion, there persists an outdated belief among Indian farmers that burning crop straw enhances soil fertility, necessitating training programs to dispel this misconception and highlight the harmful effects of straw burning on soil and the environment. With India projected to become one of the most populous countries by 2050, ensuring food security remains a paramount challenge. Therefore, effective agricultural practices must be addressed at local, national, and international levels to tackle food, water, and energy issues related to climate change and natural resource degradation. Crop residues (CRs) possess significant economic value as livestock feed, biofuel, raw materials for industries, and aids in agriculture conservation. Thus, utilizing CRs, either partially or entirely, for agriculture conservation is crucial for the country's food security, agriculture, and environmental Collaboration among stakeholders such sustainability. as farmers, researchers, policymakers, and consumers is essential to understand and harness CRs as a valuable resource for Indian agriculture's sustainability and resilience. Moreover, research efforts should prioritize studying belowground soil microbial biomass patterns and their relationship to CRs burning to enhance our understanding of soil nutrient status and microbial diversity in agricultural ecosystems.

References

1. Ahlawat, O. P. & Tewari, R. P. (2000). Cultivation Technology of Paddy

Straw Mushroom (*Volvariella volvacea*). National Research Centre for Mushroom (ICAR), Solan, p36.

- Belal, E. B. (2013). Bioethanol production from rice straw residues. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 44(1): 225-234.
- Bellakki, M. A., Badanur, V. P. & Setty, R. A. (1998). Effect of longterm integrated nutrient management on some important properties of a *Vertisol. Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 46(2): 176-180.
- Beri, V., Sidhu, B. S., Bhat, A. K. & Singh, B. P. (1992). Nutrient balance and soil properties as affected by management of crop residues. In: Proceedings of the international symposium on nutrient management for sustained productivity. Department of Soils, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India. (Ed: Bajwa, M. S). II:133-135.
- 5. Bhattacharyya, P. & Barman, D. (2018). Crop residue management and greenhouse gases emissions in tropical rice lands. *In Soil Management and Climate Change*, (pp. 323-335). Academic Press.
- Bhuvaneshwari, S., Hettiarachchi, H. & Meegoda, J. N. (2019). Crop residue burning in India: Policy challenges and potential solutions. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(5): 832.
- Bisen, N. & Rahangdale, C. P. (2017). Crop residues management option for sustainable soil health in rice-wheat system: A review. *International Journal of Chemical Studies*, 5(4): 1038-1042.
- 8. FAO. (2018). Burning-crop residues. Food and Agriculture Organization. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/?#data/GB
- Gadde, B., Menke, C. & Wassmann, R. (2009). Rice straw as a renewable energy source in India, Thailand, and the Philippines: Overall potential and limitations for energy contribution and greenhouse gas mitigation. *Biomass Bioenergy*, 33(11): 1532-1546.
- Gupta, P. K., Sahai, S., Singh, N., Dixit, C. K., Singh, D. P., Sharma, C., Tiwari, M. K., Gupta, R. K. & Garg, S. C. (2004). Residue burning in rice-wheat cropping system: Causes and implications. *Current Science*, pp.1713-1717.
- 11. Gupta, R. (2012). *Causes of emissions from agricultural residue burning in north-west India: evaluation of a technology policy response*. The South Asian Network for Development and Environmental Economics (SANDEE).

- Gupta, R. K., Ladha, J. K., Singh, J., Singh, G. & Pathak, H. (2007). Yield and phosphorus transformations in a rice–wheat system with crop residue and phosphorus management. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 71(5): 1500-1507.
- Gurjar, B. R., Ravindra, K., & Nagpure, A. S. (2016). Air pollution trends over Indian megacities and their local-to-global implications. *Atmospheric Environment*, 142, 475-495.
- Hesammi, E., Talebi, A. B. & Hesammi, A. (2014). A review on the burning of crop residue on the soil properties. WALIA Journal, 30: 192-194.
- 15. IARI. (2012). Crop residues management with conservation agriculture: Potential, constraints and policy needs (pp. vii + 32). New Delhi: Indian Agricultural Research Institute.
- Jain, N., Bhatia, A. & Pathak, H. (2014). Emission of Air Pollutants from Crop Residue Burning in India. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 14: 422-430.
- Jeffery, S., Verheijien, F. G. A., Van der Velle, M. & Bastos, A. C. (2011). A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on the crop productivity using meta-analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 144: 175-87.
- Kaliramana, R. S., Sangwan, A. & Sihag, P. (2019). Burning of Crop Residues Harmful Effects in Soil Ecosystem and Potential Solutions, Effective Management of Paddy Residue/Wheat Stubble. *Chief Editor Dr. R.K. Naresh*, 99.
- 19. Kaur, A. (2017). Crop residue in Punjab agriculture-status and constraints. *Journal of Krishi Vigyan*, 5(2): 22-26.
- Kumar, P., Kumar, S. & Joshi, L. (2015). Socioeconomic and environmental implications of agricultural residue burning. Barakhamba, NewDelhi: Springer. https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2013.01.0031.
- Kumar, S., Sharma, D. K., Singh, D. R., Biswas, H., Praveen, K. V. & Sharma, V. (2019). Estimating loss of ecosystem services due to paddy straw burning in North-west India. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 17(2): 146-157.
- 22. Lohan, S.K., Jat, H. S., Yadav, A. K., Sidhu, H. S., Jat, M. L., Choudhary, M., Jyotsna Kiran, P. & Sharma, P.C. (2018). Burning issues

of paddy residue management in north-west states of India. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81: 693-706.

- NAAS. (2017). Innovative viable solution to rice residue burning in rice-wheat cropping system through concurrent use of super straw management system-fitted combines and turbo happy seeder (Policy Brief No. 2, p. 16). New Delhi: National Academy of Agricultural Sciences.
- 24. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2016). *A report on the economic consequences of air pollution*. Paris, France: Author.
- 25. Peter, J. K., Masih, H., Kumar, Y., Singh, A. K., & Chaturvedi, S. (2014). Organophosphate pesticide (Methyl Parathion) degrading bacteria isolated from rhizospheric soil of selected plants and optimization of growth conditions for degradation. *International Journal of Research*, 5: 1-13.
- Poddar, S. (2017). Cows die of fodder shortage silicosis in Bharatpur. Hindustan Times, 16 July, 2017.
- 27. Prasad, R., & Shivay, Y. S. (2018). Management options to alleviate the menace of rice (Oryza sativa) straw burning–An overview. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 88(11): 3-12.
- Purakayastha, T.J., Bera, T., Bhaduri, D., Sarkar, B., Mandal, S., Wade, P., Kumari, S., Biswas, S., Menon, M., Pathak, H. and Tsang, D.C. (2019). A review on biochar modulated soil condition improvements and nutrient dynamics concerning crop yields: Pathways to climate change mitigation and global food security. *Chemosphere*, 227, 345-365
- Ravindra, K., Singh, T. & Mor, S. (2019). Emissions of air pollutants from primary crop residue burning in India and their mitigation strategies for cleaner emissions. *Journal of cleaner production*, 208: 261-273.
- Roberto, I. C., Mussatto, S. I. & Rodrigues, R. C. (2003). Dilute-acid hydrolysis for optimization of xylose recovery from rice straw in a semipilot reactor. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 17(3): 171-176.
- 31. Shahane, A. A. & Shivay, Y. S. (2016). Cereal Residues-Not a Waste Until We Waste it: A Review. *International Journal of Bio-resource and Stress Management*, 7(1): 162-173.
- 32. Shak, K. P., Wu, T. Y., Lim, S. L. & Lee, C. A. (2014). Suitable re-use of

rice residues as feedstock in vermicomposting for organic fertilizer production. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 21(2): 1349-59.

- 33. Shukla, L., Lande, S. D., Mishra, I. M., Suman, A., Annapurna, K. & Sharma, V. (2016). Rural composting for improvement of soil health and sustainable agriculture. *Agricultural Research and Technology Open Access Journal*, ARTOAJ.MS.ID.555572.
- Sidhu, H. S., Humphreys, E., Dhillon, S. S., Blackwell, J. & Bector, V. (2007). The Happy Seeder enables direct drilling of wheat into rice stubble. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 47(7): 844-854.
- 35. Singh, B., Shan, Y. H., Johnson-Beebout, S. E. & Buresh, R. J. (2008). Crop residue management for lowland rice-based cropping systems in Asia. Advances in agronomy, 98: 117-199.
- 36. Singh, J. S. (2018). Crop residues management in sustainability. *Climate Change*, 4(16): 653-660.
- Singh, J., Singhal, N., Singhal, S., Sharma, M., Agarwal, S. & Arora, S. (2018). Environmental implications of rice and wheat stubble burning in north-western states of India. In *Advances in health and environment safety* (pp. 47-55). Springer, Singapore.
- Singh, K. K., Singh, K., Singh, R. S., Singh, R. & Chandel, R. S. (2005). Silica Nutrition in Rice- A review. *Agricultural Reviews*, 26(3): 223-8.
- Singh, S.K., Kumar, D. & Lal, S. S. (2010). Integrated use of crop residues and fertilizers for sustainability of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) based cropping systems in Bihar. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*, 5(3): 203-208.
- Singh, Y. & Sidhu, H. S. (2014). Management of cereal crop residues for sustainable rice-wheat production system in the Indo-Gangetic plains of India. *Proceedings of the Indian National Science Academy*, 80(1): 95-114.
- Spiertz, J. H. J., Hamer, R. J., Xu, H., Primo-Martin, C., Don, C. & Van Der Putten, P. E. L. (2006). Heat stress in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.): Effects on grain growth and quality traits. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 25(2): 89-95.
- 42. Thirbhuvanamala, G., Krishnamoorthy, S., Manoranjithan, K., Praksasm, V. & Krishna, S. (2012). Improved technique to enhance the

yield of paddy straw mushroom (*Volvariella volvacea*) for commercial cultivation. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(64): 12740-8.

- 43. Yadav, G. S., Datta, R., Imran Pathan, S., Lal, R., Meena, R. S., Babu, S., Das, A., Bhowmik, S. N., Datta, M., Saha, P. & Mishra, P. K., (2017). Effects of conservation tillage and nutrient management practices on soil fertility and productivity of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.)- Rice system in north eastern region of India. *Sustainability*, 9(10), p.1816
- 44. Yang, W., Guo, F. & Wan, Z. (2013). Yield and size of Oyster mushroom grown on rice/wheat straw basal substratesupplemented with cotton and seed hull. *Saudi Journal of Biological Science*, 20(4): 33-38.
- Zehra, R. (2017). How clean is the air around you? Available online: https://fit.thequint.com/health-news/clean-your-air-as-per-whostandards-2. (Accessed on 10th June 2018).
- 46. Zhang, H., Hu, D., Chen, J., Ye, X., Wang, S. X., Hao, J., Wang, L., Zhang, R. & Zhi, A. (2011). Particle Size Distribution and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons emissions from Agricultural Crop Residue Burning. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45: 5477-5482.

Tissue Culture Techniques to Increase Secondary Metabolite Production in Plants

Authors

Milan Ghosh

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Suprabuddha Kundu

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tissue Culture Techniques to Increase Secondary Metabolite Production in Plants

Milan Ghosh and Suprabuddha Kundu

Abstract

Plant cell and tissue cultures can be established routinely under sterile conditions from explants, such as plant leaves, stems, roots, meristems etc for both the ways for multiplication and extraction of secondary metabolites. Strain improvement, methods for the selection of high-producing cell lines, and medium optimizations can lead to an enhancement in secondary metabolite production. However, most often trials with plant cell cultures fail to produce the desired products. In such cases, strategies to improve the production of secondary metabolites must be considered. Organ cultures and in vitro biomass production often have sites of synthesis and storage of secondary metabolites in separate compartments. Elicitors, compounds triggering the formation of secondary metabolites, can be abiotic or biotic. Natural elicitors include polysaccharides such as pectin and chitosan, which are also used in the immobilization and permeabilization of plant cells. Immobilization with suitable bioreactor system provides several advantages, such as continuous process operation, but for the development of an immobilized plant cell culture process, natural or artifically induced secretion of the accumulated product into the surrounding medium is necessary. The present review highlights the nature, applications, perspective and scale up methods for the production of valuable secondary metabolites in vitro.

Keywords: Plant Tissue Culture, bioreactor, medicinal plants, secondary metabolites.

Introduction

Secondary metabolites are those substances which do not help in plant's growth but play a significant role in plant–plant, plant–environment interaction or defensive role (Hussain *et al.* 2012). Secondary metabolites are used as pharmaceuticals, flavor, fragrance, food additives (Balandrin and

Klocke 1988). They have various role such as protection of plants against herbivores and microbes, attracting chemicals for allelopathic agents (chemicals that influence competition among plant species), pollinators and seed-dispersing animals (Rodney et al. 2000). As pharmaceutical industries are highly dependent on medicinal plants and their extraction so many medicinal plants are in danger condition. Due to their complex structure, it is not easy to synthesize these organic compounds chemically and through conventional methods. Therefore, various tissue culture method for production of plants secondary metabolites is the sustainable way to achieve the market demand. Besides this, this technique gives an alternative solution to the difficulties faced by the phytopharmaceutical industries in particular for mass propagation, germplasm conservation, study and production of biologically active compounds and for improvement of genetics (Mulabagal and Tsay 2004). In vitro regenerated plants provide uniform, sterile and compatible plant material which are used in biochemical characterization and to distinguish the bioactive compounds. The extracted compounds from tissue cultures are easily purified due to uncomplicated extraction processes and absence of remarkable quantities of pigments, which probably decrease the production and processing costs. Because of these importance advances, research in this area has revealed beyond expectations (DiCosmo and Misawa 1985).

Enhancement of the secondary metabolites through plant cell culture

It is self-sufficient and independent method on geographical or seasonal variation and accomplished by modification of different growth parameters. In 1960, the idea of plant cell, tissue and organ cultures for increasing the production of SMs was firstly introduced. Plant cell cultures produce SMs in different amounts and qualities with respect to mother plants and these qualities may change with time (Tepe and Sokmen 2007). In plant cell culture, cells are isolated from whole plant and cultured in suitable conditions. The desirable product is drawn out from the cells which is cultivated. The advancements in plant tissue culture techniques provide excellent way to increase the secondary metabolites production (Chattopadhyay *et al.* 2002).

Suspension culture

Cell suspension culture systems are instant method for industrial application and high production of SMs than tissue and organ culture. This method is an ultimate source for the production of natural products (Chattopadhyay *et al.* 2002; Vanisree *et al.* 2004). In suspension cultures,

required metabolites are increased, but after some time, the synthesizing capacity decreases due to not availability of sufficient nutrition or genetic dissimilarities. So, selection and preservation of high yielding cell line is very important for suspension culture (Chattopadhyay et al. 2002). Initially, calli are generated in appropriate suitable medium from selected mother plant for cultivation. This appropriate medium is helpful for dedifferentiation and differentiation mechanisms. However, this task is very critical to perform, but it could be done by other way like incomplete factorial experiments or surface response methods (Hamburger and Hostettmann 1991). These generated calli are subcultured either for propagation or to induced organogenesis, embryogenesis and suspension culture (Barrales et al. 2019). Friable part of callus is transferred for the development of suspension culture into liquid medium which is maintained under appropriate environments of light, temperature, agitation, aeration and other physiological parameters. Different procedures are used to develop fairly homogeneous suspension culture. It is observed that cells in suspension cultures are highly dependent on medium combinations, callus quality and genetic variation, etc. (Chattopadhyay et al. 2002).

Elicitation

A substance which improves the biosynthesis of specific compound is called elicitor. Elicitation is generally one of the effective methods than traditional approaches. It is used in very small concentrations to a living cell system which either induces or improves the biosynthesis of SMs (Radman et al. 2003). By applying chemical or physical stresses, increasing those secondary metabolites production that are normally not formed in that plants. Now, elicitation is done with biotic elicitors (chitosan, various protein extracts, sterilized mycelium of pathogenic fungi) and abiotic factors (heavy metal salts, high and low temperature, pH, UV light) etc. Researchers are working with various types of elicitors for the improvement of SMs production in *in vitro* system (Sudha and Ravishankar 2003; Karuppusamy 2009). Two elicitors, chitosan and yeast are used to examine the effects on 2hydroxy-4-methoxybenzaldehyde (2H4MB), total phenolic content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) and antioxidant activity in cell suspension culture of Decalepis salicifolia. Chitosan was found most effective to the veast extract at 200 µM CH and 72 h of the incubation period. It increases the1.4-fold 2H4MB in relative to control, i.e., 10.8 µg/g. Maximum content of TPC and TFC was also found, i.e., 4.8 mg/g and 4.0 mg/g, respectively (Ahmad et al. 2019). Positive response is found of Aspergillus niger, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Agrobac terium rhizogenes, Bacillus subtilis and *Escherichia coli* extracts in the gymnemic acid production, a SM obtained from *Gymnema sylvestre*. Gymnemic acid accumulation was in the order of *A. niger, S. cerevisiae, A. rhizogenes, B. subtilis* and *E. coli* (Chodisetti *et al.* 2013). Scientists are used other elicitors in various concentrations like methyl jasmonate 50 μ M, yeast extract 0.5 mg/l and chitosan 100 mg/l for stimulation of plumbagin production in *Drosera burmanii*. The result showed that yeast extract was the most effective to increase the plumbagin production in roots that was 3.5-fold higher than control plants. At the same way, highest concentration in shoot and root is found by methyl jasmonate and chitosan (Putalun *et al.* 2010).

Hairy root culture

Hairy root culture is another important way in the field of plant tissue culture to increase the SMs production. This is produced by transforming required plant species such as Agrobacterium rhizogenes, natural vector system (Giri and Narasu 2000; Bourgaud et al. 2001). In plant tissue culture, hairy root culture gives the greatest benefit for biosynthetic capacity of SMs production compared to their mother plants (Kim et al. 2002a, b; Hao et al. 2020). In this method plant's growth is improved without applying growth hormones in culture media. It is also proved in experiment that hairy root culture increase the production of that SM which are not present in mother plant (Veersham 2004). Many reports which denote that hairy root cultures have been established in a number of dicotyledonous and monocotyledonous for producing SMs (Mukundan et al. 1997; Doran 2002; Rudrappa et al. 2005). Even hairy root cultures can accumulate the specific SM which accumulate in the exposed part of the plant (Wallaart et al. 1999). Furthermore, transformed roots can enable whole viable plants and sustain their genomic stability through continue subculturing and plant regeneration. A transgenic root system has unbelievable possibility for integrating supplementary genes along with the Ri plasmid into the host plant cells. For studying the biological qualities, properties and gene expression profile of metabolic pathways, hairy root culture is a valuable method (Hu and Du 2006).

Shoot culture

Shoot culture is also an important method in tissue culture for the SMs production. It is done through infecting the aerial parts of the plants with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* which lead to the formation of transgenic shoot (shooty teratomas) (Massot *et al.* 2000) or by the use of sufficient hormonal concentration which lead to the formation of non-transgenic shoot (Saito *et*

al. 1985). It is proved by the researchers that shoot cultures show nearly similar properties to hairy root cultures in production of SMs, genetic stability and relationship between growth and SMs production (Bhadra et al. 1998; Massot et al. 2000). Some differences are also observed in metabolites synthesis due to enzymes which locate in roots or shoots (Subroto et al. 1996). The shooty teratomas are formed by integration of A. tumefaciens Ti plasmid into the plant genome or transformation of the plant's genetic materials with Agrobacterium tumefaciens nopaline. It is not known what mechanism is responsible for formation of shooty teratomas, large number of plant species show the shooty teratomas formation (Hamill and Rhodes 1993). There are some limited number of reports available related to growth, regeneration and application of shooty teratomas. Mainly shooty teratomas are applied in bio transformation. Saito et al. (1985) used shooty teratom as for nicotine biotransformation in Nicotiana tabacum. To prove the existence of substantial amount of terpenes of mint oil, Shooty teratomas were produced in Mentha citrate (Spencer et al. 1990). It is observed that Atropa belladonna, N. tabacum and Solarium tuberosum synthesized tropane, nicotine and steroidal alkaloids, respectively, in shooty teratomas (Saito et al. 1991). A poisonous alkaloid chemical compound in shooty teratomas of Solanum eleagnifolium, Solasodine was reported by (Alvarez et al. 1994).

Callus culture in secondary metabolite production

Plant growth regulators are one of the most important factors affecting metabolite formation. The critical determinants of controlling callus growth and metabolite production is the appropriate concentration of the medium. It is important to establish the optimal culture conditions (chemical and physical environments) for the particular plant species to produce secondary metabolites from medicinal plants. Oxidative stress has a major role in the production of secondary metabolites in plants. Phenolic compounds are synthesized in plants through the phenylpropanoid pathway. The function of defence mechanism reacts to various biotic and abiotic stress conditions. To increase the secondary metabolite production in callus suspension cultures, was deeply analysed in well organic way in *Bletilla striata* (Pan *et al.* 2020).

Conclusion

Due to the limited supply of SMs in medicinal plants, it can be overcome by using metabolic engineering and biotechnological processes. Advances in these techniques, particularly plant cell, tissue and organ cultures, provide valuable method for the producing medicinally important SMs. In cell cultures, suspension culture and elicitation are important method to increase the SMs production. Hairy root culture is another method for enhancement of SMs production by using *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*. In some cases, hairy root cultures are more valuable than cell cultures for the commercial production of SMs. The other advantage of these techniques is that they are not dependent of various geographical, seasonal and environmental conditions. Biotransformation helps in discovering and modifying the chemical structures of compound to show pharmacological activities. The use of genetic engineering offers the production of commercially valuable secondary metabolites. Many molecular biology techniques which are used in tissue cultures, help to increase SM production by effecting the expression and regulation of biosynthetic pathways. Due to knowledge and regulation of SM pathway in commercially valuable plants, *in vitro* strategies are mostly used in recent years. In future, these methods will provide successful production of desired, important, valuable and also unknown compounds.

References

- Ahmad Z, Shahzad A, Sharma S (2019) Chitosan versus yeast extract driven elicitation for enhanced production of fragrant compound 2hydroxy 4-methoxybenzaldehyde (2H4MB) in root tuber derived callus of *Decalepis salicifolia* (Bedd. ex Hook. f.) Venter. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 136:29–40
- Alvarez MA, Rodrfguez Talou J, Paniego NB, Giulietti AM (1994) Solasodine production in transformed organ cultures (roots and shoots) of *Solanum eleagnifolium* Cav. Biotechnol Lett 16:393–396
- Balandrin MF, Klocke JA (1988) Medicinal, aromatic, and industrial materials from plants. In: Medicinal and aromatic plants. Springer, Berlin, pp 3–36
- Baque MA, Moh SH, Lee EJ, Zhong JJ, Paek KY (2012) Production of biomass and useful compounds from adventitious roots of high-value added medicinal plants using bioreactor. Biotechnol Adv 30:1255–1267
- Barrales HJ, Reyes CR, Garcia IV, Valdez LGL, De Jesus AG, Ruiz JAC, Montoya JM (2019) Alkaloids of Pharmacological Importance in Catharanthus roseus. In: Alkaloids-their importance in nature and human life. Intech Open
- 6. Bhadra R, Morgan JA, Shanks JV (1998) Transient studies of lightadapted cultures of hairy roots of Catharanthus roseus: growth and indole alkaloid accumulation. Biotechnol Bioeng 60:670–678

- 7. Bourgaud F, Gravot A, Milesi S, Gontier E (2001) Production of plant secondary metabolites: a historical perspective. Plant Sci 161:839–851
- Chattopadhyay S, Farkya S, Srivastava AK, Bisaria VS (2002) Bioprocess consid erations for production of secondary metabolites by plant cell suspension cultures. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 7:138
- Chodisetti B, Rao K, Gandi S, Giri A (2013) Improved gymnemic acid produc tion in the suspension cultures of *Gymnema sylvestre* through biotic elicitation. Plant Biotechnol Rep 7:519–525
- DiCosmo F, Misawa M (1985) Eliciting secondary metabolism in plant cell cultures. Trends Biotechnol 3:318–322
- 11. Doran PM (2002) Properties and applications of hairy root cultures. In: Plant biotechnology and transgenic plants. CRC Press, pp 134–151
- Fazili, M.A., Bashir, I., Ahmad, M., Yaqoob, U. and Geelani, S.N., 2022. *In vitro* strategies for the enhancement of secondary metabolite production in plants: A review. *Bulletin of the National Research Centre*, 46(1), pp.1-12.
- 13. Giri A, Narasu ML (2000) Transgenic hairy roots: recent trends and applications. Biotechnol Adv 18:1–22
- 14. Hamburger M, Hostettmann K (1991) Bioactivity in plants: the link between phytochemistry and medicine. Phytochemistry 30:3864–3874
- Hamill JD, Rhodes MJC (1993) Manipulating secondary metabolism in culture. In: Biosynthesis and manipulation of plant products. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 178–209
- 16. Hao X, Pu Z, Cao G, You D, Zhou Y, Deng C, Shi M, Nile SH, Wang Y, Zhou W, Kai G (2020) Tanshinone and salvianolic acid biosynthesis are regulated by SmMYB98 in Salvia miltiorrhiza hairy roots. J Adv Res 23:1–12
- 17. Hu ZB, Du M (2006) Hairy roots and its application in plant genetic engineer ing. J Integr Plant Biol 48:121–127
- Hussain MS, Fareed S, Saba Ansari M, Rahman A, Ahmad IZ, Saeed M (2012) Current approaches toward production of secondary plant metabolites. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 4:10
- Karuppusamy S (2009) A review on trends in production of secondary metabolites from higher plants by *in vitro* tissue, organ and cell cultures. J Med Plants Res 3:1222–1239

- 20. Kim Y, Wyslouzil BE, Weathers PJ (2002a) Secondary metabolism of hairy root cultures in bioreactors. *In vitro* Cell Dev Biol Plant 38:1–10
- Kim YJ, Weathers PJ, Wyslouzil BE (2002b) Growth of Artemisia annua hairy roots in liquid-and gas-phase reactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 80:454– 464
- 22. Massot B, Milesi S, Gontier E, Bourgaud F, Guckert A (2000) Optimized culture conditions for the production of furanocoumarins by micropropagated shoots of Ruta graveolens. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 62:11–19
- 23. Mukundan U, Dawda HG, Ratnaparkhi S (1997) Hairy root culture and sec ondary metabolite production: *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* mediated transformed root cultures (No. 2). Agro Botanica
- 24. Mulabagal V, Tsay HS (2004) Plant cell cultures-an alternative and efficient source for the production of biologically important secondary metabolites. Int J Appl Sci Eng 2:29–48
- 25. Murthy HN, Hahn EJ, Paek KY (2008) Adventitious root and secondary metabolism. Chin J Biotechnol 24:711–716
- 26. Pan Y, Li L, Xiao S, Chen Z, Sarsaiya S, Zhang S, Guan YS, Liu H, Xu D (2020) Cal lus growth kinetics and accumulation of secondary metabolites of Bletilla striata Rchb.f. using a callus suspension culture. PLoS ONE 10:1–14
- 27. Putalun W, Udomsin O, Yusakul G, Juengwatanatrakul T, Sakamoto S, Tanaka H (2010) Enhanced plumbagin production from *in vitro* cultures *of Drosera burmanii* using elicitation. Biotech Lett 32:721–724
- 28. Radman R, Saez T, Bucke C, Keshavarz T (2003) Elicitation of plants and micro bial cell systems. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 37:91–102
- 29. Rodney C, Toni M, Kutchan N, Lewis G (2000) Natural products. In: Buchanan B, Gruissem Jones WR (eds) Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants, pp 1253–348
- Rudrappa T, Neelwarne B, Kumar V, Lakshmanan V, Venkataramareddy SR, Aswathanarayana RG (2005) Peroxidase production from hairy root cultures of red beet (Beta vulgaris). Electron J Biotechnol 8:66–78
- Saito K, Murakoshi I, Inze D, Montagu M (1985) Biotransformation of nicotine alkaloids by tobacco shooty teratomas induced by a Ti plasmid mutant. Plant Cell Rep 7:607–610

- Saito K, Yamazaki M, Kawaguchi A, Murakoshi I (1991) Metabolism of solanaceous alkaloids in transgenic plant teratomas integrated with genetically engineered genes. Tetrahedron 47:5955–5968
- Spencer A, Hamill JD, Rhodes MJ (1990) Production of terpenes by differentiated shoot cultures of Mentha citrata transformed with Agrobacterium tumefaciens T37. Plant Cell Rep 8:601–604
- 34. Subroto MA, Kwok KH, Hamill JD, Doran PM (1996) Coculture of genetically transformed roots and shoots for synthesis, translocation, and biotrans formation of secondary metabolites. Biotechnol Bioeng 49:481–494
- 35. Sudha G, Ravishankar GA (2003) Elicitation of anthocyanin production in callus cultures of *Daucus carota* and involvement of calcium channel modula tors. Curr Sci 84:775–779
- Tepe B, Sokmen A (2007) Production and optimisation of rosmarinic acid by *Satureja hortensis* L. callus cultures. Nat Prod Res 21:1133– 1144
- 37. Vanisree M, Chen YL, Shu-Fung L, Satish MN, Chien YL, HsinSheng T (2004) Studies on the production of some important secondary metabolites from medicinal plants by plant tissue cultures. Bott Bull Acad Sin 45:1–22
- Veersham C (2004) Medicinal plant biotechnology. CBS Pub, New Delhi, pp 377–419
- 39. Verpoorte R, Contin A, Memelink J (2002) Biotechnology for the production of plant secondary metabolites. Phytochem Rev 1:13–25
- Wallaart TE, Pras N, Quax WJ (1999) Isolation and identification of dihydroarte misinic acid hydro peroxide from Artemisia annua: a novel biosynthetic precursor of artemisinin. J Nat Prod 62:1160–1162

Advancing Plant Breeding Through TILLING: Uncovering Genetic Diversity for Sustainable Agriculture

Authors

Khusboo Kumari

Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Avishek Chatterjee

Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Advancing Plant Breeding Through TILLING: Uncovering Genetic Diversity for Sustainable Agriculture

Khusboo Kumari and Avishek Chatterjee

Abstract

TILLING (Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes) is a versatile reverse-genetic technique employed to identify induced point mutations within genes of interest. This method enables the rapid and cost-effective detection of allelic series of mutations in populations subjected to chemical mutagenesis. While initially applied to model organisms, TILLING has found widespread use in economically significant plant species. The simplicity, sensitivity, and efficiency of TILLING make it an invaluable tool for gene discovery, DNA polymorphism assessment, and plant enhancement efforts. When combined with other genomic resources, such as EcoTILLING, this technique becomes particularly powerful for haplotyping in plant breeding. It facilitates the identification of allelic variations associated with phenotypic traits and the establishment of allelic series at genetic loci, thereby aiding in the selection of desirable traits in germplasm or induced mutants. High-throughput TILLING offers a rapid means of screening mutant populations, allowing researchers to pinpoint specific genetic variations underlying desired traits. This approach not only accelerates the breeding process but also enhances our understanding of gene function and regulation in plants. In summary, TILLING represents a valuable tool in the toolbox of plant geneticists and breeders, offering a streamlined approach to uncovering genetic diversity and facilitating crop improvement efforts for sustainable agriculture. In this review we discussed different uses and challenges of TILLING in crop improvement.

Keywords: TILLING, EcoTILLING, Mutant, Haplotyping

Introduction

The heritability of phenotypic differences, crucial for crop improvement, stems from variations in nucleotide sequences, which can arise naturally or be induced through mutagen treatment. One prominent method harnessing induced mutations for crop enhancement is TILLING (Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes) (McCallum et al., 2000). TILLING is a nontransgenic reverse genetic technique applicable to most plants, wherein mutations are induced using chemical mutagens. Over decades, this approach has successfully created allelic series of mutations, including missense and truncation mutations, by generating random point mutations at high density. An extension of TILLING, known as EcoTIILING, broadens its applicability to discover natural point mutations or polymorphisms in plant populations (Greene et al., 2003). These techniques enable the identification of diverse gene variants in germplasm, offering insights into gene function and guiding strategies for genetic crop improvement. TILLING relies on induced mutations induced by chemical treatments, while EcoTIILING leverages naturally occurring mutations. Both methods employ advanced technologies to identify and utilize desirable gene variants. Furthermore, they facilitate the identification of unknown and known point mutations in candidate genes, providing functional validation for natural and induced variations. By enabling the early detection of gene function loss, these reverse genetics techniques offer valuable insights for crop improvement. This review explores the application of TILLING and EcoTIILING in crop enhancement, highlighting their significance in accelerating genetic improvement efforts (Comai et al., 2004)

History of TILLING

TILLING, first developed in 2000 using the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana, has since been successfully adapted and applied across various animal and plant species, regardless of genome size, reproductive system, generation time, or ploidy level (Gilchrist et al., 2005). This technique identifies induced mutations in mutagenized populations, while its modified form, Eco TILLING, detects naturally occurring single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), particularly in landraces and wild accessions. Eco TILLING extends its utility to genetic mapping, breeding, genotyping, and provides valuable insights into gene structure, linkage disequilibrium, population structure, and adaptation. TILLING offers additional benefits beyond polymorphism identification, notably by leveraging mutagenesis, a conventional improvement technique employed by breeders for decades (Ahloowalia et al., 2004). By screening for mutations in defined genes controlling desired traits, TILLING optimizes the exploitation of genetic variation without the need for introgression of mutant alleles into existing high-yielding varieties, thus avoiding the problem of linkage drag and the introduction of agriculturally undesirable traits (Slade et al., 2005). This innovative approach revolutionizes crop improvement strategies, offering a more targeted and efficient means of enhancing elite germplasm for improved agricultural outcomes (Alonso *et al.*, 2006).

TILLING Procedure

The TILLING (Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes) procedure, pioneered by McCallum and colleagues in the late 1990s, revolutionized crop improvement strategies (Borevitz et al., 2003). Initially developed in Arabidopsis thaliana, this technique aimed at elucidating gene functions, particularly focusing on the CMT2 gene. By collecting DNA from chemically mutagenized plants, they created heteroduplexes, amplifying the regions of interest. Identification of mutants was accomplished through chromatographic changes detected via denaturing high-performance liquid chromatography (dHPLC). The schematic representation of the TILLING procedure, as depicted in Figure 1, delineated the intricate steps involved. Subsequent advancements in the methodology, notably the introduction of a version utilizing a mismatch-specific celery nuclease (CEL I) enzyme coupled with LI-COR gel analysis, markedly improved efficiency and reduced costs (Alonso & Ecker, 2006). Standardization efforts in 2001, coupled with the development of pragmatic software, further streamlined the TILLING process, rendering it more routine and reliable. Since its inception, TILLING has undergone mechanization and has found widespread application across various plant taxa. Its primary objective, employing a reverse genetic high-throughput approach, is the identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or indel sequences within genes of interest (Colbert, 2001). The procedure encompasses four major steps, each crucial in its contribution to the overall success of targeted mutagenesis and subsequent genetic analysis.

1. Selection of proper mutagen

Selecting the appropriate mutagen is a critical initial step in the TILLING process. For most plant species, which are self-fertilized and amenable to long-term seed storage, physical or chemical mutagens can be employed to induce genetic alterations. Ethyl methane-sulfonate (EMS) emerges as the optimal choice for triggering point mutations, particularly single nucleotide alterations or small insertions/deletions of less than 30 nucleotides (Greene *et al.*, 2003). EMS has been widely utilized in plant-based TILLING projects due to its high predictability, particularly in inducing G:C > A:T transition mutations. This predictability is especially pronounced in species like Arabidopsis thaliana and Triticum aestivum,

where such transitions constitute nearly 99 percent of induced mutations. Consequently, EMS stands as the mutagen of choice for TILLING endeavors aimed at pinpointing precise genetic variations within target genes (Slade *et al.*, 2005).

2. Development of a mutagenized population

Developing a mutagenized population in crops typically involves immersing seeds in a dilute solution of chemical mutagen for 10-24 hours, followed by cultivation to obtain the M1 population (Colbert et al., 2001). Subsequently, the M1 plants are allowed to self-fertilize, generating the M2 generation. Mutational screening is conducted using DNA isolated from M2 plants, with only one M2 plant per M1 utilized to minimize the mixing of similar mutations. The resulting M3 seeds, derived from selfing among the M2 progenies, are stored for long-term maintenance. The multicellular structure of the mutagenized embryo leads to distinct genotypes in various tissues of the adult plant (referred to as "M1") (Henikoff & Comai, 2003). Somatic mutations in M1 plants differ from germinal mutations, rendering them unsuitable for TILLING screens. However, M1 plants, being heterozygous, are well-suited for TILLING screens, with a single ear potentially producing hundreds of distinct lines. Pollen mutagenesis offers advantages such as requiring less research field area and potentially being less vulnerable to chemical mutagens due to the dormant state of pollen.

3. DNA isolation, pooling and analysis

Following DNA extraction from leaf samples of the mutagenized population, the concentration of DNA is normalized to ensure uniformity across samples, thereby minimizing sampling bias. Standardized samples are then pooled together, with the choice of pooling influenced by factors such ploidy level, heterozygosity, and the number of nucleotide as polymorphisms. Typically, up to eight distinct samples are combined into a single DNA pool for diploid species. The pooled DNA is loaded into 96-well microtiter plates, where targeted forward and reverse primers, tagged with IRD700 and IRD800 dyes respectively, facilitate fluorescence detection at 700 nm and 800 nm during PCR. The PCR products are subjected to denaturation and annealing to form heteroduplexes and homoduplexes, with the endonuclease enzyme CEL I employed to recognize and cleave heteroduplex gaps. Denaturing PAGE, coupled with LI-COR 4300 DNA analysis, discerns enzymatically digested DNA pieces, revealing a mix of homo- and heteroduplexes in pools with induced mutations. Analysis involves comparing full-length PCR findings with chopped fragments, with the size of the fragments determined using a size standard. The location of mutations is then inferred and validated through sequencing. Tools such as CODDLE and PARSESNP aid in the analysis of gene function and the identification of polymorphisms within genes, contributing to the comprehensive understanding of induced mutant populations (Henikoff & Comai, 2003; McCallum *et al.*, 2000).

4. Mutation discovery

Mutation discovery in TILLING involves employing various techniques such as array-based mutation detection, mass spectrometry, denaturing HPLC, electrophoresis, and enzymatic mismatch digestion (Comai & Henikoff, 2006). While theoretically any accurate SNP finding approach can be utilized, practical considerations of reliability and cost efficiency are paramount. For diploid species, induced point mutations typically occur at a rate of one mutation per 250 kb. Given this rate, screening thousands of mutant lines becomes essential to increase the likelihood of discovering harmful mutations. Targeted scanning techniques, focusing on candidate gene SNP identification, offer significant cost reductions compared to whole genome approaches. Gene-specific primers are utilized to amplify the target gene, with fluorescent dyes incorporated for visualization. Denaturing and annealing steps are employed to generate heteroduplexes containing wildtype and mutant DNA, followed by the use of mismatch cleavage nucleases such as CEL I, S1 nuclease, and mung bean nuclease to detect mutations in single-stranded nucleic acids (Slade & Knauf, 2005). The Li-Cor DNA analyzer coupled with crude CEL I extract has proven effective in discovering heterozygous mutations. Sequencing of the gene after mutation detection enables precise identification of the exact base change, with the mismatch cleavage technique providing the advantage of pinpointing the exact nucleotide position of each mutation. Priming with the closest amplifying primer ensures accurate sequencing to identify heterozygous or homozygous mutations (Till et al., 2004)

Use of TILLING in crop science

TILLING, particularly its derivative Eco-TILLING, has emerged as a powerful tool in crop health management and functional genomics research. By enabling rapid detection of mutations within target genes, TILLING facilitates the analysis of mutations in major crops such as rice, wheat, maize, and sorghum (Irshad *et al.*, 2020). Its utility as a reverse genetics tool is especially evident in crops where genetic manipulation is challenging due to limited transformation procedures. Unlike genetically modified organisms

(GMOs), TILLING is not subject to regulatory limitations, allowing research materials to be directly applied in field settings. Eco-TILLING extends this capability by assessing naturally occurring variants in agriculturally important crops, aiding in the identification of significant alleles and phylogenetic diversity. With sophisticated genotyping technologies, Eco-TILLING has facilitated the discovery and genotyping of unique potential alleles in wild crop populations (Guo *et al.*, 2017). Over the years, Eco-TILLING methodologies have evolved to enhance efficiency and sensitivity, ranging from the use of cDNA instead of genomic DNA to employing cost-effective mutation detection approaches such as agarose gel-based screening. These advancements underscore the versatility and applicability of TILLING and Eco-TILLING in crop health management and genetic research (Kadaru *et al.*, 2006)

Use of TIILLING in gene discovery and functional genomics

TILLING, or Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes, stands as a pivotal strategy in gene discovery and functional genomics, particularly for identifying rare mutations crucial for both biomedical and biotechnological interventions (Bentley et al., 2000). Initially described in Arabidopsis and Drosophila, TILLING has expanded its reach to economically important crop species, offering a means to efficiently detect mutations within candidate genes through mutagenesis, DNA pooling, and high-throughput mutation detection. While time-consuming, TILLING and its derivative Eco-TILLING represent cost-effective approaches for detecting induced mutations and natural polymorphisms. The enzymatic mismatch cleavage, integral to the TILLING method, allows for the identification of nucleotide polymorphisms regardless of their nature, with subsequent sequencing validating mutation sites (Henikoff et al., 2004). Eco-TILLING, on the other hand, enables the exploration of natural diversity within crop populations, aiding in the discovery of homozygous polymorphisms and their association with critical agronomic traits. With advancements in genotyping technologies and methodological refinements, TILLING continues to play a pivotal role in unraveling the genetic intricacies underlying crop health management and functional genomics research (Barkley & Wang, 2008).

Conclusion

In conclusion, TILLING and Eco-TILLING represent indispensable and cost-effective mutation detection techniques, particularly valuable in exploring non-transgenic allelic variations in a variety of crops. While these methods have shown remarkable efficacy in model systems and some economically significant crops, challenges persist in their application to orphan crops and in optimizing local adoption of these technologies. Addressing these challenges necessitates not only the refinement of methodologies but also the dissemination of knowledge and resources to local experts. Furthermore, the integration of next-generation sequencing methods holds promise for enhancing mutation discovery in less-studied crops, paving the way for in silico mutation cataloging and expedited breeding efforts. Despite the current hurdles, the potential of TILLING to contribute to food security through the identification and transfer of beneficial mutations into breeding lines is undeniable. By leveraging emerging genomic resources and collaborative efforts, TILLING stands poised to continue driving advancements in crop improvement and contributing to global agricultural sustainability in the years to come.

References

- 1. McCallum CM, Comai L, Greene EA, Henikoff S. Targeted screening for induced mutations. Nat Biotechnol. 2000;18(4): 455-457.
- Greene EA, Codomo CA, Taylor NE, Henikoff JG, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, *et al.* Spectrum of chemically induced mutations from a large-scale reverse-genetic screen in Arabidopsis. Genetics. 2003;164(2):731-740
- Comai L, Young K, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, Green EA, Codomo CA, *et al*. Efficient discovery of DNA polymorphism in natural populations by Eco TILLING. Plant J. 2004;37(5):778-786.
- 4. Gilchrist EJ, Haughn GW. TILLING without a plough: A new method with applications for reverse genetics. Curr Opin Plant Biol. 2005;8(2):211-215.
- 5. Ahloowalia BS, Maluszynski M, Nichterlein K. Global impact of mutation-derived varieties. Euphytica. 2004;135(2):187-204
- 6. Slade AG, Knafu VC. TILLING moves beyond functional genomics in to crop improvement. Transgenic research. 2005;14(2):109-115.
- Alonso JM, Ecker JR. Moving forward in reverse genetics technologies to, enable genome-wide phenomic screens in Arabidopsis. Nat Rev Genet. 2006;7(7):524-536
- Borevitz, J. O., Liang, D., Plouffe, D., Chang, H. S., Zhu, T., Weigel, D., Berry, C. C., Winzeler, E., & Chory, J. (2003). Large-scale identification of single-feature polymorphisms in complex genomes. Genome Research, 13(3), 513–523.

- Alonso, J. M., & Ecker, J. R. (2006). Moving forward in reverse: Genetic technologies to enable genome-wide phenomic screens in Arabidopsis. Nature Reviews. Genetics, 7, 524–536.
- Colbert, T., Till, B. J., Tompa, R., Reynolds, S., Steine, M. N., Yeung, A. T., McCallum, C. M., Comai, L., & Henikoff, S. (2001). Highthroughput screening for induced point mutations. Plant Physiology, 126, 480–484.
- Henikoff, S., & Comai, L. (2003). Single-nucleotide mutations for plant functional genomics. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 54, 375–401
- McCallum, C. M., Comai, L., Greene, E. A., & Henikoff, S. (2000). Targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) for plant functional genomics. Plant Physiology, 123(2), 439–442.
- Till, B. J., Burtner, C., Comai, L., & Henikoff, S. (2004). Mismatch cleavage by single-strand specific nucleases. Nucleic Acids Research, 32, 2632–2641.
- 14. Irshad, A., Guo, H., Zhang, S., & Liu, L. (2020). TILLING in cereal crops for allele expansion and mutation detection by using modern sequencing technologies. Agronomy, 10(3), 405.
- Guo, H., Liu, Y., Li, X., Yan, Z., Xie, Y., Xiong, H., Zhao, L., Gu, J., Zhao, S., & Liu, L. (2017). Novel mutant alleles of the starch synthesis gene TaSSIVb-D result in the reduction of starch granule number per chloroplast in wheat. BMC Genomics, 18(1), 1–10.
- Kadaru, S. B., Yadav, A. S., Fjellstrom, R. G., & Oard, J. H. (2006). Alternative ecotilling protocol for rapid, cost-effective single-nucleotide polymorphism discovery and genotyping in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Plant Molecular Biology Reporter, 24(1), 3–22.
- Bentley, A., MacLennan, B., Calvo, J., & Dearolf, C. R. (2000). Targeted recovery of mutations in Drosophila. Genetics, 156(3), 1169– 1173.
- Barkley, N. A., & Wang, M. L. (2008). Application of TILLING and EcoTILLING as reverse genetic approaches to elucidate the function of genes in plants and animals. Current Genomics,9(4), 212–226.

Migratory Beekeeping- Strategy to Foster Beekeeping and Agriculture

Authors

Krishnendu Roy School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Pallabi Chatterjee

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tuhina Khatun

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Rakesh Das

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Migratory Beekeeping- Strategy to Foster Beekeeping and Agriculture

Krishnendu Roy, Pallabi Chatterjee, Tuhina Khatun and Rakesh Das

Abstract

Migratory beekeeping, the practice of moving honey bee colonies to different locations throughout the year to pollinate various crops, has gained significant attention as a strategy to support both beekeeping and agriculture. It plays a crucial role in meeting the pollination demands of modern agriculture, where monoculture farming and large-scale crop production require intensive pollination services. By strategically relocating honey bee colonies to areas with high-demand crops during their bloom periods, migratory beekeepers ensure efficient pollination and maximize crop yields. This practice not only benefits farmers by enhancing crop productivity but also provides beekeepers with opportunities for income generation through pollination services. By diversifying foraging habitats and minimizing prolonged exposure to agrochemicals, migratory beekeepers help maintain healthy bee colonies capable of fulfilling their essential role as pollinators. However, migratory beekeeping also presents challenges, including increased colony stress due to frequent transportation, potential disease spread between colonies, and concerns about the impact on native pollinator populations. Addressing these challenges requires careful management practices, such as disease monitoring, habitat restoration, and collaboration between beekeepers, farmers, and conservationists. By leveraging the synergies between beekeeping and agriculture, migratory beekeeping offers a pathway towards a more resilient and ecologically sound food production system.

Keywords: Beekeeping, migration, honey bee colonies, pollination, crop yields.

Introduction

The vital role that pollinators, especially bees, play in the production of food worldwide and the health of ecosystems has drawn more attention in

recent years. A novel and distinctive approach to bolstering bee numbers and improving pollination services is migratory beekeeping. In order to maximise pollination efficiency and track seasonal blooms, migratory beekeepers must move their hives over great distances. By increasing honey production, this method not only helps beekeepers but is essential to agricultural productivity and biodiversity preservation (Gatoria *et al.*, 2001; Sharma *et al.*, 2013).

Although migratory beekeeping has been done for centuries, its importance has increased in light of modern agricultural issues such habitat loss, pesticide use, and climate change. Migratory beekeepers make sure that pollination services are provided precisely when and where they are most needed by relocating their hives to new sites dependent on the availability of flowers. This deliberate pollination increases fruit quality, increases crop yields, and encourages genetic variety among plant populations (Shinde and Phadke, 1995; Rahman, 2017).

In addition, migratory beekeeping encourages cooperation between farmers and beekeepers since both parties value having healthy bee populations. Beekeepers gain access to a variety of food sources and greater honey output, while farmers profit from better crop yields and quality. Because of this symbiotic link, agricultural and apicultural systems are more resilient to changes in the market and environmental pressures (Brar *et al.*, 2018).

But there are issues and problems with migratory beekeeping as well, and those need to be handled. Bees may be exposed to illnesses, stress, and pesticide exposure during long-distance beehive movement, which calls for cautious management techniques and regulatory supervision (Kumar *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, the availability of a variety of food sources that are vital to bee health and nutrition is threatened by the growth of monoculture farming and the destruction of natural habitats.

Eventually, migratory beekeeping presents itself as a viable approach to support sustainable agriculture and biodiversity preservation in a globalised society. Migration beekeeping has the ability to protect pollinators' crucial role in ecosystem functioning while addressing major issues facing contemporary agriculture by utilising the natural pollination services that bees perform and encouraging cooperation between beekeepers and farmers. Within larger programmes to advance environmental stewardship and global food security, efforts to maintain and grow migratory beekeeping practices ought to be given top priority.

Importance of honey bees and beekeeping

Beekeeping, also known as apiculture, is the practice of managing honey bee colonies for the production of honey and other beneficial products, as well as for their crucial role in pollinating crops. It is seen as a non-farm, environmentally beneficial economic venture that both landowners and those without property can engage in. Beekeeping is a popular endeavour since, in contrast to traditional agriculture, it doesn't require cultivated land, costs very little capital, and yields quick financial returns (Bradbear, 2009).

Honey bees, members of the Apidae family within the superfamily Apoidea of the order Hymenoptera, are the primary species involved in commercial beekeeping. Among the various species of honey bees, such as *Apis dorsata* F., *Apis cerana indica* F., *Apis mellifera* L. and *Apis florea* F.; *A. mellifera* (Italian honey bee) and *A. cerana indica* (Indian honey bee) are particularly suitable for commercial beekeeping due to their productivity and adaptability.

Beyond honey, beekeeping produces crucial substances like beeswax, royal jelly, propolis, and bee venom-all of which have substantial commercial value. Honey continues to be the most popular and extensively consumed by product of beekeeping due to its high nutritional content and variety of applications in human and animal medicine.

In addition to providing valuable products, honey bees are important global pollinators of many fruits and crops. According to estimates, animal pollination benefits more than 75% of all crops, with insects, especially bees, contributing to more than 80% of all pollination efforts (Goswami and Khan, 2014; Robinson and Morse, 1989). Bees are thought to be the most productive and efficient pollinators among insects, with *A. mellifera* being a crucial species for agricultural pollination.

Why migratory beekeeping?

The innate reliance of bees on floral sources for both survival and productivity makes migratory beekeeping indispensable. Nectar and pollen from flowers are bees' main food sources; they use these to make honey, rear their young, and maintain their colonies. However, there are obstacles for beekeepers trying to maintain robust and productive bee populations because floral materials are not always readily available throughout the year or in diverse geographic locations (Arya *et al.*, 2021; Sharma *et al.*, 2013).

The fact that year-round flower availability is limited in one area emphasises the value of migratory beekeeping. Floral abundance fluctuates due to climatic differences, land use practices, and seasonal changes in different places. Nectar and pollen supply may be insufficient to meet bee colonies' nutritional needs during specific periods of the year or in specific places. A lack of food can weaken bee colonies, produce less honey, and make them more vulnerable to illnesses and environmental stressors.

By allowing beekeepers to relocate their hives to regions with an abundance and diversity of floral resources, migratory beekeeping helps to overcome the problem of restricted floral supply. A year-round food source for their bees can be guaranteed by migratory beekeepers by monitoring flowering plant availability and adhering to seasonal blooms. Because of their ability to move about, bee colonies are able to flourish and sustain large populations, which benefits the general resilience and health of bee populations as well as the ecosystems they live in.

Furthermore, by extending the foraging range of bee colonies, migratory beekeeping aids in overcoming the shortage of food supplies. Beekeepers can expose their bees to a greater variety of plant species and feed sources by moving hives to differing floral composition regions. This variety improves the nutritional value of bee meals and supports the health and vigour of bees. Additionally, migratory bees support ecosystem function and biodiversity conservation by pollinating a wide variety of crops and wild plants.

How migratory beekeeping is practiced?

Migratory beekeeping is a meticulous practice that involves several key steps to ensure the well-being of bees and the effectiveness of pollination services. Finding the perfect spots for bees to forage on a variety of plentiful and varied floral resources is the first step in the process. Beekeepers search for regions with blooming plants and conducive environmental circumstances, taking into account variables like temperature, flowering season, and use of pesticides (Thomas *et al.*, 2001).

The process of getting ready to migrate starts as soon as suitable areas are found. Bee boxes are carefully packed ahead of time, paying close attention to ventilation to provide ideal hive conditions while in transit. In order to provide adequate ventilation and safeguard the bees, the bee boxes' outer covers are usually taken off, and the upper half of the boxes are covered with netting.

After that, the bee boxes are loaded into cars and driven to their destination. Beekeepers make sure hives are loaded securely for transit to avoid movement or damage.

After arriving at their destination, beekeepers start to carefully position hives in the designated areas inside the target region. In order to maximise pollination efficiency and guarantee that bees have access to plenty of nectar and pollen sources, this positioning is essential.

Beekeepers continue to actively manage and maintain their hives during the flowering season. Beekeepers sometimes use bamboo and tripole to build temporary shelters, which help them stay longer in the target sites (Das *et al.*, 2023). These improvised tents offer weather protection and function as a base of operations for hive inspections, bee health monitoring, and other vital functions. Throughout the flowering season, beekeepers may closely monitor bee activity and quickly address any concerns that may occur by remaining near the hives. This practical method guarantees that pollination services are optimised for agricultural crops and enables effective administration of bee colonies.

Status of migratory beekeeping in West Bengal

Early in the 1990s, the Thai sacbrood virus (TSV) outbreak threatened the native *A. cerana indica* bee species, which led to the emergence of *A. mellifera* beekeeping (Rahman, 2017). Consequently, *A. mellifera* became the predominant species in commercial beekeeping, valued for both its high honey productivity and kind demeanour. In order to maximise honey production and pollination efficiency, migratory beekeeping with *A. mellifera* is frequently done. This involves moving bee boxes from one site to another dependent on the availability of floral resources.

In terms of honey production in India, West Bengal is regarded as one of the "Most Potential States," sharing more than 50% of the total with Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, and Bihar (Beekeeping Development Committee, 2019). Beekeepers follow migratory paths through numerous landscapes in West Bengal, which are accompanied by the seasonal blooms of various crops and flowering trees. These routes are carefully designed to make sure that colonies of honeybees are positioned to optimise honey output and pollination efficiency. Here's an overview of the migratory beekeeping routes based on the specific crops and regions mentioned (Das *et al.*, 2023):

- 1. Eucalyptus: Beekeepers journey to Bankura and Paschim Medinipur districts during the flowering season of Eucalyptus trees. These areas are known for their extensive eucalyptus plantations, which provide abundant nectar and pollen resources for bees.
- 2. Mustard: Nadia, 24 Parganas (North), and Murshidabad districts become focal points for migratory beekeepers during the mustard

flowering season. Mustard fields in these regions offer a rich source of nectar, attracting bees in large numbers to aid in pollination.

- **3.** Coriander & black cumin: Similarly, beekeepers target Nadia and 24 Parganas (North) districts when coriander and black cumin are in bloom. These aromatic herbs are cultivated in these areas, providing valuable forage for bees.
- 4. Mango: Beekeepers migrate to Malda and Nadia districts during the mango flowering season. Mango orchards in these regions burst into bloom, attracting bees and facilitating cross-pollination for optimal fruit set.
- **5.** Litchi: Murshidabad and Nadia districts witness the arrival of migratory beekeepers during the litchi flowering season. Litchi groves in these areas offer an irresistible abundance of nectar and pollen for bees to forage upon.
- 6. Sundarban honey (Goran, Khalsi, Keora): In the southern districts of 24 Parganas (South), migratory beekeepers target the Sundarbans during specific times when Goran, Khalsi, and Keora trees bloom. The unique floral resources of the Sundarbans contribute to the distinct flavours of the honey harvested from this region.
- 7. Sesame: Beekeepers travel to Hooghly and 24 Parganas (North) districts during the sesame flowering season. Sesame fields in these areas provide bees with a rich source of nectar, contributing to the production of flavorful sesame honey.

Flowering plant (Honey type)	Average Honey production (kg/box)	Average Number of harvesting	Harvesting interval (in days)
Eucalyptus	15-17	3-5	15 days
Mustard	15-18	4-5	8-10 days
Coriander	2-3	1-2	15 days
Black Cumin	2-3	1-2	15 days
Litchi	4-6	2-3	8-10 days
Sundarban plants • Khalsi	40-45 (all together) in deep forest area	5-6	10-12 days
GoranKeora	10-12 (all together) in locality area	2-3	
Sesame/Til	5-6	2-3	12-15 days

Table: Honey production potential of migratory beekeeping in West Bengal

Source: Das et al., 2023

Challenges and prospects of migratory beekeeping

Despite its many advantages, migratory beekeeping is not without its limitations and difficulties. Studies have shown various elements that may adversely affect the well-being and longevity of honey bees participating in migratory activities.

The impact of migratory beekeeping on honey bee lifetime is one such limitation. According to studies, bees that migrate often live shorter lives than bees that remain in one place. Travelling bees are subject to higher levels of oxidative stress, which explains why their lifespan is lowered (Simone-Finstrom *et al.*, 2016). Their frequent travels and exposure to various surroundings put them under more stress, which speeds up ageing and weakens their resistance to illnesses and parasites.

Furthermore, there is a chance that illnesses and mites will spread quickly among hives when they are being transported in close quarters. There is a greater chance of disease transmission among bee colonies when hives are packed together in trucks for transit. This can worsen pre-existing health problems in bee populations and aid in the spread of illnesses like Varroa mites, which pose serious risks to the health of bees already.

Bee health even during transit is greatly influenced by the environment. For hives to be transported in a smooth and comfortable manner during migratory beekeeping, appropriate road conditions are necessary. But unsatisfactory road conditions might cause the bees to tremble and feel uncomfortable, which increases their stress levels and jeopardises their health and welfare. In addition to them, beekeepers are harassed by night time traffic guards while being transported, and issues are also brought about by landowners and/or the local community (Das *et al.*, 2023).

Nevertheless these difficulties, it's crucial to remember that migratory beekeeping has a complicated and wide-ranging effect on the health and ageing of honey bees. The general health of bee populations is influenced by a number of factors, including habitat loss, pesticide exposure, and nutritional inadequacies, in addition to stressors connected to transportation and environmental conditions. In order to overcome these obstacles, a comprehensive strategy that takes into account the administrative challenges of migratory beekeeping as well as the larger environmental and management variables influencing bee health is needed.

Conclusion

In conclusion, migratory beekeeping offers tremendous potential for farmers and beekeepers alike, particularly in areas like India where the environment is conducive to year-round blossoming. Notwithstanding difficulties such bee stress during transit and the requirement for hive cleanliness, these problems can be lessened with good management. Migratory beekeeping involves deliberately relocating hives to follow floral blooms in order to maximise honey output and improve pollination services. In addition to raising crop yields and quality, this also strengthens ties between farmers and beekeepers, encouraging sustainable farming methods and biodiversity preservation. Because of the constant flowering, migratory beekeeping can be more successful in areas with diverse flora, such as India, than in temperate countries. While warm, dry weather necessitates safeguards, profitability is ensured by hive health and hygiene. Overall, migratory beekeeping provides farmers with agricultural benefits and commercial prospects for beekeepers with proper management and attention to bee welfare. It is essential to maintaining food production and the health of ecosystems because it promotes pollinator populations and sustainable agriculture.

References

- 1. Arya S, Kumar A, Kumar K, Kumar D. 2021. Major constraints faced by the beekeepers in production and marketing of honey in the Nainital district of Uttarakhand. The Pharma Innovation Journal 10(8): 276-279.
- Bradbear. 2009. Nonwooden forest products. Bees and their role in forest livelihoods. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy
- Brar, A. S., Sharma, H. K. and Rana, K. 2018. Colony strength and food reserves of ApismelliferaL. under stationary and migratory beekeeping in Himachal Pradesh India. Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies, 6(5): 1156-1159.
- 4. Das, R., Layek, A., Kunal, G. and Jha, S., 2023. Status of Migratory Beekeeping with Apis Mellifera L in the Gangetic Plain of West Bengal. *Indian Journal of Entomology*, pp.01-09.
- Gatoria G S, Chhuneja P K, Aulakh R K, Singh J. 2001. Migratory beekeeping in India: its prospects and problems. Indian Bee Journal 63(1-2): 23-34
- Goswami V, Khan M S. 2014. Impact of honey bee pollination on pod set of mustard (Brassica juncea L.: cruciferae) at Pantnagar. The Bioscan 9(1): 75-78.
- 7. Kumar Y, Nain M S, Peshin R, Yungchan J. 2020. Constraints perceived

by the beekeepers of Jammu province, adoption of scientific beekeeping practices. Indian Journal of Extension Education 56(4): 69-75.

- 8. Rahman A. 2017. Apiculture in India. Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR), New Delhi.
- Report of the Beekeeping Development Committee. 2019. Economic Advisory Council to the Prime Minister, Government of India from https://eacpm.gov.in/wp content/uploads/2019/06/Report-oftheBeekeeping-Development-Committee_Inner_Part I.pdf.
- 10. Robinson W E, Morse R A. 1989. The value of honeybees as pollinators of US crops. American Bee Journal 129: 477-487.
- Sharma, D., Abrol, D.P., Ahmad, H., Srivastva, K. and Vir, V. 2013. Migratory Beekeeping in Jammu and Kashmir, India. Bee World, 90(2): 44-47.
- 12. Shinde S G, Phadke R P. 1995. Beekeeping in India: History, present status and future. Indian Bee Journal 57: 31-37.
- Simone-Finstrom, M., Li-Byarlay, H., Huang, M. H., Strand, M.K., Rueppell, O. and Tarpy, D.R. 2016. Migratory management and environmental conditions affect lifespan and oxidative stress in honey bees. Scientific reports, 6(1): 1-10.
- Thomas, D., Pal, N., Chawda, S.S. and Rao, S.K. 2001. Bee flora and migratory routes in India. In: Proceedings of the 37th International Apicultural Congress, 28 October–1 November 2001, Durban, South Africa.